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Under the Guaranteed Euro Medium Term Note Programme described in this Prospectus (the “Programme”), Wereldhave N.V. (the “Issuer”), subject to 
compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, may from time to time issue Guaranteed Euro Medium Term Notes guaranteed by N.V. 
Wereldhave International (“Wereldhave International”), Wereldhave Nederland B.V. (“Wereldhave Nederland” and together with Wereldhave International, the 
“Dutch Guarantors”), Itäkeskus Holding Oy (“Itäkeskus Holding”) and Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus Oy (“Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus” and together with Itäkeskus 
Holding, the “Finnish Guarantors”) and any other subsidiary of the Issuer which becomes a “Guarantee Entity” (each a “Guarantor” and, together, the 
“Guarantors”), and so a guarantor of the Notes after the original issue date, as described under “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Guarantees and Status”. 
References herein to the “Guarantors” shall, so far as the context permits, also include any subsidiary of the Issuer which becomes a guarantor of the Notes after 
the original issue date but shall not include any subsidiary of the Issuer which ceases to be a guarantor of the Notes after the original issue date, all as described 
under “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Guarantees and Status” (the “Notes”). The aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding will not at any time 
exceed EUR 2,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies).  

The Netherlands Authority for the Financial Markets (Autoriteit Financiële Markten, the “AFM”) in its capacity as competent authority under The Netherlands 
Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht, the “Wft”) has approved this Prospectus as a base prospectus (a “Prospectus”) for the purposes of 
Article 5.4 of Directive 2003/71/EC, as amended, to the extent that such amendments have been implemented in the relevant Member State of the European 
Economic Area (the “Prospectus Directive”). References throughout this document to “Prospectus” shall be taken to read “Prospectus” for such purpose. 
Application has also been made to Euronext Amsterdam N.V. (“Euronext”) for the Notes issued under the Programme to be listed and admitted to trading on the 
regulated market of Euronext in Amsterdam (“Euronext Amsterdam”). References in this Prospectus to Notes being “listed” (and all related references) shall 
mean that such Notes have been listed and admitted to trading on the regulated market of Euronext. Euronext Amsterdam is a regulated market for the purposes 
of Directive 2004/39/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial instruments. However, unlisted Notes may be issued pursuant to 
the Programme. The relevant Final Terms in respect of the issue of any Notes will specify whether or not such Notes will be listed and admitted to trading on 
Euronext Amsterdam (or any other stock exchange). 

Each Series (as defined in “Overview of the Programme – Method of Issue”) of Notes in bearer form will be represented on issue by a temporary global note in 
bearer form (each a “temporary Global Note”) or a permanent global note in bearer form (each a “permanent Global Note”). If the Global Notes are stated in the 
applicable Final Terms to be issued in new global note (“NGN”) form, the Global Notes will be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the relevant 
Tranche to a common safekeeper (the “Common Safekeeper”) for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme 
(“Clearstream, Luxembourg”). Notes in registered form will be represented by registered certificates (each a “Certificate”), one Certificate being issued in 
respect of each Noteholder’s entire holding of Registered Notes of one Series. Registered Notes issued in global form will be represented by registered global 
certificates (“Global Certificates”). If a Global Certificate is held under the New Safekeeping Structure (the “NSS”) the Global Certificate will be delivered on or 
prior to the original issue date of the relevant Tranche to a Common Safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. 

Global notes which are not issued in NGN form (“Classic Global Notes” or “CGNs”) and Global Certificates which are not held under the NSS will be deposited 
on the issue date of the relevant Tranche with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (the “Common Depositary”). 

The provisions governing the exchange of interests in Global Notes for other Global Notes and definitive Notes are described in “Summary of Provisions 
Relating to the Notes while in Global Form”. 

The Issuer is rated Baa1 by Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”). The Programme is expected to be rated Baa1 by Moody’s, Moody’s is established in the 
EU and registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 (the “CRA Regulation”).  
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Tranches of Notes (as defined in “Overview of the Programme—Method of Issue”) to be issued under the Programme will be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche 
of Notes is to be rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating assigned to Notes already issued. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, the 
applicable rating(s) will be specified in the relevant Final Terms. Whether or not a rating in relation to any Tranche of Notes will be treated as having been 
issued by a credit rating agency pursuant to the CRA Regulation will be disclosed in the relevant Final Terms. 

A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning 
rating agency. 

Prospective investors should have regard to the factors described under the section headed “Risk Factors” in this Prospectus. 
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This Prospectus comprises a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 5.4 of Directive 2003/71/EC, as amended, 

to the extent that such amendments have been implemented in the relevant Member State of the European 

Economic Area (the “Prospectus Directive”) and for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuer, 

the Guarantors, the Issuer and its subsidiaries and affiliates taken as a whole (the “Group”) and the Notes which, 

according to the particular nature of the Issuer, the Guarantors and the Notes, is necessary to enable investors to 

make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profit and losses and prospects of the 

Issuer and the Guarantors.  

The Issuer and each of Wereldhave International, Wereldhave Nederland, Itäkeskus Holding and Kauppakeskus 

Itäkeskus (together, the “Responsible Persons”) accept responsibility for the information contained in this 

Prospectus. To the best of the knowledge of the Responsible Persons (having taken all reasonable care to ensure 
that such is the case) the information contained in this Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not omit 

anything likely to affect the import of such information.  

This Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are incorporated herein by reference (see 

“Documents Incorporated by Reference”).  

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than those 
contained in this Prospectus in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes and, if given or made, such 
information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer, the 
Guarantors or any of the Dealers or the Arranger (as defined in “Overview of the Programme”). Neither the 
delivery of this Prospectus nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, under any circumstances, create 
any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer or the Guarantors since the date 
hereof or the date upon which this Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented or that 
there has been no adverse change in the financial position of the Issuer or the Guarantors since the date 
hereof or the date upon which this Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented or that any 
other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the 
date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same. 

In the case of any Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market within the European 
Economic Area or offered to the public in a Member State of the European Economic Area in circumstances 
which require the publication of a prospectus under the Prospectus Directive, the minimum specified 
denomination shall be €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency as at the date of issue of the Notes). 

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS: The N otes are not intended, from 1 January 
2018, to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and, with effect from such date, should not be 
offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("EEA"). 
For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in 
point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU ("MiFID II"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of 

Directive 2002/92/EC ("IMD"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in 
point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive. 
Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the "PRIIPs 
Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the 
EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to 
any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPS Regulation. 

The distribution of this Prospectus and the offering or sale of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be 
restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Prospectus comes are required by the Issuer, the 
Guarantors, the Dealers and the Arranger to inform themselves about and to observe any such restriction. 
The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, (the 
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“Securities Act”) and include Notes in bearer form that are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to 
certain exceptions, Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to U.S. persons. 
For a description of certain restrictions on offers and sales of Notes and on distribution of this Prospectus, 
see “Subscription and Sale”. 

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantors 
or the Dealers to subscribe for, or purchase, any Notes. 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Dealers or the Arranger accept any responsibility for the 
contents of this Prospectus or for any other statement, made or purported to be made by the Arranger or a 
Dealer or on its behalf in connection with the Issuer, the Guarantors, or the issue and offering of the Notes. 
The Arranger and each Dealer accordingly disclaims all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract 
or otherwise (save as referred to above) which it might otherwise have in respect of this Prospectus or any 
such statement. Neither this Prospectus nor any other financial statements are intended to provide the basis 
of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by any of the Issuer, the 
Guarantors, the Arranger or the Dealers that any recipient of this Prospectus or any other financial 
statements should purchase the Notes. Each potential purchaser of Notes should determine for itself the 
relevance of the information contained in this Prospectus and its purchase of Notes should be based upon 
such investigation as it deems necessary. None of the Dealers or the Arranger undertakes to review the 
financial condition or affairs of the Issuer or the Guarantors during the life of the arrangements 
contemplated by this Prospectus nor to advise any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any 
information coming to the attention of any of the Dealers or the Arranger. 

The rating of certain Tranches of Notes to be issued under the Programme and the credit rating agency 
issuing such ratings may be specified in the applicable Final Terms. The Issuer and the Guarantors cannot 
assure investors that any such ratings will not change in the future. A rating reflects only the views of the 
relevant rating agency and is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold the Notes and may be subject to 
suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency. 

In connection with the issue of any Tranche (as defined in “Overview of the Programme – Method of Issue”), 
the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the stabilising manager(s) (the “Stabilising Manager(s)”) (or any 
person acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in the applicable Final Terms may over-allot Notes or 
effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which 
might otherwise prevail. However, there is no assurance that the Stabilising Manager(s) (or any person 
acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager) will undertake stabilisation action. Any stabilisation action may 
begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant 
Tranche is made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days 
after the issue date of the relevant Tranche and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant 
Tranche. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilising 
Manager(s) (or any person acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable 
laws and rules. 

In this Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to “€”, “EUR”, 
“Euro” or “euro” are to the single currency of the participating member states of the European Union, 
references to “$”, “USD” and “U.S. Dollars” are to the lawful currency of the United States of America, and 
references to “£”, “GBP” and “Sterling” are to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom.  

Certain of the statements contained herein are not historical facts, including, without limitation, certain 
statements made of future expectations and other forward-looking statements that are based on 
management’s current views and assumptions and involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that 
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could cause actual results, performance or events to differ materially from those expressed or implied in 
such statements. Actual results, performance or events may differ materially from those in such statements 
as described in the section headed “Risk Factors”. Any forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of 
the Issuer and the Guarantors speak only as of the date they are made, and the Issuer assumes no obligation 
to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information or for 
any other reason. The Issuer and the Guarantors urge investors to read the section headed “Risk Factors” 
for a more complete discussion of the factors that could affect the Issuer’s and the Guarantors’ future 
performance and the industry in which the Issuer and the Guarantors operate. 
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RISK FACTORS 

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantors believe that the following factors may affect their ability to fulfil their 

obligations under the Notes issued under the Programme and may have a material adverse effect on the 

Group. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and neither the Issuer nor the 

Guarantors are in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring. 

Factors which the Issuer and the Guarantors believe may be material for the purpose of assessing the market 

risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme are also described below.  

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantors believe that the factors described below represent the principal risks 

inherent in investing in Notes issued under the Programme, but the Issuer or the Guarantors may be unable to 

pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes for other reasons and the Issuer 

and the Guarantors do not represent that the statements below regarding the risks of holding any Notes are 

exhaustive. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this 

Prospectus (including any documents incorporated by reference herein) and reach their own views prior to 

making any investment decision.  

Risks relating to the Issuer and the Guarantors and the markets in which they operate  

The key risks relating to the Group’s business and the markets in which it operates are included in this 
section. Additional risks of which the Group is presently not aware or that it currently deems immaterial may 
also impair its business. 

Strategic and business risks 

The Group’s results are sensitive to changes in consumer confidence and spending and may be adversely 
affected by adverse changes in the business cycle in the Netherlands, France, Belgium and Finland. 

The Group’s properties are located in the Netherlands, France, Belgium and Finland. Any economic 
uncertainty can contribute to deterioration in the consumer and investment climate, affecting a range of 
economic activities, including the real estate markets, and in particular the retail segments in these countries. 

The Group’s real estate activities have been, and to a lesser extent may continue to be, impacted by lower 
consumer spending which has put pressure on retailers’ profits and, in turn, on new retailer investments and 
sustainable rents. In particular, household consumption has been under pressure due to decreased purchasing 
power and disposable income, increasing unemployment rates, the deteriorating situation of pension funds 
and decreased consumer confidence, all of which have put pressure on retailers’ profits. This has prompted 
certain retailers to scale back or postpone their expansion plans, which has made it more difficult for retail 
investment companies to find appropriate tenants or to lease spaces at attractive rates. Further, the reduction 
in profits as well as the availability of financing has also adversely affected the ability of existing tenants to 
pay rent and as a result, has increased the risk of late or missed payments by tenants. See also “The Group is 

exposed to credit risk on rent payments from its tenants”. Difficulty in obtaining credit can also result in 
shifting tenant mix to larger and more international tenants with greater financial resources, which may not 
meet local customers’ expectations or may otherwise expose the Group to risks associated with tenants from 
other countries, including economic risks, local currency risks and risks related to the increased pricing power 
of large multi-national retailers. 
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Recent years have been challenging for retailers, particularly in the Netherlands. Government austerity 
measures to control budgets, declining real estate values and pension cuts have undermined Dutch consumer 
confidence and spending, and resulted in the recent bankruptcies of certain significant tenants of the Group 
(such as Halfords, Schoenenreus and V&D) and financial restructuring by others (Miss Etam, La Place, Adam 
and Mc Gregor stores and MS Mode). In Finland, U.S. and EU sanctions arising from the conflict between 
Russia and Ukraine have had an indirect adverse impact on the economy and consumer confidence, resulting 
in a negative impact on the Group’s tenants and potentially in lower rent levels and occupancy. The Finnish 
consumer confidence meanwhile improved however. The consumer confidence indicator stood at 21.0 in 
January 2017, having been 19.5 in December 2016 and 17.6 in November 2016. Confidence in the economy 
was last this strong more than six years ago in autumn 2010. However, there can be no assurance that the 
consumer confidence in Finland remains on this level and any downturn could have a material adverse effect 
on the Group’s results. Consumer confidence in Belgium has remained relatively stable as compared with the 
European economic decline following the financial crisis, due to the automatic indexation of wages and the 
absence of significant austerity measures, however, there can be no assurance that economic conditions in 
Belgium will remain stable, also in light of recent terrorism fears, and any downturn could have a material 
adverse effect on the Group’s results. Continued weakness in the French economy and an uncertain economic 
outlook, along with recent terrorism fears, the uncertainty around the (outcome of) the elections in France, 
increases in unemployment levels, a reduction in government spending and possible tax increases, may 
continue to adversely affect consumer spending habits, which may impact occupancy, rents and thus property 
values in the Group’s portfolio in France. The Group’s results generated from France may be affected by, 
among other things, the potential for significant fiscal and monetary reforms, risk of public debt, 
unemployment and the labour market. 

Currently, interest rates across Europe are at historic lows. If, however, interest rates are increased, it will 
result in consumers having less disposable income, which could adversely affect their spending habits. If this 
were to happen, there could be an impact on occupancy, rents and thus property values in the Group’s 
portfolio. 

A failure of the economic recovery in the Netherlands, France, Belgium and Finland and any future macro-
economic downturns could have further negative consequences for, among other things, the Group’s results of 
operations, property values and financial condition. 

The value of the Group’s properties is impacted by market forces. 

Generally, the fair value of real estate properties depends on a variety of factors, some of which are not within 
the control of the Group, such as decreasing demand for renting properties or changes in supply and demand 
dynamics for investment properties, leading to changes in values at which properties could theoretically be 
sold. In addition, many qualitative factors affect the valuation of a property, including the property’s expected 
rental income, its occupancy, its condition and its location. In Finland, the Group’s revenue is derived from 
one asset (the Itis shopping centre), and so any negative impact on that asset could have a material negative 
impact on the Group.  Should the factors considered or the assumptions made in valuing a property change to 
reflect new developments or for other reasons, subsequent valuations may result in a change, be it upward or 
downward, of the fair value ascribed to such property. If such valuations reveal significant decreases in fair 
value compared to prior valuations, the Group will incur significant revaluation losses with respect to such 
properties which could have further negative consequences for, among other things, the Group’s results of 
operations, property values and financial condition. A significant decline in the fair value of its properties 
could affect the Group’s compliance with the financial covenants in its financing instruments, which could 
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result in a mandatory refinancing of the existing debt facilities and/or financial distress, resulting in forced 
selling of assets, which could have material adverse effects on the Group’s financial condition. 

Real estate valuations are based on methods and other considerations that are not only subject to change 
but are inherently subjective and uncertain. 

The valuation of real estate is subjective due to the individual nature of each property and the characteristics 
of the local, regional and national real estate markets, which change over time and may be affected by various 
factors and by the valuation methods used. Moreover, appraisers generally use a large number of assumptions 
which are subjective by nature when preparing their valuations which could have negative consequences for, 
among other things, the Group’s results of operations, property values and financial condition.  

Competition for acquisitions and sales in the property market may adversely affect the Group’s earnings. 

The Group faces competition in acquiring and selling properties, including from real estate developers, 
private investors, property funds and other property owners. Some of the Group’s competitors may have 
access to greater or less expensive sources of capital than the Group or may have more resources with which 
to pursue acquisitions. If competition for acquiring properties were to increase, the Group might have to pay 
higher prices for any acquisitions and/or reduce the net investment yield it is able to earn on investment 
properties. Due to competitive pressure, the Group might make investments at inflated prices, which could 
result in future negative valuation adjustments if those investments are written down. Conversely, any 
increase in the number of properties on the market or a general decreased interest for properties may 
adversely affect the prices that the Group is able to obtain for any sales of its properties as well as increase the 
time required to conduct any such sales. 

The Group’s focus on shopping centres has increased its exposure to changes in consumer behaviour, 
including competition from alternative shopping channels such as the growing internet shopping trend. 

The Group’s retail business is focused on urban convenience shopping centres. A downturn in the demand by 
tenants for commercial space in shopping centres will have a more pronounced negative effect on the Group’s 
revenues and profitability than if its focus had included a substantial majority of different types of properties 
that are less affected by changes in consumer behaviour. Consumer preferences and needs can vary from 
region to region, and the Group must accurately predict and effectively address customer demands and 
demographic shifts in the various regions in which it operates to ensure an appropriate mix of tenants in its 
shopping centres. The long-term nature of a significant proportion of the Group’s lease contracts may hinder 
the Group’s ability to adjust the tenant mix in a timely fashion. 

Increased competition from alternative shopping channels, such as internet-based retailers and mail order 
companies, may continue to have an effect on consumer spending levels at shopping centres. Continued 
growth in the use of internet shopping may adversely affect the business of the retailers or require material 
changes in shopping centre operations, layout and tenant mix which could result in lower occupancy rates and 
lower rental growth, which would have a material adverse effect on the Group’s rental income and earnings 
and may therefore affect the Issuer’s and the Guarantors’ ability to fulfil their respective obligations under the 
Notes. 

The Group is exposed to risks related to the acquisition of real estate properties, including that due 
diligence may fail to uncover hidden material deficiencies or defects or overvaluing of the properties. 
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The Group may acquire further properties in the future. Although the Group performs a thorough due 
diligence when acquiring properties, there can be no assurance that the Group’s examinations in connection 
with any properties it considers acquiring or has acquired in the past, will reveal or have revealed all of the 
risks associated with such properties, or the full extent of such risks. When the Group acquires or owns a 
property, such property may be subject to hidden material defects or deficiencies in the title to the property or 
otherwise, which were not apparent at the time of acquisition, including structural damage, environmental 
hazards, legal restrictions or encumbrances and noncompliance with existing building standards or health and 
safety or other administrative regulations. Although the Group typically obtains warranties from the seller of a 
property with respect to certain legal or factual issues, these warranties may not cover all of the problems that 
may arise following the acquisition and may not fully compensate the Group for any decrease in the value of 
such property or other loss it may suffer. In addition, it may be difficult or impossible to enforce resulting 
costs or any warranties against a seller for various reasons, including the insolvency of the seller or the 
expiration of such warranties. 

Moreover, when acquiring a property, there is also the risk that the assumptions used by the Group to come to 
an appropriate purchase price for such property turn out to be inaccurate or incorrect, which could materially 
adversely affect the results and financial condition of the Group and may therefore affect the Issuer’s and the 
Guarantors’ ability to fulfil their respective obligations under the Notes. 

The Group may not be able to successfully execute acquisitions, disposals, refurbishments or expansions of 
properties. 

As of 2017, the Group’s focus is on the optimisation of the portfolio and the rotation of assets. The Group 
anticipates internal growth and limited external growth and will dispose of assets in a disciplined and 
selective way, using the proceeds to further enhance the overall quality of the portfolio. The ability of the 
Group to engage in acquisitions (if any, given the limited external growth objective), disposals, or expansions, 
may be limited by its ability to identify appropriate properties, as well as by conditions beyond its control, 
such as the availability of attractively priced properties, the condition of the property market or changes in 
governmental and municipal regulations, including in relation to obtaining required licenses, planning 
permissions or zoning permits. In addition, the ability of the Group to acquire additional properties may be 
limited by an inability to obtain financing on terms attractive to it, conditions with which the Group is 
required to comply in order to maintain its status as a fiscal investment institution (fiscale 

beleggingsinstelling) under the Dutch 1969 Corporate Income Tax Act (Wet op de vennootschapsbelasting 
1969) (a “FII”) or restrictions contained in its current or future credit agreements. Should the Group be unable 
to make acquisitions and disposals or to carry out its refurbishment and expansion programs as expected, the 
Group may be unable to realise its strategy and it may have negative consequences for, among other things, 
the Group’s results of operations and financial condition. 

Each acquisition, disposal, refurbishment and expansion will entail uncertainties and risks, including the risk 
that such project may not be completed after the Group has invested significant amounts of time and money. 
Furthermore, the Group may encounter difficulties in expanding the administrative operations or functions to 
support acquired or development properties, which may result in difficulties integrating acquired properties. 
The Group may be unable to successfully manage its portfolio in a manner which generates adequate returns 
on investment, and the additional demands on the Group and on members of senior management may result in 
difficulties managing the existing portfolio. The upfront investments made by the Group are substantial and 
the investments start generating rental income only after a certain period of time because of the long-term 
nature of construction and redevelopment work. See “—The Group’s development projects require large 
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initial investments while they will start generating rental income only after a certain period of time, and are 

subject to various risks which would cause delays and increase the time until the projects generate rental 

income.” The additional rental income and the occupancy rates from acquisitions, refurbishments and 
expansion projects might turn out to be lower than anticipated. 

The Group is exposed to risks arising from the susceptibility of the real estate market to fraud. 

Certain activities in the real estate sector have been subject to allegations of embezzlement of cash in 
connection with arranging large scale real estate transactions. Although the Group is currently not aware of 
any such fraud taking place within its business, and takes precautionary measures to reduce the risk of 
contracting with counterparties who engage in unethical or illegal business practices, the Group may become 
the target of fraud or other illicit behaviour in any of the markets in which it operates. This may have a 
material adverse effect on the Group’s reputation, business and financial condition. 

The unavailability or insolvency of contractors, subcontractors or other service providers may cause cost 
overruns, program delays or the acceptance of riskier contractor covenants. 

The Group’s development projects require it to hire skilled third-party contractors to provide construction, 
engineering and various other services for the properties it is developing or redeveloping. There is a limited 
selection of high-quality contractors operating in the Group’s key markets. As a result, the Group may be 
unable to retain skilled contractors on financially and contractually efficient terms due to a high level of 
demand for the most reputable contractors. Furthermore, the Group may hire a contractor that subsequently 
becomes insolvent, causing cost overruns, program delays and the acceptance of riskier contractor covenants. 
The unavailability of high-quality contractors or the insolvency of a contractor currently working on one or 
more of the Group’s development projects could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, 
financial condition, results of operations, future prospects or the price of the Notes. The risk of such 
insolvency similarly increases the risk of the Group being unable to recover costs in relation to any future 
latent defects subject to repair covenants given by the Group to tenants, to the extent that such costs are not 
otherwise covered by latent defect insurance. 

Operational risks 

Increased maintenance, refurbishment and redevelopment costs may adversely affect the Group’s results. 

Generally, as properties age, they require increased capital expenditure for maintenance, refurbishment and 
redevelopment costs. Numerous factors, including the age of the relevant building, changes in consumer 
preferences, the material and substances used at the time of construction or currently unknown building code 
violations, could result in the Group incurring substantial unbudgeted costs for refurbishment, modernisation 
and decontamination required to remove and dispose of any hazardous materials. Removal of hazardous 
materials may result in a temporary inaccessibility of a part or all of the affected property. In this respect, 
some of the Group’s properties contain asbestos. Materials containing asbestos must be removed or otherwise 
remediated during refurbishment or when asbestos fibres could become airborne which can lead to larger 
periods during which buildings are unoccupied as well as higher remediation costs. Older buildings may also 
require additional capital expenditure to bring them up to date with other regulations and may also have 
higher operating costs due to a variety of factors, including energy efficiency. The Group is undertaking a 
rolling development program to refresh and refurbish its properties, which may encounter cost overruns or fail 
to result in higher rent levels sufficient to earn back the cost of the program. As part of this rolling 
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development program, the Group may incur costs to acquire licences and permits and otherwise utilise 
resources in cases where a project is abandoned or no return on that investment is realised. 

Despite these potential costs, if the Group does not carry out maintenance, refurbishment and redevelopment 
activities with respect to its properties, these properties may become less attractive to tenants (or require a 
higher capital expenditure to attract or retain tenants) and the Group’s rental income may decrease, affecting 
the results and financial condition of the Group. 

If the Group fails to accurately assess a development opportunity or if tenant demand for a development 
project decreases, a substantial portion of the development project could remain vacant after completion. 

The Group uses its development projects to create new properties or to expand existing properties (e.g. by 
building an extension of an existing shopping centre) that target incremental return on investment. As of 
31 December 2016, the Group had a remaining committed development pipeline of approximately 
€187 million relating to redevelopment projects in The Netherlands (Tilburg, Maassluis, Capelle aan den 
IJssel and Arnhem) and the extension of the shopping centre in Tournai (Belgium).  

These and any future development projects involve a higher degree of risk than its standing investment 
properties and require that the Group accurately assesses the development opportunity, including the expected 
return on investment. The Group assesses the commercial viability of new investments thoroughly, together 
with the timing of the development project, including the date that construction will commence and will be 
completed. Inaccurate assessment of a development opportunity or a decrease in tenant demand due to 
competition from other commercial real estate properties or adverse market conditions could result in a 
substantial proportion of the development project remaining vacant after completion and exert pressure on the 
Group to provide rental incentives to tenants. Such vacancies and rental incentives to tenants would affect the 
return on investment as well as the value of the development property, which could have a material adverse 
effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, future prospects or the price of the 
Notes. 

The Group’s development projects require large initial investments while they will start generating rental 
income only after a certain period of time, and are subject to various risks which could cause delays and 
increase the time until the projects generate rental income. 

The Group’s development projects support its strategy. These projects require large investments, often 
including the purchase of land, in the early stages of the projects while they will start generating rental 
income only after a certain period of time because of the long-term nature of construction and redevelopment 
work. These projects are subject to various risks, each of which could cause delay of a project and therefore 
increase the time until the project starts generating rental income, increase the costs of a project compared to 
the budget, cause the loss or decrease of expected income of a project or, in some cases, even cause the 
termination of a project. Risks involved in these activities include but are not limited to: (i) delays resulting 
from, among other things, adverse weather conditions or acts of nature, work disputes, insolvency of 
construction contractors, shortages of or defective equipment or construction materials, accidents or 
unforeseen technical difficulties; (ii) difficulty in acquiring permits or other approvals required by law to 

complete the project; (iii) refusal by the planning authorities in the various countries in which the Group 

operates to approve development plans; (iv) demands of planning authorities to modify existing plans; and (v) 

upon completion of the development project, additional rental income from the projects and the occupancy 
rates being lower than anticipated. 
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The Group could be exposed to catastrophic events for which its properties are not insured or are not fully 
insured, such as fire, flooding, earthquakes or other force majeure events. 

Given their nature, real estate properties are exposed to the risk of catastrophic events, such as fire, flooding 
and earthquakes. Any of these types of events may result in severe damage to the Group’s properties. 
Moreover, such events may create economic and political uncertainties, which could have a negative effect in 
ways that cannot be predicted on economic conditions in the regions in which the Group operates. 

The Group seeks to maintain insurance policies covering its properties and employees with policy 
specifications and insured limits which the Group believes are customary for the real estate business in its 
markets. The Group’s properties are largely covered against property damage and third party liability and the 
Group is covered for a loss of rental income for a period of 36 months in certain circumstances. However, the 
Group’s properties may not be fully insured, or insured at all, against damages from catastrophic events such 
as flooding, earthquakes or other force majeure events. 

The occurrence of a significant event that is not insured or is not fully insured or indemnified against, or the 
failure of the Group to meet its insurance payment obligations, could result in a loss of all or a portion of the 
capital invested in a property, as well as the anticipated future revenue from that property. Alternatively, an 
event may be covered by insurance but related costs or losses may only be reimbursed after considerable time 
has elapsed. In addition, the Group may not be able to maintain adequate insurance coverage in the future at 
commercially reasonable rates with acceptable terms. 

The Group is exposed to risks related to the safety of consumers and tenants in shopping centres, office 
buildings and other locations, including acts of terrorism and violence. 

Due to high visibility and the presence of large numbers of people, the Group’s properties may be targets for 
terrorism and other forms of violence. Any terror or violent attack on a property of the Group or a similar 
property owned by someone else may result in damage or loss of business by the Group’s tenants and may, 
apart from any direct losses, harm the property investments of the Group. These attacks may directly or 
indirectly affect the value of the portfolio. 

Even when the Group is insured against losses due to such attacks, certain losses resulting from these types of 
events may be uninsurable or not insurable to the full extent of the loss suffered. Moreover, any of these 
events could lower consumer confidence and, for example, decrease footfall and spending in the Group’s 
shopping centres or increase volatility and uncertainty in the worldwide financial markets and economy. 
Adverse economic conditions resulting from these types of events could reduce demand for space in the 
Group’s properties and thereby reduce the value of these properties and rental income. Any of the above 
circumstances, were they to be realised, could have a material adverse effect on the reputation, business, 
results of operation and financial condition of the Group. 

The Group is exposed to risks relating to ground leases (erfpacht). 

The Group holds properties that are (partially) on ground leases: three in the Netherlands, one in Belgium and 
one in Finland. The annual rent amounts to €985,000, with the land being owned by another party. The 
conditions of the ground lease agreement, such as its term and the payment obligations, are key parameters 
that impact the value of the property. The ground lease agreement may contain provisions leading to the loss 
of the ground leased property if the Group is in material breach of the ground lease agreement. Furthermore, 
the Group may face changes in the terms and conditions of the ground lease agreement, for example with 
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respect to payment obligations to the underlying owner of the land. Unfavourable changes to the ground lease 
agreements or relevant regulations may limit the Group’s ability to sell the properties, which are subject to 
ground leases, and may thereby decrease its value, or require the Group to write down the asset’s value as 
recorded on the Group’s consolidated balance sheet. Such a write down could have a material adverse effect 
on the Group’s consolidated balance sheet and profitability and, as a result, on the value of and return on the 
Notes. 

The Group is subject to mandatory tenant protection laws in Belgium, the Netherlands and France that 
limit its flexibility in terminating or amending leases. 

Lease of retail property in Belgium, the Netherlands and France is subject to certain mandatory laws 
regarding tenant protection. Retail leases for a period of two years or less are excluded from these rules in the 
Netherlands.  

In the Netherlands, the lease of retail property requires an initial lease period of at least five years, with an 
automatic extension of another five years. There are also restrictions on the grounds on which a landlord can 
terminate a lease. The applicability of these legal regimes limits the ability of the Group to terminate leases 
and adversely affects the flexibility to terminate, extend or amend lease agreements with such counterparties, 
which flexibility may be of particular relevance where properties are, or are to be, renovated or redeveloped. 

Certain provisions of Belgian and French law on commercial leases are mandatory, which means that the 
parties are not entitled to deviate from or contract out of these provisions. Belgian and French lease of retail 
property requires an initial lease period of at least nine years. The tenant has a legal right to request three 
renewals of the initial lease, each for a period of nine years. The tenant’s request is subject to strict formal 
conditions and needs to be sent to the landlord within a specific timeframe prior to the expiry of the lease. In 
both Belgium and France, the conditions entitling the landlord to refuse such renewal requests are limited and 
strictly provided by law. In Belgium the tenant is always entitled to terminate the lease without motive upon 
expiry of the third and sixth year of the lease (and of its renewals), while this possibility is mostly excluded 
for the landlord unless both parties expressly agree otherwise in the lease. In France, parties can agree that the 
tenant waives its right to terminate the lease upon expiry of the third year. The landlord, however, can only 
terminate upon expiry of the lease term. As a result of these laws, in both Belgium and France the Group may 
be restricted by law in its ability to terminate, extend or amend the lease agreement. 

Furthermore, laws may grant some tenants a periodic right to terminate a lease before it expires, which may 
affect the Group’s occupancy rates. In particular, certain of the leases within the portfolio are considered 
“leases under tacit extension” and may be terminated by the tenants at any time. 

The Group faces rental risk. 

The Group faces rental risk which includes the risk of loss of rental income due to vacancies and downward 
movements in market rents. In a declining economy, there is an increase in both vacancy risk and the risk of 
tenants being unable to fulfil their financial commitments. Vacancies can arise, for example, when leases are 
not renewed on expiry or are terminated early. The vacancy rate affects rental income and can lead to 
downward price pressure. Costs are often incurred in maintaining empty property in or returning empty 
property to a condition which is acceptable for letting and letting empty property requires additional effort. An 
economic crisis or weakening demand could also result in the Group taking longer to let property that has 
become vacant due to companies postponing their relocation decisions. A significant loss of rental income 
and/or a significant downward movement in market rents may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 
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business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects and may therefore affect the Group’s ability 
to fulfil its obligations under the Notes. 

The Group’s development projects are subject to the hazards and risks normally associated with the 
construction and development of commercial real estate, any of which could result in increased costs 
and/or damage to persons or property. 

The Group depends on skilled third party contractors for the timely construction of its developments in 
accordance with international standards of quality and safety. The process of construction may be delayed or 
disrupted by a number of factors, such as inclement weather or acts of nature, industrial accidents and 
defective building methods or materials. Any of these factors, alone or in combination could delay or disrupt 
the construction process by halting the construction process or damaging material or the development itself. 

In addition, the costs of construction depend primarily on the costs of materials and labour, which may be 
subject to significant unforeseen increases. The Group may not be able to recover for cost overruns under its 
insurance policies or from the responsible contractor or sub-contractor or may incur holding costs and the 
development may decrease in value, any of which could have a material adverse effect on its business, 
financial condition, results of operations, future prospects or the price of the Notes. 

Compliance risks 

Environmental risks. 

The presence of soil contamination and/or substances which are harmful to the environment and public health 
are other potential risks affecting property investment. The Group pursues an active environmental policy. 
Although the Group is not aware of any current environmental liabilities with respect to its portfolio, there is 
no assurance that any such environmental liabilities will not occur in the future (including liabilities relating 
to asbestos, as described above in the risk factor entitled “Increased maintenance, refurbishment and 

redevelopment costs may adversely affect the Group’s results”). Also, the possibility of expenses arising in the 
future to prevent or remove contamination cannot be excluded. Any such future liabilities or expenses, when 
materialising, may materially affect the Group’s results, financial position or liquidity.  

Legislation and regulations. 

The Group is subject to local, regional and national regulations in the countries where it is active and has 
investments. These regulations relate, inter alia, to the environment, safety and maintenance standards, 
physical planning, tenants’ rights and the functioning of the property markets. Certain of the property markets 
in which the Group operates may also be affected by European Union directives implemented by the Member 
States and/or European Union regulations. No assurances can be given that legislation and regulations, or 
interpretation, implementation or amendment of existing legislation and regulations, will not result in 
additional expenses, compliance costs or restrictions for the Group, and may adversely affect the management 
of the Group’s property portfolio, which may adversely affect the Group’s results, prospects and financial 
position. 

If the Group loses or is unable to obtain licences necessary for its operations or expansion, it may not be 
able to carry on its business or parts of its current or planned businesses. 
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The Group has obtained several licences and permits, including zoning permits, for its properties from 
municipalities and other government authorities. Some of these licences are issued for a limited period of time 
and may not be renewed, or, if they are renewed, their terms may be changed. These licences contain a 
number of requirements regarding the way the Group conducts its business and the Group may be required to 
make investments in order to maintain such licences. Failure to meet these requirements could result in fines 
or other sanctions including, ultimately, revocation of licences. Moreover, the Group may be required to 
obtain licences following regulatory changes or where it wishes to expand into new areas of business and it 
may not be able to obtain these licences.  

The Group benefits from special tax regimes. 

In France, the Netherlands and Belgium, the Group benefits from special tax regimes that have been 
introduced in the respective domestic legislations to encourage collective portfolio investment. Under each of 
these regimes, provided that certain strict conditions are met, qualifying income is exempt or the tax rate is 0 
per cent. Depending on the jurisdiction, these conditions may relate to permissible activities or shareholders, 
restrictions with respect to the amount of debt financing allowed and the dividend policy. A common feature 
among these conditions is that to be eligible to the tax treatment, the Issuer is obliged to distribute its taxable 
result – again depending on the jurisdiction, all or a minimum portion of it – as a dividend to its shareholders 
within a certain timeframe. There could be a risk that the Group does not meet one or more of the 
qualification requirements, or that the tax authorities take a different view on how the distributable result 
should be calculated. If this happens, the Group could become subject to corporate income tax in that 
particular jurisdiction. 

The Group could suffer adverse consequences if it fails to maintain its current beneficial tax structuring of 
its Finnish investments due to changes in local tax law. 

As of the date of the Prospectus, the Group has structured its foreign investments in Finland, where it does not 
operate its business through a regime similar to the FII regime or the regimes applicable to (i) public regulated 
real estate companies (openbare gereglementeerde vastgoedvennootschap, “GVV/SIR”) or (ii) Sociétés 

d’Investissements Immobilières Cotées, “SIIC”), in a manner intended to result in an effective current tax rate 
that is very low or non-existent, based on the utilisation of current rules as enacted in local tax laws. Any 
change in local tax laws or practices may cause these structures to become less effective, resulting in a higher 
tax burden than foreseen. 

Financial risks 

The Group is exposed to credit risk on rent payments from its tenants. 

As of 31 December 2016, the Group was a party to approximately 2,325 lease contracts, of which 
approximately 2,268 related to shopping centres and 57 to offices. Approximately 21 per cent. of the Group’s 
annual rent as at 31 December 2016 was attributable to its top ten tenants. 

As of 31 December 2016, the Group has accounted for an amount equal to €26.6 million before provisions 
and €18 million after provisions of outstanding receivables from doubtful debtors. As of 31 December 2016, 
if 10 per cent. of the Group’s existing doubtful debt (after provisions) were to default, this would have a 
negative effect of €2.3 million on the result of the Group. If 1 per cent. of the annual contracted rent is not 
paid, this would negatively impact annual contracted rent by €2.2 million. The Group’s standard lease terms 
state that rent is to be paid in advance, and the Group also generally requires deposits or payment guarantees. 
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The amounts payable to the Group under its leases with tenants that are not guaranteed (by payment 
guarantees, bank guarantees or corporate guarantees) bear the risk that such tenants will be unable to pay such 
amounts when due. The Group may suffer from a decline in revenues, profitability and cash flow in the event 
that a number of its significant tenants seek bankruptcy protection or are unable to pay rent owed when due. 
The Group is not insured against this credit risk. The creditworthiness of a tenant can decline over the short or 
medium term. If a tenant seeks bankruptcy protection, the Group may be subject to delays in receipt of rental 
and other contractual payments, if it is able to collect such payments at all, and the Group may not be able to 
terminate the tenant’s lease, preventing the Group from leasing out the property to a new tenant, any of which 
would have a material adverse effect on the reputation, business, results of operation and financial condition 
of the Group. 

The Group could be adversely affected by a deterioration of the creditworthiness of other financial 
institutions. 

The Group’s cash on hand is on deposit with a variety of commercial banks. These relationships could expose 
the Group to credit risk in the event of default of a counterparty. Many of the hedging and other risk 
management strategies that are and may be utilised by the Group also involve transactions with financial 
services counterparties. The failure of these counterparties to settle or the perceived weakness of these 
counterparties may impair the effectiveness of the Group’s hedging and other risk management strategies. 

Access to capital on acceptable terms necessary for maintaining, growing and developing the Group’s 
business and portfolio could become challenging. 

In the ordinary course of business, the Group makes significant capital expenditures for the acquisition, 
(re)development and maintenance of projects or properties. The Group has so far financed its capital 
expenditures through operating cash flows and raising debt and equity, however, the Group may not be able to 
continue to do so. The ability of the Group to obtain financing and the terms of such financing will continue 
to depend on several factors, some of which are beyond its control, such as general economic conditions, the 
availability of credit from financial institutions and global and European monetary policy. Regulatory changes 
may adversely affect the Group’s cost of financing and the Group’s access to financing in the future. Reduced 
levels of stimulus by central banks and governments or an increase in interest rate spreads as a result of higher 
risk premiums may also cause the costs of new financing to rise which may adversely affect the Group’s 
access to future financing at favourable terms. In addition, deterioration in the Group’s business results or 
financial condition could lead to higher financing costs. The Group may not be able to obtain financing and 
any financing that it can obtain may not have effective terms (whether privately or through a public 
transaction). Moreover, there may be a risk that the Group’s financial counterparties will not be able to 
provide funds under the facilities agreed with the Group. 

In addition, the ability of the Group to obtain debt financing may be constrained by the Group’s qualification 
as a FII under Dutch corporation tax law and the resulting limitations on the level of its indebtedness or 
restrictions contained in its current or future credit agreements (see the risk factor entitled “The Group’s 

operations are restricted by its financing instruments”). The Group may also seek additional equity financing, 
to fund other acquisitions or expenses in the mid-to-long term. The Group’s ability to raise such additional 
equity financing is also dependent on market conditions, economic circumstances and/or investor appetite. 

Failure to obtain financing due to any of the factors above could have an adverse effect on the business, 
financial condition and results of operations of the Group. 
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Market perceptions concerning the instability of the euro, the potential re-introduction of individual 
currencies within the Eurozone, or the potential dissolution of the euro entirely, could adversely affect the 
value of the Notes and the Group’s business. 

Concerns persist regarding the debt burden of certain Eurozone countries and their ability to meet future 
financial obligations, the overall stability of the euro and the suitability of the euro as a single currency given 
the diverse economic and political circumstances in individual Member States. Since 2015, the stability of the 
Eurozone has been further undermined by the refugee crisis, as EU member states and adjacent countries have 
struggled to cope with the significant flows of migrants trying to access the Eurozone. In addition, the United 
Kingdom held an in-or-out referendum on 23 June 2016 regarding its membership within the European 
Union, in which a majority of the voters voted in favour of the United Kingdom’s government taking the 
necessary actions for the United Kingdom to leave the European Union. A process of negotiation will 
determine the future terms of the United Kingdom’s relationship with the European Union. Details around the 
negotiation process, including the length of time this process will take and the likely outcome, remain unclear. 
The implications of the United Kingdom withdrawing from the European Union and the impact this will have 
on the Group’s business are similarly unclear because they will depend, among other things, on the outcome 
of the negotiation process. It is also possible that other members of the European Union could hold a similar 
referendum regarding their membership within the European Union in the future. The uncertainty that has 
been created by the British referendum (which could continue during the period of negotiation) and the exit of 
the United Kingdom from the European Union could adversely affect European and worldwide economic and 
market conditions and could contribute to further instability in global financial markets. Such volatility and 
negative economic impact could, in turn, have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial 
condition and results of operations and could adversely affect the value and trading of the Notes. These and 
other concerns could lead to the re-introduction of individual currencies in one or more Member States, 
including the Netherlands, France, Belgium and Finland or, in more extreme circumstances, the possible 
dissolution of the euro entirely. Should the euro dissolve entirely, the legal and contractual consequences for 
holders of euro-denominated obligations would be determined by laws in effect at such time. These potential 
developments, or market perceptions concerning these and related issues, could adversely affect the value of 
the Notes. 

The Group’s operations are restricted by its financing instruments. 

The Group’s total Financial Indebtedness (as defined in the section ‘Terms and Conditions of the Notes’) as 
of 31 December 2016 was €1,529 million. This level of indebtedness requires the Group to dedicate a 
portion of its cash flow from operations to make interest and principal payments on its indebtedness and 
will also require the timely refinancing of certain short term liabilities before their respective maturity 
dates. This reduces the Group’s available liquidity and therefore the availability of the Group’s cash to fund 
working capital and make capital expenditures and limits the Group’s flexibility in acquisitions and other 

growth possibilities and its ability to pay dividends.  

A deterioration of the Group’s liquidity or an increase of its indebtedness may affect the Group’s ability to 
attract business, to enter into partnership agreements, to procure materials, services and products from 
suppliers and to retain services from subcontractors on favourable terms. As a result, such deterioration or 
increase could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations, financial 
condition and prospects. As at 31 December 2016, the Group had a total of €540 million (2015: €410 
million) of committed revolving credit facilities. As at 31 December 2016, the Group had undrawn 

committed credit facilities to the amount of €182 million (2015: €306 million). 
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A breach of covenants under the Group’s financing arrangements could entail increased interest 
payments, a sale of assets or a suspension of dividend payments, and cross-default provisions may 
exacerbate existing risks. 

The Group is restricted by certain covenants in its financing instruments, being an Interest Cover Ratio (the 
“ICR”), a Loan-to-value ratio (the “LTV Ratio”) and a Solvency Ratio (the “Solvency Ratio”). The ICR is 
calculated as net rental income to consolidated net interest charges (defined as charges and interest cost 
excluding amortised cost). The LTV Ratio is calculated as the ratio of financial indebtedness to the 
aggregate book value of the Group’s property investments. The Solvency Ratio is calculated as the ratio of 
the shareholder’s equity to the balance sheet total (less any intangible assets, in both cases). Under the 
Group’s financing arrangements, it must maintain an LTV Ratio of less than or equal to 60 per cent., an 
ICR of at least 2x and a Solvency Ratio of not less than 0.40. As of 31 December 2016, the Group’s LTV 
Ratio was 40.1 per cent. (based upon property valuations for the Group’s portfolio as of 31 December 
2016), its ICR was 6.6x and its Solvency Ratio was 56.9. The Group’s targeted LTV ratio is 35-40 per cent. 
on a net debt basis (i.e., with cash deducted from the financial indebtedness). On this basis the LTV ratio 

was 39.0 per cent. as at 31 December 2016. 

In the event that the Group breaches certain covenants under its current financing this may lead to a step-up 
in respect of the interest rate and thereby increase the Group’s payment obligations significantly. In 
addition, the Group may even be required to immediately repay the respective borrowings in whole or in 
part, together with any related costs. In such a situation, the Group may be forced to sell some or all of its 
assets unless it has sufficient cash resources or other financing instruments available to make such 
repayments. In addition, a lender may be able to sell certain of the Group’s assets or procure their sale to 
the extent that such assets serve as collateral for borrowings. The Group may also be required to suspend 
payment of its dividends in case of breaches of covenants under its current financing agreements. 
Furthermore, a breach of covenants could lead to a liquidity shortage as the lenders may refuse any 
drawdowns under the Group’s financing instruments. All of the foregoing could have a material adverse 

effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Group’s financing arrangements also contain cross-default provisions. In case of a default under one 
financing arrangement, the existence of cross-default provisions in other financing arrangements might 
trigger defaults under those arrangements. If such cross-default provisions are triggered, this could result in 
substantial losses for the Group and could significantly reduce its access to capital, which could have a 

material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Group is exposed to interest rate and currency risks and may have exposure in case of the 
unwinding of certain swaps. 

As a result of the Group’s policy to hold investments for the long term, the Group’s borrowings to fund 
investments generally have long maturities (five years or longer). An increase in interest rates can affect the 
Group’s interest payments and investment yields, and can, in turn, impact the value of the Group’s portfolio 
and its financial results. The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge the interest rate risk in its borrowing. 
As of 31 December 2016, 79 per cent. of the Group’s borrowings had a fixed rate (including floating 

interest rates hedged to fixed rates). 

The Group has outstanding debt comprising sterling denominated loans of £130 million, U.S. dollar 
denominated loans of U.S.$342.5 million, and Canadian dollar denominated loans of C$20 million each as 
of 31 December 2016. The Group employs currency swaps to hedge its foreign exchange risk associated 
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with the translation of these debts into Euro. Should these instruments prove ineffective, the Group could 
incur additional costs with the payment of this outstanding indebtedness. The Group’s use of derivative 
instruments is limited to hedging the underlying currency and interest rate exposure. The Group employs 
cross currency swaps and interest rate swaps to manage its interest expenses. These financial instruments 
are combined to manage the exchange rate sensitivity of the net asset value per ordinary share and the 
interest rate sensitivity of the earnings per ordinary share. The use of financial instruments like interest rate 
swaps and cross currency swaps and options accordingly serves the interest rate and currency policies 

referred to above.  

In addition, if the Group sells a property and repays part of a loan with the proceeds of such sale, there may 
be a mismatch between the derivatives that the Group has entered into and the loans for which that 
derivative has been entered into and the Group may be required to settle or otherwise unwind such a 
derivative. Such settlement or unwinding may be on commercially disadvantageous terms, resulting in the 

Group incurring significant costs or additional liabilities. 

The Issuer is a holding company with no operations which relies on its operating subsidiaries to provide 
it with funds necessary to meet its financial obligations. 

The Issuer is a holding company with no material direct business operations. The principal assets of the 
Issuer are the equity interests it directly or indirectly holds in its operating subsidiaries. As a result, the 
Issuer is dependent on loans, dividends and other payments from its subsidiaries to generate the funds 
necessary to meet its financial obligations, including those under the Notes. The ability of the Issuer’s 
subsidiaries to pay dividends and make other payments depends on their earnings and may be subject to 
statutory, legal or contractual limitations including, but not limited to, the limitations on the basis of Dutch 
corporate law relating to payment of dividends (winstuitkeringen). As an equity investor in its subsidiaries, 
the Issuer’s right to receive assets upon their liquidation or reorganisation will be effectively subordinated 
to the claims of any of their creditors. As such, Noteholders are structurally subordinated to creditors of the 
Issuer’s subsidiaries (other than the Guarantors). To the extent that the Issuer is recognised as a creditor of 
its subsidiaries, the Issuer’s claims may still be subordinated to any security interest in or other lien on their 

assets and to any of their debt or other obligations that are senior to the Issuer’s claims.  

The Guarantors also guarantee other obligations of the Issuer. 

In addition to being Guarantors under the Programme, the Guarantors have also guaranteed the obligations 
of the Issuer under (i) a EUR 300,000,000 revolving credit facility dated 6 February 2017, (ii) a EUR 
100,000,000 term loan facility dated 27 January 2016, (iii) a EUR 75,000,000 term loan facility dated 7 
September 2015 and (iv) various US private placements (which US private placements have an aggregate 
value, as at 31 December 2016, of EUR 770,856,700). As a result, the recourse of Noteholders against the 
Guarantors may be affected by creditors of the Issuer under those financing arrangements making use of 

their right to take recourse against the Guarantors. 

The Group’s policy for the Guarantors not to raise any external debt may change. 

It is the Group’s policy that the Guarantors do not raise any external debt. This policy may change as a 
result of internal or external factors, such as market conditions, economic circumstances, changes in tax or 
other laws and/or changes in the structure of the Group. If the Guarantors raise external debt, this may 

adversely impact the ability of the Noteholders to obtain recourse against the Guarantors.   
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Factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes 
issued under the Programme 

Risks related to Notes generally. 

Set out below is a brief description of material risks relating to the Notes generally: 

The Guarantees will be subject to certain limitations on validity and enforcement and may be limited by 
applicable laws or subject to certain defences that may limit their validity and enforceability. 

The Guarantees given by the Guarantors provide holders with a direct claim against the relevant Guarantor in 
respect of the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes. Enforcement of each Guarantee would be subject to 
certain generally available defences including those relating to corporate benefit, fraudulent conveyance or 

transfer, voidable preference, corporate purpose and capital maintenance and similar laws. 

If a Dutch company grants a guarantee and that guarantee is not in the company’s corporate interest, the 
guarantee may be voidable pursuant to Section 2:7 Dutch Civil Code (Burgerlijk Wetboek) if the beneficiary 
knew or should have known that the guarantee was not in the company’s corporate interest. In such case the 
guarantee could be voided by the Dutch company, its bankruptcy receiver and its administrator 
(bewindvoerder) and, as a consequence, would not be valid, binding and enforceable against it. In determining 
whether the granting of such guarantee is in the interest of the relevant company, the Dutch courts would 
consider the text of the objects clause in the articles of association of the company and whether the company 
derives certain commercial benefits from the transaction in respect of which the guarantee was granted. In 
addition, if it is determined that there are no, or insufficient, commercial benefits from the transaction for the 
company that grants the guarantee, then such company (and any bankruptcy receiver) may contest the 
enforcement of the guarantee and it is possible that such challenge would be successful. Such benefit may, 
according to Dutch case law, consist of indirect benefit derived by the company as a consequence of the 
interdependence of the company with the group of companies to which it belongs. In addition, it is relevant 
whether, as a consequence of the granting of the guarantee, the continuity of such company would be 
foreseeably endangered by the granting of such guarantee. It remains possible that even where strong 
financial and commercial interdependence exists, the transaction may be declared void if it appears that the 

granting of the guarantee cannot sufficiently serve the realisation of the relevant company’s objects. 

A guarantee granted by a Dutch legal entity may, under certain circumstances, also be nullified by any of its 
creditors (or a receiver in its bankruptcy), if (i) the guarantee was granted without an obligation to do so 
(onverplicht), (ii) the creditor concerned was prejudiced as a consequence of the guarantee and (iii) at the time 
the guarantee was granted both the legal entity and, unless the guarantee was granted for no consideration (om 

niet), the beneficiary of the guarantee knew or should have known that one or more of the entities’ creditors 

(existing or future) would be prejudiced. 

If a court were to find a Guarantee given by a Guarantor void, unenforceable or otherwise ineffective as a 
result of local laws or defences holders would cease to have any claim in respect of that Guarantor and would 

be creditors solely of the Issuer and any remaining Guarantors. 

Finnish Law Limitations on guarantees. 

This section highlights certain aspects of the laws of Finland relating to guarantees granted by the Finnish 

Guarantors as in force on the date of this Prospectus. 

Pursuant to the provisions of the Finnish Companies Act (624/2006, as amended, the ‘‘Finnish Companies 
Act’’), a Finnish company may not grant guarantees to secure the financing of the acquisition of its or its 
direct or indirect parent company’s shares (financial assistance). Generally, such provisions do not address 
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any subsequent refinancing of acquisition debt. However, based on some views in Finnish legal literature, in 
certain situations, such subsequent refinancing, or the granting of guarantees to secure such subsequent 
refinancing, could be held to violate the applicable provisions on financial assistance. Therefore, the 

limitations regarding financial assistance may apply also when granting guarantees for refinancing debt. 

Further, a company can only distribute its assets in the ways specified in the Finnish Companies Act. Other 
transactions that reduce the assets of a company or increase its liabilities without commercial reason 
constitute an unlawful distribution of assets. The granting of guarantees is subject to the rules applicable to 
distribution of funds, and therefore, requires that the granting of a guarantee is based on commercial reasons 
(corporate benefit). When assessing the business justification for granting the guarantee and the existence and 
scope of corporate benefit, all relevant circumstances, benefits and risks to the company are to be taken into 
account. The assessment is made primarily on a stand-alone basis taking into consideration the benefits to the 
company, e.g. that the company is provided directly or indirectly through group companies with loans or 
financing or its financing costs are decreased. Group benefit may be taken into account in the corporate 

benefit assessment to the extent it, directly or indirectly, benefits the company itself. 

If the corporate benefit requirement and the financial assistance prohibition are not complied with, the 
Guarantees granted by the Finnish Guarantors could be subject to legal challenge and the consequence of a 
breach of the financial assistance prohibition or the corporate benefit requirement could be the invalidity, 

ineffectiveness or the unenforceability of the Guarantees.  

For the above-mentioned reasons and in order to ensure that the guarantees given by Finnish Guarantors cover 
the maximum amount of liabilities permitted under Finnish corporate law, it is standard market practice for 
guarantees and certain other financing documents, including the Guarantees given by the Finnish Guarantors, 
to include language pursuant to which the scope of guarantees or other similar liabilities granted by limited 
liability companies incorporated in Finland is contractually limited so as to not be in conflict with the relevant 
statutory limitations. Thus, the Guarantee Agreement includes a limitation to the scope of the Guarantees 
given by the Finnish Guarantors providing that the obligations of the Finnish Guarantors shall be subject to 
and limited if, and only to the extent, required by the mandatory provisions of the Finnish Companies Act 
regulating (a) financial assistance, as provided in Chapter 13, Section 10 of the Finnish Companies Act or (b) 

unlawful distribution of assets, as provided in Chapter 13, Section 1 of the Finnish Companies Act. 

Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors. 

Each potential investor in any Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own 
circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should: 

(i) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the relevant Notes, the 
merits and risks of investing in the relevant Notes and the information contained or incorporated by 

reference in this Prospectus or any applicable supplement; 

(ii)  have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its 
particular financial situation, an investment in the relevant Notes and the impact such investment will 

have on its overall investment portfolio; 

(iii)  have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the relevant 
Notes, including where principal or interest is payable in one or more currencies, or where the 

currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor’s currency; 

(iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the relevant Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any 

relevant indices and financial markets; and 
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(v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for 
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the 

applicable risks. 

Some Notes are complex financial instruments and such instruments may be purchased as a way to reduce 
risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A 
potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has the 
expertise (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under 
changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of such Notes and the impact this investment will have 

on the potential investor’s overall investment portfolio. 

Potential conflicts of interest. 

Potential conflicts of interest may arise between the Calculation Agent, if any, for a Tranche of Notes and the 
Noteholders, including with respect to certain discretionary determinations and judgements that such 
Calculation Agent may make pursuant to the Terms and Conditions that may influence the amount receivable 

upon redemption of the Notes.  

Actions taken by the Calculation Agent may affect the Notes. 

The Calculation Agent is the agent of the Issuer and not the agent of the Noteholders. The Issuer may itself act 
as the Calculation Agent. The Calculation Agent will have discretion to make such adjustments to the Notes 
as it considers appropriate in certain circumstances (as set out in the Terms and Conditions ). In making these 
adjustments the Calculation Agent is entitled to exercise substantial discretion and may be subject to conflicts 
of interest in exercising this discretion. The Calculation Agent is not required to make adjustments with 

respect to each and every corporate action or other event or circumstance entitling it to make an adjustment.  

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes. 

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features 

which contain material risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of such features: 

Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer. 

An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of Notes. During any period when the Issuer 
may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the 

price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period. 

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the 
Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an 
effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at 
a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments 

available at that time. 

Partly-paid Notes. 

The Issuer may issue Notes where the issue price is payable in more than one instalment. Failure to pay any 

subsequent instalment could result in an investor losing all of its investment. 

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes. 

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that the Issuer may elect to convert from a fixed rate to a 
floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. The Issuer’s ability to convert the interest rate will affect 
the secondary market and the market value of such Notes since the Issuer may be expected to convert the rate 
when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a 
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floating rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads 
on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any 
time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the 

fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on its Notes. 

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium. 

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium to their nominal amount tend to 
fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing 
securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as 

compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities. 

Modification and waivers. 

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider 
matters affecting their interests generally and to obtain Written Resolutions on matters relating to the Notes 
from Noteholders without calling a meeting. A Written Resolution signed by or on behalf of the holders of not 
less than 75 per cent. in principal amount of the Notes of the relevant Series who for the time being are 
entitled to receive notice of a meeting in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement and whose 
Notes are outstanding shall, for all purposes, take effect as an Extraordinary Resolution. 

In certain circumstances, where the Notes are held in global form in the clearing systems, the Issuer and the 

Guarantors (as the case may be) will be entitled to rely upon: 

(i) where the terms of the proposed resolution have been notified through the relevant clearing system(s), 
approval of a resolution proposed by the Issuer or the Guarantors (as the case may be) given by way of 
electronic consents communicated through the electronic communications systems of the relevant 
clearing systems in accordance with their operating rules and procedures by or on behalf of the holders 
of not less than 75 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes of the relevant Series for the time being 

outstanding; and 

(ii)  where electronic consent is not being sought, consent or instructions given in writing directly to the 
Issuer and/or the Guarantors (as the case may be) by accountholders in the clearing systems with 
entitlements to such global note or certificate or, where the accountholders hold such entitlement on 
behalf of another person, on written consent from or written instruction by the person for whom such 
entitlement is ultimately beneficially held (directly or via one or more intermediaries), provided that 
the Issuer and the Guarantors have obtained commercially reasonable evidence to ascertain the validity 
of such holding and taken reasonable steps to ensure such holding does not alter following the giving 

of such consent/instruction and prior to effecting such resolution. 

A Written Resolution or an electronic consent as described above may be effected in connection with any 
matter affecting the interests of Noteholders, including the modification of the Conditions, that would 
otherwise be required to be passed at a meeting of Noteholders satisfying the special quorum in accordance 
with the provisions of the Agency Agreement, and shall for all purposes take effect as an Extraordinary 
Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders duly convened and held. These provisions permit defined 
majorities to bind all Noteholders, including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting 

and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. 

Change of law. 
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The Terms and Conditions of the Notes are based on Dutch law in effect as at the date of issue of the relevant 
Notes. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to Dutch law or 

administrative practice after the date of issue of the relevant Notes. 

Bearer Notes where denominations involve integral multiples. 

In relation to any issue of Notes in bearer form which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified 
Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that the 
Notes may be traded in amounts that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denominations (as 
defined in the Conditions). In such a case a Noteholder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds a 
principal amount of less than the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing 
system at the relevant time will not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive 
Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that it holds an amount equal 

to one or more Specified Denominations. 

If definitive Notes are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Notes which have a denomination that is 

not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and difficult to trade. 

Notes in New Global Form. 

The New Global Note form has been introduced to allow for the possibility of debt instruments being issued 
and held in a manner which will permit them to be recognised as eligible collateral for monetary policy of the 
central banking system for the euro (the “Eurosystem”) and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem 
either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. However in any particular case such recognition will 
depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria at the relevant time. Investors should make 

their own assessment as to whether the Notes meet such Eurosystem eligibility criteria. 

Risks related to the market generally. 

Set out below is a brief description of material market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, 

interest rate risk and credit risk: 

The secondary market generally. 

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does 
develop, it may not be liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that 
will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. 
This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are 
designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment 
requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more limited 
secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities. Illiquidity may have a severely 

adverse effect on the market value of Notes. 

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls. 

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents risks relating 
to currency conversions if an investor’s financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or 
currency unit (the “Investor’s Currency”) other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that 
exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or 
revaluation of the Investor’s Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor’s 
Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor’s Currency 
relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (1) the Investor’s Currency equivalent yield on the Notes, 
(2) the Investor’s Currency equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (3) the Investor’s 

Currency equivalent market value of the Notes. 
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Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that 
could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal 

than expected, or no interest or principal. 

Interest rate risks. 

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may 

adversely affect the value of Fixed Rate Notes. 

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks. 

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to an issue of Notes. The ratings 
may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed 
above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, 

sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time. 

Certain considerations regarding hedging. 

Prospective purchasers intending to purchase Notes to hedge against the market risk associated with investing 
in a currency or other basis of reference which may be specified in the applicable Final Terms, should 
recognise the complexities of utilising Notes in this manner. For example, the value of the Notes may not 
exactly correlate with the value of the currency or other basis which may be specified in the applicable Final 
Terms. Due to fluctuating supply and demand for the Notes, there is no assurance that their value will 
correlate with movements of the currency or other basis which may be specified in the applicable Final 

Terms.   

The return on an investment in Notes will be affected by charges incurred by investors.  

An investor’s total return on an investment in Notes will be affected by the level of fees charged to the 
investor, including fees charged to the investor as a result of the Notes being held in a clearing system. Such 
fees may include charges for opening accounts, transfers of securities, custody services and fees for payment 
of principal, interest or other sums due under the terms of the Notes. Investors should carefully investigate 

these fees before making their investment decision. 

Tax risk. 

This Prospectus includes a general summary of certain tax considerations relating to an investment in the 
Notes issued by the Issuer (see “Taxation”). Such summary may not apply to a particular holder of Notes or to 
a particular issue and does not cover all possible tax considerations. In addition, the tax treatment may change 
before the maturity, exercise or termination date of Notes. Any potential investor should consult its own 
independent tax adviser for more information about the tax consequences of acquiring, owning and disposing 

of Notes in its particular circumstances. 

Potential purchasers and sellers of Notes should be aware that they may be required to pay stamp taxes or 
other documentary or fiscal charges in accordance with the laws and practices of the country where the Notes 

are transferred. 

Risk of difference in insolvency law. 

In the event that the Issuer or any of the Guarantors become insolvent, insolvency proceedings will generally 
be governed by the insolvency laws of the Issuer’s or the relevant Guarantor’s place of incorporation. The 
insolvency laws of the Issuer’s or a Guarantor’s place of incorporation may be different from the insolvency 
laws of an investor’s home jurisdiction and the treatment and ranking of holders of Notes issued by the Issuer 
and the Issuer’s and a Guarantor’s other creditors and shareholders under the insolvency laws of the Issuer’s 
or a Guarantor’s place of incorporation may be different from the treatment and ranking of holders of those 



 

 

 27  

Notes and the Issuer’s and a Guarantor’s other creditors and shareholders if the Issuer or any of the 

Guarantors was subject to the insolvency laws of the investor’s home jurisdiction. 

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. 

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to laws and regulations, or review or regulation by 
certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what 
extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing 
and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult 
their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any 

applicable risk-based capital or similar rules. 
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OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME 
 

The following overview is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Prospectus. 

Issuer: Wereldhave N.V. 

Guarantors: N.V. Wereldhave International 
Wereldhave Nederland B.V. 
Itäkeskus Holding Oy 

Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus Oy 

Guarantors may cease to be a Guarantor under the Programme 
subject to the conditions as further set out in Condition 3(c) 
(Guarantees and Status –Release of a Guarantor) and a Guarantee 
Entity may become a Guarantor as further set out in Condition 3(d) 

(Guarantees and Status – Additional Guarantors). 

Description: Guaranteed Euro Medium Term Note Programme 

Size: Up to EUR 2,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies at 
the date of issue) aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding at 

any one time. 

Arranger: J.P. Morgan Securities plc 

Dealers: ABN AMRO Bank N.V. 

Barclays Bank PLC 

Belfius Bank NV/SA 

BNP Paribas 

Coöperatieve Rabobank U.A. 

ING Bank N.V. 

J.P. Morgan Securities plc  

Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc 

The Royal Bank of Scotland plc (trading as NatWest Markets) 

The Issuer may from time to time terminate the appointment of any 
dealer under the Programme or appoint additional dealers either in 
respect of one or more Tranches or in respect of the whole 
Programme. References in this Prospectus to “Permanent Dealers” 
are to the persons listed above as Dealers and to such additional 
persons that are appointed as dealers in respect of the whole 
Programme (and whose appointment has not been terminated) and 
references to “Dealers” are to all Permanent Dealers and all persons 

appointed as a dealer in respect of one or more Tranches. 

Fiscal Agent: BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch 

Registrar and Transfer Agent:  BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch 

Amsterdam Listing Agent:  ABN AMRO Bank N.V. 
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Method of Issue: The Notes will be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis. 
The Notes will be issued in series (each a “Series”) having one or 
more issue dates and on terms otherwise identical (or identical other 
than in respect of the first payment of interest), the Notes of each 
Series being intended to be interchangeable with all other Notes of 
that Series. Each Series may be issued in tranches (each a 
“Tranche”) on the same or different issue dates. The specific terms 
of each Tranche (which will be completed, where necessary, with 
the relevant terms and conditions and, save in respect of the issue 
date, issue price, first payment of interest and nominal amount of 
the Tranche, will be identical to the terms of other Tranches of the 
same Series) will be completed in the final terms (the “Final 

Terms”). 

Issue Price: Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount or 
premium to their nominal amount. Partly Paid Notes may be issued, 

the issue price of which will be payable in two or more instalments. 

Form of Notes: The Notes may be issued in bearer form (“Bearer Notes”) or in 
registered form (“Registered Notes”) only. Each Tranche of Bearer 
Notes will be represented on issue by a temporary Global Note if (i) 
definitive Notes are to be made available to Noteholders following 
the expiry of 40 days after their issue date or (ii) such Notes have an 
initial maturity of more than one year and are being issued in 
compliance with the D Rules (as defined in “ – Selling Restrictions” 
below), otherwise such Tranche will be represented by a permanent 
Global Note. Registered Notes will be represented by Certificates, 
one Certificate being issued in respect of each Noteholder’s entire 
holding of Registered Notes of one Series. Certificates representing 
Registered Notes that are registered in the name of a nominee for 
one or more clearing systems are referred to as “Global 

Certificates”. 

Clearing Systems: Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear and, in relation to any 
Tranche, such other clearing system as may be agreed between the 

Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the relevant Dealer. 

Initial Delivery of Notes: On or before the issue date for each Tranche, if the relevant Global 
Note is a NGN or the relevant Global Certificate is held under the 
NSS, the Global Note or Global Certificate will be delivered to a 
Common Safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. 
On or before the issue date for each Tranche, if the relevant Global 
Note is a CGN or the relevant Global Certificate is not held under 
the NSS, the Global Note representing Bearer Notes or the Global 
Certificate representing Registered Notes may be deposited with a 
common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. 
Global Notes or Global Certificates may also be deposited with any 
other clearing system or may be delivered outside any clearing 
system provided that the method of such delivery has been agreed in 
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advance by the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the relevant Dealer. 
Registered Notes that are to be credited to one or more clearing 
systems on issue will be registered in the name of nominees or a 

common nominee for such clearing systems. 

Currencies: Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and 
directives, Notes may be issued in any currency agreed between the 

Issuer, the Guarantors and the relevant Dealers. 

Maturities: Any maturity, subject to compliance with all relevant laws, 
regulations and directives. 

Specified Denomination: Definitive Notes will be in such denominations as may be specified 
in the relevant Final Terms save that (i) in the case of any Notes 
which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market within the 
European Economic Area or offered to the public in an EEA State in 
circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus under 
the Prospectus Directive, the minimum specified denomination shall 
be €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency as at the date of 
issue of the Notes); and (ii) unless otherwise permitted by then 

current laws and regulations, Notes (including Notes denominated 
in sterling) which have a maturity of less than one year and in 
respect of which the issue proceeds are to be accepted by the Issuer 
in the United Kingdom or whose issue otherwise constitutes a 
contravention of section 19 of the FSMA will have a minimum 

denomination of £100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies). 

Fixed Rate Notes: Fixed interest will be payable in arrear on the date or dates in each 
year specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

Floating Rate Notes: Floating Rate Notes will bear interest determined separately for 
each Series as follows:  

(i) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest 
rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency 
governed by an agreement incorporating the relevant ISDA 
Definitions, as published by the International Swaps and 

Derivatives Association, Inc. or 

 (ii)  by reference to LIBOR, EURIBOR, NIBOR or the Canadian 
Bankers’ Acceptance Rate as adjusted for any applicable 

margin.  

Interest periods will be specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

Zero Coupon Notes: Zero Coupon Notes (as defined in “Terms and Conditions of the 
Notes”) may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount to it 

and will not bear interest. 
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Interest Periods and Interest 
Rates: 

The length of the interest periods for the Notes and the applicable 
interest rate or its method of calculation may differ from time to 
time or be constant for any Series. Notes may have a maximum 
interest rate, a minimum interest rate, or both. The use of interest 
accrual periods permits the Notes to bear interest at different rates in 
the same interest period. All such information will be set out in the 

relevant Final Terms. 

Redemption: The relevant Final Terms will specify the basis for calculating the 
redemption amounts payable. Unless permitted by then current laws 
and regulations, Notes (including Notes denominated in sterling) 
which have a maturity of less than one year and in respect of which 
the issue proceeds are to be accepted by the Issuer in the United 
Kingdom or whose issue otherwise constitutes a contravention of 
section 19 of the FSMA must have a minimum redemption amount 

of £100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies). 

Taxation: This Prospectus includes a general summary of certain Dutch and 
Finnish tax considerations relating to an investment in the Notes. 
See the “Taxation” section of this Prospectus. Such summary may 
not apply to a particular holder of Notes or to a particular issue and 
does not cover all possible tax considerations. In addition, the tax 
treatment may change after the date of this Prospectus. Any 
potential investor should consult his own tax adviser for more 
information about the tax consequences of acquiring, owning and 

disposing of Notes in its particular circumstances. 

Redemption by Instalments: The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes that are 
redeemable in two or more instalments will set out the dates on 

which, and the amounts in which, such Notes may be redeemed. 

Optional Redemption: The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes will state 
whether such Notes may be redeemed prior to their stated maturity 
at the option of the Issuer (either in whole or in part) and/or the 
holders, and if so the terms applicable to such redemption. See 
Conditions 6(d)(i) (Redemption, Purchase and Options– 

Redemption at the option of the Issuer) and Condition 6(e) 
(Redemption, Purchase and Options – Redemption at the option of 

Noteholders). 

If specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer will have the 
option to redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes, at any time or 
from time to time, prior to their Maturity Date, at the Make Whole 
Redemption Price, together with interest accrued to the Euro Make 
Whole Redemption Date. See Condition 6(d)(ii) (Redemption, 

Purchase and Options– Redemption at the option of the Issuer). 

If Issuer Maturity Par Call Option is specified in the relevant Final 
Terms, the Issuer may redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes at 
the Final Redemption Amount, together with interest accrued to the 
Issuer Maturity Par Call Redemption Date. See Condition 6(d)(iii) 
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(Redemption, Purchase and Options– Redemption at the option of 

the Issuer). 

If Transaction Trigger Call Option is specified in the relevant Final 
Terms, the Issuer may, upon giving a Transaction Trigger Notice, 
call the Notes for early redemption, in whole or in part, at the 
Transaction Trigger Redemption Amount together with interest 
accrued to the Trigger Call Redemption Date. See Condition 
6(d)(iv) (Redemption, Purchase and Options– Redemption at the 

option of the Issuer). 

If a Change of Control Put Event is specified in the relevant Final 
Terms, following the occurrence of a Change of Control Put Event, 
the Noteholders will be entitled to require the Issuer to redeem or, at 
the Issuer’s option, procure the purchase of their Notes, subject to 
the further conditions and as more fully set out in Condition 6(f) 
(Redemption, Purchase and Options – Redemption at the Option of 

the Noteholders upon a Change of Control). 

Status of Notes: The Notes and the Guarantees will constitute unsubordinated and 
unsecured obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantors, respectively, 
all as described in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Status and 

Guarantees”. 

Negative Pledge: See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Negative Pledge”. 

Cross Default: See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Events of Default”. 

Ratings: The Programme is expected to be rated Baa1 by Moody’s. 

 Tranches of Notes will be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of 
Notes is to be rated, such rating will be specified in the relevant 

Final Terms. 

A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and 
may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time 

by the assigning rating agency. 

Early Redemption: Except as provided in “– Optional Redemption” above, Notes will 
be redeemable at the option of the Issuer prior to maturity only for 
tax reasons. See “Condition 6(c) (Redemption, Purchase and 

Options – Redemption for Taxation Reasons)”. 

Withholding Tax: All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes will be 
made free and clear of withholding taxes of a Relevant Jurisdiction, 
as the case may be, unless the withholding is required by law. In 
such event, the Issuer or the Guarantors shall, subject to certain 
exceptions described in this Prospectus, pay such additional 
amounts as shall result in receipt by the Noteholder of such amounts 
as would have been received by it had no such withholding been 

required.  

Governing Law: Dutch. 

Listing and Admission to Trading: Application has been made to list Notes issued under the 
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Programme and to admit them to trading on Euronext Amsterdam or 
as otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, and references to 
listing shall be construed accordingly. As specified in the relevant 

Final Terms, a Series of Notes may be unlisted. 

Selling Restrictions: The United States, the United Kingdom, The Netherlands, Finland, 
Japan. See “Subscription and Sale”. 

 The Issuer and each of the Guarantors is Category 2 for the 
purposes of Regulation S under the Securities Act, as amended. 

 If the relevant Final Terms specify that the applicable TEFRA 
exemption is “TEFRA D”, then the Bearer Notes will be issued in 
compliance with U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (or any 
successor rules in substantially the same form that are applicable for 
purposes of Section 4701 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, as amended (the “Code”)) (the “D Rules”) unless (i) the 
relevant Final Terms specify that the applicable TEFRA exemption 
is “TEFRA C”, then the Bearer Notes are issued in compliance with 
U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) (or any successor rules in 
substantially the same form that are applicable for purposes of 
Section 4701 of the Code) (the “C” Rules) or (ii) if the relevant 
Final Terms specify “TEFRA not applicable”, then the Notes are 
issued other than in compliance with the D Rules or the C Rules but 
in circumstances in which the Notes will not constitute “registration 
required obligations” under the United States Tax Equity and Fiscal 

Responsibility Act of 1982 (“TEFRA”). 

 



 

 

 34  

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

This Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with:  

(i) the audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the financial years ended 31 December 
2015 and 31 December 2016 prepared in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, 
respectively, together in each case with the auditor’s report thereon; 

(ii)  the chapter entitled ‘APM’s’ included on page 134-136 of the Issuer’s annual report 2016; 

(iii)  the audited annual financial statements of Itäkeskus Holding Oy for the financial years ended 
31 December 2015 and 31 December 2016 prepared in accordance with Finnish Accounting Act and 

Ordinance, respectively, together in each case with the auditor’s report thereon;  

(iv) an English translation of the documents listed in (iii) above (in relation to the 2015 accounts only);  

(v) the audited annual financial statements of Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus Oy for the financial years ended 
31 December 2015 and 31 December 2016 prepared in accordance with Finnish Accounting Act and 

Ordinance, respectively, together in each case with the auditor’s report thereon; and 

(vi) an English translation of the documents listed in (v) above (in relation to the 2015 accounts only). 

which have been previously published or are published simultaneously with this Prospectus and which have 

been filed with the AFM. Such documents shall be incorporated in and form part of this Prospectus.  

Copies of the documents specified above as containing information incorporated by reference in this 
Prospectus may be inspected, free of charge, at the registered office of the Issuer at Schiphol Boulevard 223, 
WTC Schiphol, Tower A, 3rd floor, 1118 BH Schiphol, the Netherlands, contact person: Mr J. Piket and R. 
Beentjes, or at www.wereldhave.com. Any information contained in any of the documents specified above 
which is not incorporated by reference in this Prospectus is either not relevant to investors or is covered 

elsewhere in this Prospectus.  

No websites that are cited or referred to in this Prospectus shall be deemed to form part of, or to be 

incorporated by reference into, this Prospectus.  

Any statement contained in a document which is incorporated by reference herein shall be modified or 
superseded for the purpose of this Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein modifies or 
supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so 

modified or superseded shall not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Prospectus.  

The tables below set out the relevant page references for the audited consolidated statements for the financial 
years ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2016, respectively, as set out in the Issuer’s and each 

Finnish Guarantor’s annual reports.  

Issuer 

The following information may be obtained (without charge) (i) at the registered office of the Issuer and (ii) 
in electronic format through the Issuer’s website at www.wereldhave.com.  
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Audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer for the financial year ended 31 
December 2015 

Wereldhave N.V. Annual Report 2015 

Consolidated income Statement .....................................................................................................................Page 83  

Consolidated balance Sheet............................................................................................................................Page 82 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income  .........................................................................................Page 84 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity ................................................................................................Page 85 

Consolidated cash flow Statement ................................................................................................ Page 86 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements ................................................................................................Page 87-
149 

Auditor’s Report ................................................................................................................................Page 162-
173 

 

Audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer for the financial year ended 31 
December 2016 

Wereldhave N.V. Annual Report 2016 

Consolidated income statement ......................................................................................................................Page 141  

Consolidated statement of financial position ................................................................................................Page 140 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income  .........................................................................................Page 142 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity ................................................................................................Page 143 

Consolidated cash flow statement ................................................................................................Page 144 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements ................................................................................................Page 145-
194 

Auditor’s Report ................................................................................................................................Page 205-
211 

 

Audited annual financial statements of Itäkeskus Holding Oy for the financial year ended 31 December 
2015 

Itäkeskus Holding Oy Annual Accounts and Auditor’s Report 2015 

   Finnish original   English translation 
 

Income Statement      Page 3   Page 3 

Balance Sheet      Page 4-5   Page 4-5 

Cash flow Statement      Page 6   Page 6 

Notes       Page 7-9   Page 7-9 

Auditor’s Report        
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Audited annual financial statements of Itäkeskus Holding Oy for the financial year ended 31 December 
2016 

Itäkeskus Holding Oy Annual Accounts and Auditor’s Report 2016 
(bilingual Finnish / English) 

 

        Finnish pages English pages 

Income Statement      Page 3   Page 4 

Balance Sheet      Page 5   Page 6 

Cash flow Statement      Page 7   Page 8 

Notes       Page 9, 11-12  Page 10, 13-14 

Auditor’s Report          

 

Audited financial statements and Auditor’s Report of Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus Oy for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2015 

Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus Oy Annual Accounts and Auditor’s Report 2015 
       Finnish original   English translation 

 

Income Statement      Page 3   Page 3 

Balance Sheet      Page 4-5   Page 4-5 

Cash flow Statement      Page 6   Page 6 

Notes       Page 7-11  Page 7-10 

Auditor’s Report        

 

Audited financial statements and Auditor’s Report of Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus Oy for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2016 

Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus Oy Annual Accounts and Auditor’s Report 2016 
(bilingual Finnish / English) 

 

        Finnish pages English pages 

Income Statement      Page 3   Page 4 

Balance Sheet      Page 5   Page 6 

Cash flow Statement      Page 7   Page 8 

Notes       Page 9, 11-13  Page 10, 14-16 

Auditor’s Report         
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ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

The Group judges and explains its performance using certain alternative performance measures. These 
alternative performance measures are not defined under IFRS, but they are consistent with how the real estate 
sector measures financial performance. For a listing of the alternative performance measures that Wereldhave 
considers to constitute Alternative Performance Measures as defined in the European Securities and Markets 
Authority Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures, their components as well as their basis of 

calculation, see page 134-136 of the Issuer’s annual report 2016 incorporated by reference herein. 
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SUPPLEMENTARY PROSPECTUS  

If at any time the Issuer shall be required to prepare a supplementary prospectus pursuant to Section 5:23 of 
the Wft, the Issuer will prepare and make available an appropriate amendment or supplement to this 
Prospectus which, in respect of any subsequent issue of Notes to be listed and admitted to trading on Euronext 
Amsterdam, shall constitute a supplementary prospectus as required by Section 5:23 of the Wft. 

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantors has given an undertaking to the Dealers that if at any time during the 
duration of the Programme there is a significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to 
information contained in this Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of any Notes and whose 
inclusion in or removal from this Prospectus is necessary for the purpose of allowing an investor to make an 
informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profits and losses and prospects of the 
Issuer and the Guarantors, and the rights attaching to the Notes, the Issuer shall prepare an amendment or 
supplement to this Prospectus or publish a replacement Prospectus for use in connection with any subsequent 
offering of the Notes and shall supply to each Dealer such number of copies of such supplement hereto as 

such Dealer may reasonably request. 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES 

The following is the text of the terms and conditions that, subject to completion and amendment and as 

supplemented or varied in accordance with the provisions of Part A of the relevant Final Terms, shall be 

applicable to the Notes in definitive form (if any) issued in exchange for the Global Note(s) representing each 
Series. Either (i) the full text of these terms and conditions together with the relevant provisions of Part A of 

the Final Terms or (ii) these terms and conditions as so completed, amended, supplemented or varied (and 

subject to simplification by the deletion of non-applicable provisions), shall be endorsed on such Bearer 

Notes or on the Certificates relating to such Registered Notes. All capitalised terms that are not defined in 

these Conditions will have the meanings given to them in Part A of the relevant Final Terms. Those definitions 

will be endorsed on the definitive Notes or Certificates, as the case may be. References in the Conditions to 

“Notes” are to the Notes of one Series only, not to all Notes that may be issued under the Programme. 

The Notes are issued pursuant to an Agency Agreement (as amended or supplemented as at the Issue Date, the 
“Agency Agreement”) dated 2 May 2017 between Wereldhave N.V. (the “Issuer”), N.V. Wereldhave 
International (“N.V. Wereldhave International”), Wereldhave Nederland B.V. (“Wereldhave Nederland 
B.V.”, and together with N.V. Wereldhave International, the “Dutch Guarantors”), Itäkeskus Holding Oy 
(“ Itäkeskus Holding Oy”) and Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus Oy (“Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus Oy”, and together 
with Itäkeskus Holding Oy, the “Finnish Guarantors”, and the Finnish Guarantors together with the Dutch 
Guarantors, each a “Guarantor ” and together the “Guarantors” and the expression “Guarantors” shall 
include any Guarantee Entity which becomes a Guarantor pursuant to Condition 3(d) but shall not include any 
Guarantee Entity which has ceased to be a Guarantor pursuant to Condition 3(c)) as guarantors, BNP Paribas 
Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch as fiscal agent and the other agents named in it and the Guarantee 
Agreement (as amended or supplemented as at the Issue Date, the “Guarantee Agreement”) dated 2 May 
2017 executed by each of the Guarantors in relation to the Notes. The fiscal agent, the paying agents, the 
registrar, the transfer agents and the calculation agent(s) for the time being (if any) are referred to below 
respectively as the “Fiscal Agent”, the “Paying Agents” (which expression shall include the Fiscal Agent), 
the “Registrar”, the “Transfer Agents” and the “Calculation Agent(s)”. The Noteholders (as defined 
below), the holders of the interest coupons (the “Coupons”) relating to interest bearing Notes in bearer form 
and, where applicable in the case of such Notes, talons for further Coupons (the “Talons”) (the 
“Couponholders”) and the holders of the receipts for the payment of instalments of principal (the 
“Receipts”) relating to Notes in bearer form of which the principal is payable in instalments are deemed to 

have notice of all of the provisions of the Agency Agreement applicable to them. 

As used in these terms and conditions (the “Conditions”), “ Tranche” means Notes which are identical in 

all respects. 

Copies of the Agency Agreement and the Guarantee Agreement are available for inspection at the specified 

offices of each of the Paying Agents, the Registrar and the Transfer Agents. 

1 Form, Denomination, Title  

The Notes are issued in bearer form (“Bearer Notes”) or in registered form (“Registered Notes”) in each 

case in the Specified Denomination(s) shown hereon. 

This Note is a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note, an Instalment Note or a Partly 
Paid Note, a combination of any of the foregoing, depending upon the Interest and Redemption/Payment 

Basis shown hereon. 

 



 

 

 40  

Bearer Notes are serially numbered and are issued with Coupons (and, where appropriate, a Talon) attached, 
save in the case of Zero Coupon Notes in which case references to interest (other than in relation to interest 
due after the Maturity Date), Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are not applicable. Instalment Notes are 

issued with one or more Receipts attached. 

Registered Notes are represented by registered certificates (“Certificates”) and, save as provided in Condition 

2(c), each Certificate shall represent the entire holding of Registered Notes by the same holder. 

Title to the Bearer Notes and the Receipts, Coupons and Talons shall pass by delivery. Title to the Registered 
Notes shall pass by registration in the register that the Issuer shall procure to be kept by the Registrar in 
accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement (the “Register”). Except as ordered by a court of 
competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of any Note, Receipt, Coupon or 
Talon shall be deemed to be and may be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes, whether or not it is 
overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or an interest in it, any writing on it (or on the 
Certificate representing it) or its theft or loss (or that of the related Certificate) and no person shall be liable 

for so treating the holder. 

In these Conditions, “Noteholder” means the bearer of any Bearer Note and the Receipts relating to it or the 
person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may be), “holder” (in relation to a Note, 
Receipt, Coupon or Talon) means the bearer of any Bearer Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon or the person in 
whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may be) and capitalised terms have the meanings 
given to them hereon, the absence of any such meaning indicating that such term is not applicable to 

the Notes. 

2 No Exchange of Notes and Transfers of Registered Notes 

(a) No Exchange of Notes: Registered Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes. Bearer Notes of one 
Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes of another Specified Denomination. Bearer 

Notes may not be exchanged for Registered Notes. 

(b) Transfer of Registered Notes: One or more Registered Notes may be transferred upon the surrender (at the 
specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent) of the Certificate representing such Registered Notes 
to be transferred, together with the form of transfer endorsed on such Certificate, (or another form of transfer 
substantially in the same form and containing the same representations and certifications (if any), unless 
otherwise agreed by the Issuer), duly completed and executed and any other evidence as the Registrar or 
Transfer Agent may reasonably require. In the case of a transfer of part only of a holding of Registered Notes 
represented by one Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the transferee in respect of the part 
transferred and a further new Certificate in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred shall be 
issued to the transferor. All transfers of Notes and entries on the Register will be made subject to the detailed 
regulations concerning transfers of Notes scheduled to the Agency Agreement. The regulations may be 
changed by the Issuer, with the prior written approval of the Registrar and the Noteholders. A copy of the 

current regulations will be made available by the Registrar to any Noteholder upon request. 

(c) Exercise of Options or Partial Redemption in Respect of Registered Notes: In the case of an exercise of 
an Issuer’s or Noteholders’ option in respect of, or a partial redemption of, a holding of Registered Notes 
represented by a single Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the holder to reflect the exercise of 
such option or in respect of the balance of the holding not redeemed. In the case of a partial exercise of an 
option resulting in Registered Notes of the same holding having different terms, separate Certificates shall be 
issued in respect of those Notes of that holding that have the same terms. New Certificates shall only be 
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issued against surrender of the existing Certificates to the Registrar or any Transfer Agent. In the case of a 
transfer of Registered Notes to a person who is already a holder of Registered Notes, a new Certificate 
representing the enlarged holding shall only be issued against surrender of the Certificate representing the 

existing holding. 

(d) Delivery of New Certificates: Each new Certificate to be issued pursuant to Conditions 2 (b) or (c) shall be 
available for delivery within three business days of receipt of the form of transfer, Exercise Notice (as defined 
in Condition 6(e)) or Change of Control Put Notice (as defined in Condition 6(f)) and surrender of the 
Certificate for exchange. Delivery of the new Certificate(s) shall be made at the specified office of the 
Transfer Agent or of the Registrar (as the case may be) to whom delivery or surrender of such form of 
transfer, Exercise Notice, Change of Control Put Notice or Certificate shall have been made or, at the option 
of the holder making such delivery or surrender as aforesaid and as specified in the form of transfer, Exercise 
Notice, Change of Control Put Notice or otherwise in writing, be mailed by uninsured post at the risk of the 
holder entitled to the new Certificate to such address as may be so specified, unless such holder requests 
otherwise and pays in advance to the relevant Agent (as defined in the Agency Agreement) the costs of such 
other method of delivery and/or such insurance as it may specify. In this Condition 2(d), “business day” 
means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for business in the place of the 

specified office of the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar (as the case may be). 

(e) Transfer Free of Charge: Transfers of Notes and Certificates on registration, transfer, partial redemption or 
exercise of an option shall be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Registrar or the 
Transfer Agents, but upon payment of any tax or other governmental charges that may be imposed in relation 

to it (or the giving of such indemnity as the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent may require). 

(f) Closed Periods: No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Registered Note to be registered (i) during the 
period of 15 days ending on the due date for redemption of, or payment of any Instalment Amount in respect 
of, that Note, (ii) during the period of 15 days before any date on which Notes may be called for redemption 
by the Issuer at its option pursuant to Condition 6(d), (iii) after any such Note has been called for redemption 

or (iv) during the period of seven days ending on (and including) any Record Date.  

3 Guarantees and Status 

(a) Guarantees: Each of the Guarantors has unconditionally and irrevocably and jointly and severally 
guaranteed (subject to the provisions of Condition 3(c) below) the due payment of all sums expressed to be 
payable by the Issuer under the Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons. Each of their obligations in that respect 

(each a “Guarantee”, and together, the “Guarantees”) are contained in the Guarantee Agreement. 

(b) Status of Notes and Guarantees: The Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons constitute (subject to 
Condition 4) unsecured obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu and without any 
preference among themselves. The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Notes, the Receipts and the 
Coupons and of the Guarantors under the Guarantees shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by 
applicable legislation and subject to Condition 4, at all times rank at least equally with all other unsecured 
and unsubordinated indebtedness and monetary obligations of the Issuer and each of the Guarantors, present 

and future. 

(c) Release of a Guarantor: The Issuer may, by written notice to the Fiscal Agent at its specified office signed 
by a managing director of the Issuer, request that a Guarantor cease to be a Guarantor subject to the condition 
that the Issuer is able to give the certifications specified below. Upon the Fiscal Agent’s receipt of such 
notice, such Guarantor shall automatically and irrevocably be released and relieved of any obligation under 
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its Guarantee (without prejudice to any obligations which may have accrued in relation to that Guarantor 

prior to that time). Such notice must contain the following certifications: 

(i) no Event of Default is continuing or will result from the release of that Guarantor; 

(ii)  no part of the Financial Indebtedness (as defined in Condition 4(b)) in respect of which that Guarantor 

is or was providing a guarantee is at that time due and payable but unpaid; and 

(iii)  such Guarantor is not (or will cease to be simultaneously with such release) providing a guarantee in 

respect of any Financial Indebtedness of the Issuer (other than the Notes). 

If a Guarantor provides a guarantee in respect of any other Financial Indebtedness of the Issuer, at any time 
subsequent to the date on which it is released from the Guarantee as described above, such Guarantor will be 

required to provide a guarantee as described in Condition 3(d). 

(d) Additional Guarantors : If at any time after the Issue Date, any Subsidiary provides or at the time it becomes 
a Subsidiary is providing a guarantee in respect of any Financial Indebtedness of the Issuer (a “Guarantee 
Entity ”), the Issuer covenants that it shall procure that such Guarantee Entity shall at or prior to the date of 
the giving of such guarantee or at the time it so becomes a Subsidiary and is providing such a guarantee 
execute and deliver a supplemental guarantee agreement, pursuant to which such Guarantee Entity shall 
guarantee the obligations of the Issuer in respect of the Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons on terms mutatis 
mutandis as the Guarantees including, but not limited to, such guarantee being joint and several. Each other 
Guarantor has in the Guarantee Agreement confirmed that it has consented to any such entity becoming a 

Guarantor as aforesaid without any need for it to execute any supplemental guarantee agreement. 

(e) Notice of change of Guarantors: Notice of any release of a Guarantor or addition of a Guarantor pursuant to 
this Condition will be given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14, no later than 14 days after 

such release or addition.  

4 Covenants 

(a) Negative Pledge 

So long as any Note or Coupon remains outstanding (as defined in the Fiscal Agency Agreement) neither the 
Issuer nor any Guarantor shall, and the Issuer shall procure that no other Subsidiary of it shall, create, or have 
outstanding any mortgage, charge, lien, pledge or other security interest, upon the whole or any part of its 
present or future undertaking, assets or revenues (including any uncalled capital) to secure any Relevant 
Indebtedness or to secure any guarantee or indemnity in respect of any Relevant Indebtedness without at the 
same time or prior thereto according to the Notes and the Coupons the same security as is created or 
subsisting to secure any such Relevant Indebtedness, guarantee or indemnity or such other security as shall be 
approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Fiscal Agency Agreement) of the Noteholders.  

In these Conditions: 

(i) “Relevant Indebtedness” means any indebtedness which is in the form of, or represented or evidenced 
by, bonds, notes, debentures, loan stock or other securities which for the time being are, or are intended 
to be, quoted, listed or dealt in or traded on any stock exchange or over-the-counter or other securities 

market; and  

(ii)  “Subsidiary” means any entity whose financial statements at any time are required by law or in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles to be fully consolidated with those of 

the Issuer. 
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(b) Financial Covenants 

So long as any Note or Coupon remains outstanding, the Issuer shall ensure that the financial condition of the 

Group shall be such that: 

(i) the Loan to Value Ratio shall not exceed 0.60; 

(ii)  the Solvency Ratio shall not be less than 0.40; and 

(iii)  the Interest Cover Ratio is at least 2.0. 

In these Conditions, the following terms have the following meanings:  

“Consolidated Interest Charges” means, in respect of a Relevant Period, all interest costs (whether paid or 
added to principal) incurred by the Group during that period calculated on a consolidated basis. 

“Consolidated Interest Receivable” means, in respect of a Relevant Period, all interest received by the 
Group during that period calculated on a consolidated basis. 

“Consolidated Net Interest Charges” means, in respect of a Relevant Period, Consolidated Interest Charges 

less Consolidated Interest Receivable. 

“Financial Indebtedness”  means any indebtedness for or in respect of: 

(i) moneys borrowed; 

(ii)  any acceptance under any acceptance credit facility (including any dematerialised equivalent); 

(iii)  any note purchase facility or the issue of bonds, notes, debentures, loan stock or any similar instrument; 

(iv) any redeemable preference share; 

(v) any lease, hire purchase contract or other agreement which would, in accordance with GAAP (as 

applied under the Original Financial Statements), be treated as a finance or capital lease; 

(vi) receivables sold or discounted (other than any receivables to the extent they are sold on a non-

recourse basis); 

(vii)  any derivative transaction entered into in connection with protection against or benefit from fluctuation 
in any rate or price (and, when calculating the value of any derivative transaction, only the marked to 
market value will be taken into account); 

(viii)  any counter-indemnity obligation in respect of a guarantee, indemnity, bond, standby or documentary 

letter of credit or any other instrument issued by a bank or financial institution; 

(ix) any other transaction (including any forward sale or purchase agreement) having the commercial effect 

of a borrowing; or 

(x) any guarantee, indemnity or similar assurance against financial loss of any person in respect of any item 

referred to in paragraphs (i) to (ix) above. 

“GAAP”  means generally accepted accounting principles in the Netherlands, including IFRS. 

“Group” means the Issuer and any of its Subsidiaries. 

“ IFRS” means international accounting standards within the meaning of the IAS Regulation 1606/2002 to the 

extent applicable to the relevant financial statements.  
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“ Interest Cover Ratio” means, in relation to the Group and in respect of any Relevant Period, the ratio of: 

(a) “Net Rental Income”; 

to 

(b) the aggregate of Consolidated Net Interest Charges. 

“ Investment Obligations” means financial liabilities in respect of any Relevant Period related to 
“Development Properties”. 

“Loan to Value Ratio” means, in relation to the Group and in respect of any Relevant Period, the ratio of: 

(a) Financial Indebtedness (less any Financial Indebtedness in respect of which a Security Interest has been 
created or subsists and less any Financial Indebtedness arising under paragraph (vii) of the definition of 

Financial Indebtedness); 

to 

(b) the aggregate book value of all interests of each member of the Group in Property Investments less 
Investment Obligations (other than Property Investments less Investment Obligations in respect of 

which a Security Interest has been created or subsists). 

“Property Investments” means any present or future “Investment Properties” and “Development Properties” 

in which any member of the Group has an interest. 

“Relevant Period” means each period of twelve months ending on the last day of the Issuer’s financial year 

and each period of twelve months ending on the last day of the first half of the Issuer’s financial year. 

“Security Interest” means a mortgage, charge, pledge, lien, assignment by way of security, hypothecation or 
other security interest securing any obligation of any person or any other agreement or arrangement having a 

similar effect. 

“Solvency Ratio” means, in relation to the Group and in respect of any Relevant Period, the ratio of: 

(a) “Shareholders Equity” (less “Intangible Assets” (if any)) and “Provision for Deferred Tax Liabilities”;  

to 

(b) “Balance Sheet Total” (less “Intangible Assets”). 

“Original Financial Statements” means the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the 

financial year ended 31 December 2016. 

(c) Financial Testing 

The financial covenants set out in Condition 4(b) shall be tested by reference to each set of financial 

statements published pursuant to Condition 4(e).  

(d) Accounting Terms 

(i) Reference in these Conditions to capitalised and other accounting terms which are not defined in these 
Conditions shall be construed as references to items falling within headings using such terms in the 
Issuer’s most recent consolidated annual or, as the case may be, semi-annual financial statements 
(including any notes in those statements) required to be published pursuant to Condition 4(e) or, in any 
such case, within such other headings in those statements reasonably considered by the Issuer to be 
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appropriate for the purposes of this Condition 4 and Condition 10 if in any such case any item is posted 

to a heading which is different from that to which it was posted in the Original Financial Statements. 

(ii)  Any amount in a currency other than euro is to be taken into account at its euro equivalent calculated on 
the basis of the relevant rates of exchange used by the Issuer in, or in connection with, its financial 

statements for the Relevant Period.  

(iii)  No item must be credited or deducted more than once in any calculation for the purposes of Condition 

4(b). 

(e) Financial statements 

So long as any Note or Coupon remains outstanding, the Issuer shall publish on its website: 

(i) as soon as the same become available, but in any event within 120 days after the end of each of its 

financial years, its audited consolidated financial statements for that financial year; and 

(ii)  as soon as the same become available, but in any event within 60 days after the end of the first half of 

each of its financial years, its condensed consolidated financial statements for that financial half year.  

5 Interest and other Calculations 

(a) Interest on Fixed Rate Notes: Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from 
and including the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the 
Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date. The amount of interest 

payable shall be determined in accordance with Condition 5(h). 

(b) Interest on Floating Rate Notes: 

(i) Interest Payment Dates: Each Floating Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from 
and including the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal 
to the Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date. The amount 
of interest payable shall be determined in accordance with Condition 5(h). Such Interest Payment 
Date(s) is/are either shown hereon as Specified Interest Payment Dates or, if no Specified Interest 
Payment Date(s) is/are shown hereon, Interest Payment Date shall mean each date which falls the 
number of months or other period shown hereon as the Interest Period after the preceding Interest 

Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date. 

(ii)  Business Day Convention: If any date referred to in these Conditions that is specified to be subject to 
adjustment in accordance with a Business Day Convention would otherwise fall on a day that is not a 
Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is (A) the Floating Rate Business Day 
Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby 
fall into the next calendar month, in which event (x) such date shall be brought forward to the 
immediately preceding Business Day and (y) each subsequent such date shall be the last Business Day 
of the month in which such date would have fallen had it not been subject to adjustment, (B) the 
Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business 
Day, (C) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next 
day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event 
such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day or (D) the Preceding 
Business Day Convention, such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business 

Day.  
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(iii)  Rate of Interest for Floating Rate Notes: The Rate of Interest in respect of Floating Rate Notes for each 
Interest Accrual Period shall be determined in the manner specified hereon and the provisions below 
relating to either ISDA Determination or Screen Rate Determination shall apply, depending upon which 

is specified hereon. 

(A) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes 

Where ISDA Determination is specified hereon as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to 
be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period shall be determined by the 
Calculation Agent as a rate equal to the relevant ISDA Rate. For the purposes of this sub-
paragraph (A), “ISDA Rate” for an Interest Accrual Period means a rate equal to the Floating 
Rate that would be determined by the Calculation Agent under a Swap Transaction under the 

terms of an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which: 

(x) the Floating Rate Option is as specified hereon 

(y) the Designated Maturity is a period specified hereon and 

(z) the relevant Reset Date is the first day of that Interest Accrual Period unless otherwise 

specified hereon. 

For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), “Floating Rate”, “ Calculation Agent”, “ Floating 
Rate Option”, “ Designated Maturity”, “ Reset Date” and “Swap Transaction” have the 
meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions. 

(B) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes 

Where Screen Rate Determination is specified hereon as the manner in which the Rate of Interest 
is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period will, subject as provided 
below:  

I.  where Reference Rate is specified hereon as being LIBOR, EURIBOR or NIBOR, be 

either:  

(x)  

(1) the offered quotation; or 

(2) the arithmetic mean of the offered quotations, 

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate which appears 
or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page as at either 11.00 a.m. 
London time in the case of LIBOR, 11.00 a.m. Brussels time in the case of 
EURIBOR or 12 noon Oslo time in the case of NIBOR on the Interest 
Determination Date in question as determined by the Calculation Agent. If five or 
more of such offered quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the 
highest (or, if there is more than one such highest quotation, one only of such 
quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest quotation, 
one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the Calculation Agent for 

the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations. 

(y) if the Relevant Screen Page is not available or, if sub-paragraph (I)(x)(1) applies 
and no such offered quotation appears on the Relevant Screen Page, or, if sub-
paragraph (I)(x)(2) applies and fewer than three such offered quotations appear 
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on the Relevant Screen Page, in each case as at the time specified above, subject 
as provided below, the Calculation Agent shall request, if the Reference Rate is 
LIBOR, the principal London office of each of the Reference Banks or, if the 
Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of each of the 
Reference Banks or, if the Reference Rate is NIBOR the principal Oslo office of 
each of the Reference Banks, to provide the Calculation Agent with its offered 
quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate if 
the Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time), or if 
the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time), or 
if the Reference Rate is NIBOR, at approximately 12.00 noon (Oslo time) on the 
Interest Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks 
provide the Calculation Agent with such offered quotations, the Rate of Interest 
for such Interest Accrual Period shall be the arithmetic mean of such offered 

quotations as determined by the Calculation Agent; and 

(z) if paragraph (y) above applies and the Calculation Agent determines that fewer 
than two Reference Banks are providing offered quotations, subject as provided 
below, the Rate of Interest shall be the arithmetic mean of the rates per annum 
(expressed as a percentage) as communicated to (and at the request of) the 
Calculation Agent by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which 
such banks were offered, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 
a.m. (London time) or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 
11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) or, if the Reference Rate is NIBOR, at approximately 
12 noon (Oslo time) on the relevant Interest Determination Date, deposits in the 
Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the 
Reference Rate by leading banks in, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the London 
inter-bank market or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-
bank market or, if the Reference Rate is NIBOR, the Oslo inter-bank market, as 
the case may be, or, if fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the 
Calculation Agent with such offered rates, the offered rate for deposits in the 
Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the 
Reference Rate, or the arithmetic mean of the offered rates for deposits in the 
Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the 
Reference Rate, at which, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 
11.00 a.m. (London time) or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at 
approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) or, if the Reference Rate is NIBOR, at 
approximately 12 noon (Oslo time), on the relevant Interest Determination Date, 
any one or more banks (which bank or banks is or are in the opinion of the Issuer 
suitable for such purpose) informs the Calculation Agent it is quoting to leading 
banks in, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the London inter-bank market or, if the 
Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market or, if the 
Reference Rate is NIBOR, the Oslo inter-bank market, as the case may be, 
provided that, if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the 
foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the Rate of Interest shall be determined as 
at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a 
different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the 
relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding 
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Interest Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest 
relating to the relevant Interest Accrual Period, in place of the Margin or 
Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest 

Accrual Period). 

II.  where Reference Rate is specified hereon as being the “Canadian Dollar Bankers’ 
Acceptance Rate”, be the average bid rate for bankers’ acceptances in Canadian dollars 
for the relevant Interest Accrual Period which appears on the Reuters Screen CDOR Page 
(being the Relevant Screen Page) as of 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on the Interest 

Determination Date in question, all as determined by the Calculation Agent. 

If the Canadian Dollar Bankers’ Acceptance Rate does not appear on Reuters Screen 
CDOR Page or the Reuters Screen CDOR Page is not available, the Calculation Agent 
shall request the principal Toronto office of each of four Schedule I Canadian chartered 
banks to provide the Calculation Agent with its bid rate of interest (expressed as a 
percentage rate per annum) for bankers’ acceptances in Canadian dollars, in an amount 
approximately equal to the aggregate nominal amount of the Notes, for the relevant 
Interest Accrual Period accepted by such banks as at approximately 10:00 a.m. (Toronto 
time) on the Interest Determination Date. If two or more of such banks provide the 
Calculation Agent with such bid rates of interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest 
Accrual Period shall be the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal 
place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of such offered quotations, all as 
determined by the Calculation Agent. If fewer than two such banks provide the 
Calculation Agent with their respective bid rates of interest, the Reference Rate for such 
Interest Determination Date shall be the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth 
decimal place, with 0.00005 being rounded upwards) of the bid rates quoted by major 
banks in Toronto, selected by the Calculation Agent, for bankers’ acceptance in Canadian 
dollars, in an amount approximately equal to the aggregate nominal amount of the Notes, 
for the relevant Interest Accrual Period accepted by such banks as at approximately 10:00 
a.m. (Toronto time) on the Interest Determination Date, for the relevant Interest Accrual 
Period for settlement on such Interest Determination Date, all as determined by the 
Calculation Agent, provided that, if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in 
accordance with the foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the Rate of Interest shall be 
determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, 
where a different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the 
relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest 
Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the 
relevant Interest Accrual Period in place of the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of 
Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period). 

If the Reference Rate from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes is  
specified hereon as being other than LIBOR, EURIBOR, NIBOR or Canadian Dollar 
Bankers’ Acceptance Rate, the Rate of Interest in respect of such Notes will be 
determined as provided hereon. 
 

(C) Linear Interpolation 

Where Linear Interpolation is specified hereon as applicable in respect of an Interest 
Accrual Period, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Accrual Period shall be calculated by 
the Calculation Agent by straight line linear interpolation by reference to two rates based 
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on the relevant Reference Rate (where Screen Rate Determination is specified hereon as 
applicable) or the relevant Floating Rate Option (where ISDA Determination is specified 
hereon as applicable), one of which shall be determined as if the Applicable Maturity 
were the period of time for which rates are available next shorter than the length of the 
relevant Interest Accrual Period and the other of which shall be determined as if the 
Applicable Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next longer than 
the length of the relevant Interest Accrual Period provided however that if there is no rate 
available for the period of time next shorter or, as the case may be, next longer, then the 
Calculation Agent shall determine such rate at such time and by reference to such sources 

as it determines appropriate. 

“Applicable Maturity ” means: (a) in relation to Screen Rate Determination, the period of 
time designated in the Reference Rate, and (b) in relation to ISDA Determination, the 

Designated Maturity.  

(c) Zero Coupon Notes: Where a Note the Interest Basis of which is specified to be Zero Coupon is repayable 
prior to the Maturity Date and is not paid when due, the amount due and payable prior to the Maturity Date 
shall be the Early Redemption Amount of such Note. As from the Maturity Date, the Rate of Interest for any 
overdue principal of such a Note shall be a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the 

Amortisation Yield (as described in Condition 6(b)(i)). 

(d) Partly Paid Notes: In the case of Partly Paid Notes (other than Partly Paid Notes which are Zero Coupon 
Notes), interest will accrue as aforesaid on the paid-up nominal amount of such Notes and otherwise as 

specified hereon. 

(e) Accrual of Interest: Interest shall cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless, upon 
due presentation, payment is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest shall continue to accrue 
(both before and after judgment) at the Rate of Interest in the manner provided in this Condition 5 to the 
Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8). 

(f) Margin, Maximum/Minimum Rates of Interest, Instalment Amounts and Redemption Amounts and 
Rounding: 

(i) If any Margin is specified hereon (either (x) generally, or (y) in relation to one or more Interest 
Accrual Periods), an adjustment shall be made to all Rates of Interest, in the case of (x), or the 
Rates of Interest for the specified Interest Accrual Periods, in the case of (y), calculated in 
accordance with (b) above by adding (if a positive number) or subtracting the absolute value (if a 

negative number) of such Margin subject always to the next paragraph. 

(ii)  If any Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest, Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount is 
specified hereon, then any Rate of Interest, Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount shall be 

subject to such maximum or minimum, as the case may be. 

(iii)  For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to these Conditions (unless otherwise 
specified), (x) all percentages resulting from such calculations shall be rounded, if necessary, to 
the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with 0.000005 of a percentage point 
being rounded up), (y) all figures shall be rounded to seven significant figures (provided that if the 
eighth significant figure is a 5 or greater, the seventh significant shall be rounded up) and (z) all 
currency amounts that fall due and payable shall be rounded to the nearest unit of such currency 
(with half a unit being rounded up), save in the case of yen, which shall be rounded down to the 



 

 

 50  

nearest yen. For these purposes “unit ” means the lowest amount of such currency that is available 

as legal tender in the countries of such currency. 

(g) Calculations: The amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of any Note for any Interest 
Accrual Period shall be equal to the product of the Rate of Interest, the  Calculation Amount specified hereon, 
and the Day Count Fraction for such Interest Accrual Period, unless an Interest Amount (or a formula for its 
calculation) is applicable to such Interest Accrual Period, in which case the amount of interest payable per 
Calculation Amount in respect of such Note for such Interest Accrual Period shall equal such Interest Amount 
(or be calculated in accordance with such formula). Where any Interest Period comprises two or more Interest 
Accrual Periods, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of such Interest Period 
shall be the sum of the Interest Amounts payable in respect of each of those Interest Accrual Periods. In 
respect of any other period for which interest is required to be calculated, the provisions above shall apply 

save that the Day Count Fraction shall be for the period for which interest is required to be calculated. 

(h) Determination and Publication of Rates of Interest, Interest Amounts, Final Redemption Amounts, 
Early Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption Amounts and Instalment Amounts: The Calculation 
Agent shall, as soon as practicable on such date as the Calculation Agent may be required to calculate any 
rate or amount, obtain any quotation or make any determination or calculation, determine such rate and 
calculate the Interest Amounts for the relevant Interest Accrual Period, calculate the Final Redemption 
Amount, Early Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption Amount or Instalment Amount, obtain such 
quotation or make such determination or calculation, as the case may be, and cause the Rate of Interest and 
the Interest Amounts for each Interest Accrual Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date and, if required 
to be calculated, the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption Amount or 
any Instalment Amount to be notified to the Fiscal Agent, the Issuer, each of the Paying Agents, the 
Noteholders, any other Calculation Agent appointed in respect of the Notes that is to make a further 
calculation upon receipt of such information and, if the Notes are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of 
such exchange or other relevant authority so require, such exchange or other relevant authority as soon as 
possible after their determination but in no event later than (i) the commencement of the relevant Interest 
Period, if determined prior to such time, in the case of notification to such exchange of a Rate of Interest and 
Interest Amount, or (ii) in all other cases, the fourth Business Day after such determination. Where any 
Interest Payment Date or Interest Period Date is subject to adjustment pursuant to Condition 5(b)(ii), the 
Interest Amounts and the Interest Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate 
alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or 
shortening of the Interest Period. If the Notes become due and payable under Condition 10, the accrued 
interest and the Rate of Interest payable in respect of the Notes shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as 
previously in accordance with this Condition but no publication of the Rate of Interest or the Interest Amount 
so calculated need be made. The determination of any rate or amount, the obtaining of each quotation and the 
making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation Agent(s) shall (in the absence of manifest 

error) be final and binding upon all parties. 

(i) Definitions: In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall 

have the meanings set out below: 

“Business Day” means: 

(i) in the case of a currency other than euro, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which 
commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the principal financial centre 

for such currency and/or 
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(ii)  in the case of euro, a day on which the TARGET System is operating (a “TARGET Business 
Day”) and/or 

(iii)  in the case of a currency and/or one or more Business Centres, a day (other than a Saturday or a 
Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in such 
currency in the Business Centre(s) or, if no currency is indicated, generally in each of the Business 

Centres 

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest on any Note for any 
period of time (from and including the first day of such period to but excluding the last) (whether or not 

constituting an Interest Period or an Interest Accrual Period, the “Calculation Period”): 

(i) if “ Actual/Actual ” or “Actual/Actual - ISDA” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in 
the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap 
year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a 
leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation 
Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365) 

(ii)  if “ Actual/365 (Fixed)” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period 

divided by 365 

(iii)  if “ Actual/365 (Sterling)” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period 

divided by 365 or, in the case of an Interest Payment Date falling in a leap year, 366 

(iv) if “ Actual/360” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided 

by 360 

(v) if “ 30/360”, “ 360/360” or “Bond Basis” is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation 

Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows: 

Day	Count	Fraction = 	
�360 × �Y� − Y��� + �30 × �M� −M��� + �D� − D��

360
 

where: 

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls; 

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day 

included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“M 1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation 

Period falls; 

“M 2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the 

last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such 

number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and 

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in 
the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D1 is greater than 29, in which 

case D2 will be 30. 

(vi) if “ 30E/360” or “Eurobond Basis” is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation 
Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows: 
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Day	Count	Fraction = 	
�360 × �Y� − Y��� + �30 × �M� −M��� + �D� − D��

360
 

where: 

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls; 

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day 

included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“M 1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation 

Period falls; 

“M 2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the 

last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such 

number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and 

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in 

the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30. 

(vii)  if “ 30E/360 (ISDA)” is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 

360, calculated on a formula basis as follows: 

Day	Count	Fraction = 	
�360 × �Y� − Y��� + �30 × �M� −M��� + �D� − D��

360
 

where: 

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls; 

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day 

included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“M 1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation 

Period falls; 

“M 2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the 

last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that 
day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; 

and 

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in 
the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date 

or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30. 

(viii)  if “ Actual/Actual-ICMA ” is specified hereon, 

(a) if the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during 
which it falls, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (x) 
the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination 

Periods normally ending in any year; and 
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(b) if the Calculation Period is longer than one Determination Period, the sum of: 

(x) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Determination 
Period in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the number of days in 
such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods 

normally ending in any year; and 

(y) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Determination 
Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination 

Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year 

where: 

(i) “Determination Period” means the period from and including a 
Determination Date in any year to but excluding the next Determination 

Date and 

(ii)  “Determination Date” means the date(s) specified as such hereon or, if 

none is so specified, the Interest Payment Date(s) 

“Euro-zone” means the region comprised of member states of the European Union that adopt the single 

currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended. 

“ Interest Accrual Period” means the period beginning on and including the Interest Commencement Date 
and ending on but excluding the first Interest Period Date and each successive period beginning on and 

including an Interest Period Date and ending on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Period Date. 

“ Interest Amount” means:  

(i) in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for that 
Interest Accrual Period and which, in the case of Fixed Rate Notes, and unless otherwise specified 
hereon, shall mean the Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount specified hereon as being payable on 
the Interest Payment Date ending the Interest Period of which such Interest Accrual Period forms part; 

and 

(ii)  in respect of any other period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for that period. 

“ Interest Commencement Date” means the Issue Date or such other date as may be specified hereon. 

“ Interest Determination Date” means, with respect to a Rate of Interest and Interest Accrual Period, the date 
specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, (i) the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the 
Specified Currency is Sterling or (ii) the day falling two Business Days in London for the Specified Currency 
prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is neither Sterling nor euro or 
(iii) the day falling two TARGET Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the 

Specified Currency is euro. 

“ Interest Period” means the period beginning on and including the Interest Commencement Date and ending 
on but excluding the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on and including an 
Interest Payment Date and ending on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date unless 

otherwise specified hereon. 

“ Interest Period Date” means each Interest Payment Date unless otherwise specified hereon. 
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“ ISDA Definitions” means the 2006 ISDA Definitions, as published by the International Swaps and 

Derivatives Association, Inc., unless otherwise specified hereon. 

“Rate of Interest” means the rate of interest payable from time to time in respect of this Note and that is 

either specified or calculated in accordance with the provisions hereon. 

“Reference Banks” means, in the case of a determination of LIBOR, the principal London office of four 
major banks in the London inter-bank market , in the case of a determination of EURIBOR, the principal 
Euro-zone office of four major banks in the Euro-zone inter-bank market and, in the case of a determination 
of NIBOR, the principal Oslo office of four major banks in the Oslo inter-bank market, in each case selected 

by the Calculation Agent or as specified hereon. 

“Reference Rate” means the rate specified as such hereon. 

“Relevant Screen Page” means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a particular information 
service as may be specified hereon (or any successor or replacement page, section, caption, column or other 

part of a particular information service). 

“Specified Currency” means the currency specified as such hereon or, if none is specified, the currency in 

which the Notes are denominated. 

“TARGET System” means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer 

(known as TARGET2) System which was launched on 19 November 2007 or any successor thereto. 

(j) Calculation Agent: The Issuer shall procure that there shall at all times be one or more Calculation Agents if 
provision is made for them hereon and for so long as any Note is outstanding (as defined in the Agency 
Agreement). Where more than one Calculation Agent is appointed in respect of the Notes, references in these 
Conditions to the Calculation Agent shall be construed as each Calculation Agent performing its respective 
duties under the Conditions. If the Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to act as such or if the 
Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Rate of Interest for an Interest Accrual Period or to calculate any 
Interest Amount, Instalment Amount, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional 
Redemption Amount, as the case may be, or to comply with any other requirement, the Issuer shall appoint a 
leading bank or financial institution engaged in the interbank market (or, if appropriate, money, swap or over-
the-counter index options market) that is most closely connected with the calculation or determination to be 
made by the Calculation Agent (acting through its principal London office or any other office actively 
involved in such market) to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent may not resign its duties without a 
successor having been appointed as aforesaid. 

6 Redemption, Purchase and Options 

(a) Redemption by Instalments and Final Redemption 

(i) Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided in this Condition 6, each Note that 
provides for Instalment Dates and Instalment Amounts shall be partially redeemed on each Instalment 
Date at the related Instalment Amount specified hereon. The outstanding nominal amount of each such 
Note shall be reduced by the Instalment Amount (or, if such Instalment Amount is calculated by 
reference to a proportion of the nominal amount of such Note, such proportion) for all purposes with 
effect from the related Instalment Date, unless payment of the Instalment Amount is improperly 
withheld or refused, in which case, such amount shall remain outstanding until the Relevant Date 

relating to such Instalment Amount. 
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(ii)  Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided below, each Note shall be finally 
redeemed on the Maturity Date specified hereon at its Final Redemption Amount (which, unless 
otherwise provided, is its nominal amount) or, in the case of a Note falling within paragraph (i) above, 

its final Instalment Amount. 

(b) Early Redemption 

(i) Zero Coupon Notes: 

(A) The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note, upon redemption of 
such Note pursuant to Condition 6(c), Condition 6(d), Condition 6(e) or Condition 6(f) or upon it 
becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10 shall be the Amortised Face Amount 

(calculated as provided below) of such Note unless otherwise specified hereon. 

(B) Subject to the provisions of sub-paragraph (C) below, the Amortised Face Amount of any such 
Note shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date 
discounted at a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield 
(which, if none is shown hereon, shall be such rate as would produce an Amortised Face Amount 
equal to the issue price of the Notes if they were discounted back to their issue price on the Issue 

Date) compounded annually. 

(C) If the Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any such Note upon its redemption 
pursuant to Condition 6(c), Condition 6(d), Condition 6(e) or Condition 6(f) or upon it becoming 
due and payable as provided in Condition 10 is not paid when due, the Early Redemption 
Amount due and payable in respect of such Note shall be the Amortised Face Amount of such 
Note as defined in sub-paragraph (B) above, except that such sub-paragraph shall have effect as 
though the date on which the Note becomes due and payable were the Relevant Date. The 
calculation of the Amortised Face Amount in accordance with this sub-paragraph shall continue 
to be made (both before and after judgment) until the Relevant Date, unless the Relevant Date 
falls on or after the Maturity Date, in which case the amount due and payable shall be the 
scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date together with any 

interest that may accrue in accordance with Condition 5(c). 

Where such calculation is to be made for a period of less than one year, it shall be made on the 

basis of the Day Count Fraction shown hereon. 

(ii)  Other Notes: The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Note (other than Notes described 
in (i) above), upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 6(c), Condition 6(d), Condition 6(e) 
or Condition 6(f) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10, shall be the Final 

Redemption Amount unless otherwise specified hereon. 

(c) Redemption for Taxation Reasons: The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not 
in part, on any Interest Payment Date (if this Note is a Floating Rate Note ) or, at any time, (if this Note is not 
a Floating Rate Note), on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Noteholders (which 
notice shall be irrevocable), at their Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(b) above) 
(together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption), if (i) the Issuer (or, if any of the Guarantees 
were called, a Guarantor) has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in 
Condition 8 as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of a Relevant Jurisdiction, 
or any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or 
amendment becomes effective on or after the date on which agreement is reached to issue the first Tranche of 
the Notes, and (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer (or the relevant Guarantor, as the case may 
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be) taking reasonable measures available to it, provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given 
earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer (or the relevant Guarantor, as the case may 
be) would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes (or a Guarantee, 
as the case may be) then due. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 
6(c), the Issuer shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent a certificate signed by a managing director of the Issuer (or 
the relevant Guarantor, as the case may be) stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and 
setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem 
have occurred, and an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect that the 
Issuer (or the relevant Guarantor, as the case may be) has or will become obliged to pay such additional 

amounts as a result of such change or amendment. 

In these Conditions, “Relevant Jurisdiction” means:  

(i) in respect of the Issuer and the Dutch Guarantors, the Netherlands or any political subdivision or any 

authority thereof or therein having power to tax;  

(ii)  in respect of the Finnish Guarantors, Finland or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or 

therein having power to tax; and  

(iii)  in respect of any and each other Guarantee Entity, the jurisdiction or any political subdivision or any 
authority thereof or therein having power to tax to which such Guarantee Entity is or becomes subject in 

respect of payments in respect of the Notes.  

(d) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer:  

(i) If Call Option is specified hereon, the Issuer may, on giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days’ 
irrevocable notice to the Noteholders (or such other notice period as may be specified hereon) redeem, 
all or, if so provided, some, of the Notes on any Optional Redemption Date. Any such redemption of 
Notes shall be at their Optional Redemption Amount specified hereon (which may be the Early 
Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(b) above)), together with interest accrued to the date 
fixed for redemption. Any such redemption or exercise must relate to Notes of a nominal amount at 
least equal to the Minimum Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified hereon and no greater than 

the Maximum Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified hereon. 

All Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed on the date specified in such 

notice in accordance with this Condition. 

In the case of a partial redemption the notice to Noteholders shall also contain the certificate numbers of 
the Bearer Notes, or in the case of Registered Notes shall specify the nominal amount of Registered 
Notes drawn and the holder(s) of such Registered Notes, to be redeemed, which shall have been drawn 
in such place and in such manner as may be fair and reasonable in the circumstances, taking account of 
prevailing market practices, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and stock exchange or other 

relevant authority requirements.  

(ii)  If Euro Make Whole Call Option is specified hereon, the Issuer may, on giving not less than 30 nor 
more than 60 days’ irrevocable notice (or such other notice period as may be specified hereon) to the 
Noteholders (which notice shall specify the date fixed for redemption (the “Euro Make Whole 
Optional Redemption Date”)), redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes at the Make Whole 

Redemption Price together with interest accrued to the Euro Make Whole Optional Redemption Date. 

Any notice of redemption given under Condition 6(c) will override any notice of redemption given 

(whether previously, on the same date or subsequently) under this Condition 6(d)(ii). 
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In this Condition:  

“Determination Agent” means a leading investment, merchant or commercial bank appointed by the 
Issuer for the purposes of calculating the Euro Make Whole Redemption Price, and notified to the 

Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14;  

“Make Whole Redemption Price” means, in respect of each Note, (a) the nominal amount of such 
Note or, if this is higher, (b) the sum of the then current values of the remaining scheduled payments of 
principal and interest discounted to the Euro Make Whole Optional Redemption Date on an annual basis 
(based on the Day Count Fraction specified hereon) at the Reference Dealer Rate (as defined below) 

plus any applicable Margin specified hereon, in each case as determined by the Determination Agent; 

“Reference Dealers” means five credit institutions or financial services institutions that regularly deal 
in bonds and other debt securities as selected by the Determination Agent after consultation with the 

Issuer; and 

“Reference Dealer Rate” means with respect to the Reference Dealers and the Euro Make Whole 
Optional Redemption Date, the average of the five quotations of the mid-market annual yield to 
maturity of the Reference Stock specified hereon at the Reference Stock Determination Time specified 
hereon or, if the Reference Stock is no longer outstanding, at the Reference Stock Determination Time, 
such other central bank or government security that, in the majority opinion of three Reference Dealers 
(i) has a maturity comparable to the remaining term of the Notes and (ii) would be utilised, at the time 
of selection and in accordance with customary financial practice, in pricing new issues of corporate debt 

securities of comparable maturity to the remaining term of the Notes. 

(iii)  If Issuer Maturity Par Call Option is specified hereon, the Issuer may, on giving not less than 30 nor 
more than 60 days’ irrevocable notice (or such other notice period as may be specified hereon) to the 
Noteholders, redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes at the Final Redemption Amount, together with 
interest accrued to the Issuer Maturity Par Call Redemption Date, which date shall be at any time during 
the period commencing on (and including) the day that is 90 days prior to the Maturity Date specified 
hereon to (but excluding) the Maturity Date (the “Issuer Maturity Par Call Redemption Date”).  

(iv) If Transaction Trigger Call Option is specified hereon, the Issuer may, upon giving a Transaction 
Trigger Notice in accordance with the requirements set out below and in accordance with this Condition 
6(d)(iv), call the Notes for early redemption (in whole or in part) with effect on the Trigger Call 
Redemption Date. If the Issuer exercises this right, the Issuer shall redeem each Note to be redeemed at 
the Transaction Trigger Redemption Amount together with interest accrued to the Trigger Call 

Redemption Date on the Trigger Call Redemption Date. 

“Transaction” means the transaction in respect of which the Notes are issued and specified as such 

hereon. 

“Transaction Trigger Notice” means a notice to the Noteholders given in accordance with this 
Condition 6(d)(iv) and Condition 14 within the Transaction Notice Period that the Transaction has been 
terminated prior to its completion or that the Transaction will not be settled for any reason whatsoever 
or that the Issuer has publicly stated that it no longer intends to pursue the Transaction. The Transaction 

Trigger Notice shall also specify the Trigger Call Redemption Date.  

At any time the Issuer may waive its right to call the Notes for redemption following the occurrence of 
one of the events detailed above, by giving notice in accordance with Condition 14. Once given, 
however, the Transaction Trigger Notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify: 
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(a) the series of Notes subject to redemption; 

(b) whether the Notes will be redeemed in whole or in part and, if only in part, the aggregate principal 

amount of the Notes which are to be redeemed; 

(c) the Trigger Call Redemption Date; and 

(d) the Transaction Trigger Redemption Amount at which such Notes are to be redeemed. 

“Transaction Notice Period” means the period specified hereon.  

“Transaction Trigger Redemption Amount” means the amount per Note specified hereon.  

“Trigger Call Redemption Date” means the redemption date specified in the Transaction Trigger 
Notice which shall be not less than 30 days nor more than 60 days after the date of the Transaction 

Trigger Notice. 

(e) Redemption at the Option of Noteholders: If Put Option is specified hereon, the Issuer shall, at the option 
of the holder of any such Note, upon the holder of such Note giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days’ 
notice to the Issuer (or such other notice period as may be specified hereon) redeem such Note on the 
Optional Redemption Date(s) at its Optional Redemption Amount specified hereon (which may be the Early 
Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(b) above)), together with interest accrued to the date fixed 

for redemption. 

To exercise such option the holder must deposit (in the case of Bearer Notes) such Note (together with all 
unmatured Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons) with any Paying Agent or (in the case of 
Registered Notes) the Certificate representing such Note(s) with the Registrar or any Transfer Agent at its 
specified office, together with a duly completed option exercise notice (“Exercise Notice”) in the form 
obtainable from any Paying Agent, the Registrar or any Transfer Agent (as applicable) within the notice 
period. No Note or Certificate so deposited and option exercised may be withdrawn (except as provided in the 

Agency Agreement) without the prior consent of the Issuer. 

(f) Redemption at the Option of Noteholders upon a Change of Control: If Change of Control Put Event is 
specified hereon and a Change of Control Put Event occurs, the holder of any such Note will have the option 
(a “Change of Control Put Option”) (unless prior to the giving of the relevant Change of Control Put Event 
Notice (as defined below) the Issuer has given notice of redemption under Condition 6(c) or 6(d) above) to 
require the Issuer to redeem or, at the Issuer’s option, purchase (or procure the purchase of) that Note on the 
Change of Control Put Date (as defined below) at its Optional Redemption Amount specified hereon (which 
may be the Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(b) above)), together with interest accrued 

to the date fixed for redemption. 

A “Change of Control Put Event” will be deemed to occur if: 

(i) any person or any persons acting in concert, other than Stichting tot het houden van preferente aandelen 

Wereldhave, a holding company whose shareholders are or are to be substantially similar to the pre-
existing shareholders of the Issuer and/or any direct or indirect holding company of the Issuer, shall 
acquire a controlling interest in (A) more than 50 per cent. of the issued or allotted ordinary share 
capital of the Issuer or (B) shares in the capital of the Issuer carrying more than 50 per cent. of the 
voting rights normally exercisable at a general meeting of the Issuer (each such event being, a “Change 
of Control” ); and 
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(ii)  on the date (the “Relevant Announcement Date”) that is the earlier of (1) the date of the first public 
announcement of the relevant Change of Control and (2) the date of the earliest Relevant Potential 

Change of Control Announcement (if any):  

A. any Notes that have been issued and are outstanding carry an investment grade credit rating 
(Baa3/BBB-, or their respective equivalents, or better) (an “Investment Grade Rating”) from any 
Rating Agency, whether provided by such Rating Agency at the invitation of the Issuer or by its 
own volition, and such rating is, within the Change of Control Period, downgraded to a non-
investment grade credit rating (Ba1/BB+, or their respective equivalents, or worse) and such 
rating is not within the Change of Control Period restored to an Investment Grade Rating by such 
Rating Agency or replaced by an Investment Grade Rating of another Rating Agency, or any such 
Rating Agency withdraws its rating of any such Notes and the rating of such Rating Agency is not 
within the Change of Control Period replaced by an Investment Grade Rating of another Rating 

Agency; or  

B. no such Notes carry an Investment Grade Rating from at least one Rating Agency and the Issuer is 
unable to acquire and maintain an Investment Grade Rating during the Change of Control Period 

from at least one Rating Agency,  

provided that if at the time of the occurrence of the Change of Control any such Notes carry a 
credit rating from more than one Rating Agency, at least one of which is an Investment Grade 

Rating, then sub paragraph (A) will apply; and 

(iii)  in making any decision to downgrade or withdraw a credit rating pursuant to paragraph (ii) above or to 
decline to confer an Investment Grade Rating, the relevant Rating Agency announces publicly or 
confirms in writing to the Issuer that such decision(s) resulted, in whole or in part, from the occurrence 

of the Change of Control or the Relevant Potential Change of Control Announcement. 

Promptly upon but in any case no later than five Business Days after the Issuer becoming aware that a 
Change of Control Put Event has occurred the Issuer shall give notice (a “Change of Control Put Event 
Notice”) to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 specifying the nature of the Change of Control 

Put Event and the procedure for exercising the Change of Control Put Option. 

To exercise the Change of Control Put Option, the holder of a Bearer Note must deliver such Note to the 
specified office of any Paying Agent at any time during normal business hours of such Paying Agent falling 
within the period (the “Change of Control Put Period”) of 30 days after a Change of Control Put Event 
Notice is given, accompanied by a duly signed and completed notice of exercise in the form (for the time 
being current) obtainable from the specified office of any Paying Agent (a “Change of Control Put Notice”). 
The Note should be delivered together with all Coupons appertaining thereto maturing after the date which is 
seven days after the expiration of the Change of Control Put Period (the “Change of Control Put Date”), 
failing which, if Fixed Rate Note is specified hereon, the Paying Agent will require payment from or on 
behalf of the Noteholder of an amount equal to the face value of any missing such Coupon. Any amount so 
paid will be reimbursed to the Noteholder against presentation and surrender of the relevant missing Coupon 
(or any replacement therefor issued pursuant to Condition 12) at any time after such payment, but before the 
expiry of the period of five years from the date on which such Coupon would have become due, but not 
thereafter. For the avoidance of doubt, on the Change of Control Put Date unmatured Coupons relating to a 
Floating Rate Note shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them. The Paying Agent to 
which such Note and Change of Control Put Notice are delivered will issue to the Noteholder concerned a 
non-transferable receipt in respect of the Note so delivered. Payment in respect of any Note so delivered will 
be made, if the holder duly specified a bank account in the Change of Control Put Notice to which payment is 



 

 

 60  

to be made, on the Change of Control Put Date by transfer to that bank account and, in every other case, on or 
after the Change of Control Put Date against presentation and surrender or (as the case may be) endorsement 
of such receipt at the specified office of any Paying Agent. A Change of Control Put Notice, once given, shall 
be irrevocable. For the purposes of these Conditions, receipts issued pursuant to this Condition 6(f) shall be 

treated as if they were Notes. 

To exercise the Change of Control Put Option, the holder of a Registered Note must deposit the Certificate 
evidencing such Note(s) with the Registrar or any Transfer Agent at its specified office, together with a duly 
signed and completed Change of Control Put Notice obtainable from the Registrar or any Transfer Agent 
within the Change of Control Put Period. No Certificate so deposited and option so exercised may be 
withdrawn without the prior consent of the Issuer. Payment in respect of any Certificate so deposited will be 
made, if the holder duly specified a bank account in the Change of Control Put Notice to which payment is to 
be made, on the Change of Control Put Date by transfer to that bank account and, in every other case, by 
cheque drawn on a Bank (as defined in Condition 7(a)) and mailed to the holder (or to the first named of joint 

holders) of such Note at its address appearing in the Register. 

The Issuer shall redeem or purchase (or procure the purchase of) the relevant Notes on the Change of Control 

Put Date unless previously redeemed (or purchased) and cancelled. 

If the rating designations employed by any of Moody’s, Fitch or S&P are changed from those which are 
described in paragraph (ii) of the definition of “Change of Control Put Event” above, or if a rating is procured 
from a Substitute Rating Agency, the Issuer shall determine the rating designations of Moody’s, Fitch or S&P 
or such Substitute Rating Agency (as appropriate) as are most equivalent to the prior rating designations of 

Moody’s, Fitch or S&P and this Condition 6(f) shall be construed accordingly. 

In this Condition 6(f): 

“Change of Control Period” means the period commencing on the Relevant Announcement Date and ending 
180 days after the Change of Control (or such longer period for which the Notes are under consideration 
(such consideration having been announced publicly within the period ending 180 days after the Change of 
Control) for rating review or, as the case may be, rating by a Rating Agency, such period not to exceed 60 

days after the public announcement of such consideration); 

“Rating Agency” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”), Fitch Ratings Ltd. (“Fitch”) or 
Standard & Poor’s Rating Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. (“S&P”) or any of their 
respective successors or any rating agency (a “Substitute Rating Agency”) substituted for any of them by the 

Issuer from time to time; and 

“Relevant Potential Change of Control Announcement” means any public announcement or statement by 
the Issuer, any actual or potential bidder or any adviser acting on behalf of any actual or potential bidder 
relating to any potential Change of Control where within 180 days following the date of such announcement 

or statement, a Change of Control occurs. 

(g) Partly Paid Notes: Partly Paid Notes will be redeemed, whether at maturity, early redemption or otherwise, 

in accordance with the provisions of this Condition and the provisions specified hereon. 

(h) Purchases: Each of the Issuer, the Guarantors and their respective Subsidiaries may at any time purchase 
Notes (provided that all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons relating thereto are 

attached thereto or surrendered therewith) in the open market or otherwise at any price. 

(i) Cancellation: All Notes purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantors or any of their respective 
Subsidiaries may be surrendered for cancellation, in the case of Bearer Notes, by surrendering each such Note 
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together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and all unexchanged Talons to the Fiscal Agent and, in the 
case of Registered Notes, by surrendering the Certificate representing such Notes to the Registrar and, in each 
case, if so surrendered, shall, together with all Notes redeemed by the Issuer, be cancelled forthwith (together 
with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered 
therewith). Any Notes so surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the 

Issuer and the Guarantors in respect of any such Notes shall be discharged. 

7 Payments and Talons 

(a) Bearer Notes: Payments of principal and interest in respect of Bearer Notes shall, subject as mentioned 
below, be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Receipts (in the case of payments of 
Instalment Amounts other than on the due date for redemption and provided that the Receipt is presented 
for payment together with its relative Note), Notes (in the case of all other payments of principal and, in 
the case of interest, as specified in Condition 7(f)(vi)) or Coupons (in the case of interest, save as specified 
in Condition 7(f)(vi)), as the case may be, at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United 
States by a cheque payable in the relevant currency drawn on, or, at the option of the holder, by transfer to 
an account denominated in such currency with, a Bank. “Bank” means a bank in the principal financial 
centre for such currency or, in the case of euro, in a city in which banks have access to the TARGET 

System. 

(b) Registered Notes: 

(i) Payments of principal (which for the purposes of this Condition 7(b) shall include final Instalment 
Amounts but not other Instalment Amounts) in respect of Registered Notes shall be made against 
presentation and surrender of the relevant Certificates at the specified office of any of the Transfer 

Agents or of the Registrar and in the manner provided in paragraph (ii) below. 

(ii)  Interest (which for the purpose of this Condition 7(b) shall include all Instalment Amounts other than 
final Instalment Amounts) on Registered Notes shall be paid to the person shown on the Register at the 
close of business on the fifteenth day before the due date for payment thereof (the “Record Date”). 
Payments of interest on each Registered Note shall be made in the relevant currency by cheque drawn 
on a Bank and mailed to the holder (or to the first-named of joint holders) of such Note at its address 
appearing in the Register. Upon application by the holder to the specified office of the Registrar or any 
Transfer Agent before the Record Date, such payment of interest may be made by transfer to an account 

in the relevant currency maintained by the payee with a Bank. 
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(c) Payments in the United States: Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Bearer Notes are denominated in U.S. 
dollars, payments in respect thereof may be made at the specified office of any Paying Agent in New York 
City in the same manner as aforesaid if (i) the Issuer shall have appointed Paying Agents with specified 
offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to 
make payment of the amounts on the Notes in the manner provided above when due, (ii) payment in full of 
such amounts at all such offices is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar 
restrictions on payment or receipt of such amounts and (iii) such payment is then permitted by United States 

law, without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, any adverse tax consequence to the Issuer. 

(d) Payments Subject to Laws: All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws, 
regulations and directives in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8. No 
commission or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments. 

(e) Appointment of Agents: The Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Transfer Agents and the 
Calculation Agent initially appointed by the Issuer and the Guarantors and their respective specified offices 
are listed below. The Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, Transfer Agents and the Calculation 
Agent(s) act solely as agents of the Issuer and the Guarantors and do not assume any obligation or 
relationship of agency or trust for or with any Noteholder or Couponholder. The Issuer and the Guarantors 
reserve the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of the Fiscal Agent, any other Paying 
Agent, the Registrar, any Transfer Agent or the Calculation Agent(s) and to appoint additional or other Paying 
Agents or Transfer Agents, provided that the Issuer shall at all times maintain (i) a Fiscal Agent, (ii) a 
Registrar in relation to Registered Notes, (iii) a Transfer Agent in relation to Registered Notes, (iv) one or 
more Calculation Agent(s) where the Conditions so require, (v) Paying Agents having specified offices in at 
least two major European cities and (vi) such other agents as may be required by any other stock exchange on 

which the Notes may be listed. 

In addition, the Issuer and the Guarantors shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent in New York City in respect 

of any Bearer Notes denominated in U.S. dollars in the circumstances described in paragraph (c) above. 

Notice of any such change or any change of any specified office shall promptly be given to the Noteholders. 

(f) Unmatured Coupons and Receipts and unexchanged Talons: 

(i) Upon the due date for redemption of Bearer Notes which comprise Fixed Rate Notes, those Notes 
should be surrendered for payment together with all unmatured Coupons (if any) relating thereto, failing 
which an amount equal to the face value of each missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment 
not being made in full, that proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon that the sum 
of principal so paid bears to the total principal due) shall be deducted from the Final Redemption 
Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount, as the case may be, due for 
payment. Any amount so deducted shall be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of 
such missing Coupon within a period of 10 years from the Relevant Date for the payment of such 

principal (whether or not such Coupon has become void pursuant to Condition 9). 

(ii)  Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note comprising a Floating Rate Note, unmatured 
Coupons relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be 
made in respect of them. 

(iii)  Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to such Note 
(whether or not attached) shall become void and no Coupon shall be delivered in respect of such Talon. 
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(iv) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note that is redeemable in instalments, all Receipts 
relating to such Note having an Instalment Date falling on or after such due date (whether or not 

attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them. 

(v) Where any Bearer Note that provides that the relative unmatured Coupons are to become void upon the 
due date for redemption of those Notes is presented for redemption without all unmatured Coupons, and 
where any Bearer Note is presented for redemption without any unexchanged Talon relating to it, 

redemption shall be made only against the provision of such indemnity as the Issuer may require. 

(vi) If the due date for redemption of any Note is not a due date for payment of interest, interest accrued 
from the preceding due date for payment of interest or the Interest Commencement Date, as the case 
may be, shall only be payable against presentation (and surrender if appropriate) of the relevant Bearer 
Note or Certificate representing it, as the case may be. Interest accrued on a Note that only bears interest 
after its Maturity Date shall be payable on redemption of such Note against presentation of the relevant 

Note or Certificate representing it, as the case may be. 

(a) Talons: On or after the Interest Payment Date for the final Coupon forming part of a Coupon sheet issued in 
respect of any Bearer Note, the Talon forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified 
office of the Fiscal Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet (and if necessary another Talon for a further 

Coupon sheet) (but excluding any Coupons that may have become void pursuant to Condition 9). 

(b) Non-Business Days: If any date for payment in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon is not a business day, 
the holder shall not be entitled to payment until the next following business day nor to any interest or other 
sum in respect of such postponed payment. In this paragraph, “business day” means a day (other than a 
Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in the relevant 

place of presentation, in such jurisdictions as shall be specified as “Financial Centres” hereon and: 

(i) (in the case of a payment in a currency other than euro) where payment is to be made by transfer to an 
account maintained with a bank in the relevant currency, on which foreign exchange transactions may 

be carried on in the relevant currency in the principal financial centre of the country of such currency or 

(ii)  (in the case of a payment in euro) which is a TARGET Business Day. 

8 Taxation 

All payments of principal and interest by or on behalf of the Issuer or any Guarantor in respect of the Notes, 
the Receipts and the Coupons or under the Guarantees shall be made free and clear of, and without 
withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature 
imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or within any Relevant Jurisdiction, unless such 
withholding or deduction is required by law. In that event, the Issuer or, as the case may be, the relevant 
Guarantor(s) shall pay such additional amounts as shall result in receipt by the Noteholders and the 
Couponholders of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction 
been required, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note, Receipt or 

Coupon: 

(a) Other connection: to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who is liable to such taxes, duties, 
assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note, Receipt or Coupon by reason of the 
holder having some connection with any Relevant Jurisdiction other than the mere holding of the Note, 

Receipt or Coupon or 
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(b) Presentation more than 30 days after the Relevant Date: presented (or in respect of which the 
Certificate representing it is presented) for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to 
the extent that the holder of it would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting it for 

payment on the thirtieth such day. 

As used in these Conditions, “Relevant Date” in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon means the date on 
which payment in respect of it first becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly 
withheld or refused) the date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier) the 
date seven days after that on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders that, upon further presentation of 
the Note (or relative Certificate), Receipt or Coupon being made in accordance with the Conditions, such 
payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon such presentation. References in these 
Conditions to (i) “principal” shall be deemed to include any premium payable in respect of the Notes, all 
Instalment Amounts, Final Redemption Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption 
Amounts, Amortised Face Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of principal payable pursuant to 
Condition 6 or any amendment or supplement to it, (ii) “interest” shall be deemed to include all Interest 
Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to Condition 5 or any amendment or supplement to it and 
(iii) “principal” and/or “interest” shall be deemed to include any additional amounts that may be payable 

under this Condition. 

9 Prescription 

Claims against the Issuer and / or any of the Guarantors for payment in respect of the Notes, Receipts and 
Coupons (which for this purpose shall not include Talons) shall be prescribed and become void unless made 

within 5 years (in the case of principal or interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date in respect of them. 

10 Events of Default 

If any of the following events (“Events of Default”) occurs, the holder of any Note may give written notice 
to the Fiscal Agent at its specified office that such Note is immediately repayable, whereupon the Early 
Redemption Amount of such Note together (if applicable) with accrued interest to the date of payment shall 
become immediately due and payable: 

(a) Non-Payment: default is made for more than 14 Business Days (in the case of interest) and 7 Business 
Days (in the case of principal) in the payment on the due date of interest or principal in respect of any of 

the Notes or 

(b) Financial Covenants: any requirement in Conditions 4(b), 4(c), 4(d) or 4(e) is not satisfied or 

(c) Breach of Other Obligations: the Issuer or any of the Guarantors do not perform or comply with any 
one or more of their respective obligations (other than those referred to in Condition 10(a) or Condition 
10(b)) in the Notes which default is incapable of remedy or is not remedied within 30 Business Days 
after notice of such default shall have been given to the Fiscal Agent at its specified office by any 

Noteholder or 

(d) Cross-default:  

(i) Any Financial Indebtedness of any member of the Group is not paid when due (after the expiry 

of any originally applicable grace period); or 



 

 

 65  

(ii)  Any Financial Indebtedness of any member of the Group is declared to be or otherwise 
becomes due and payable before its specified maturity as a result of an event of default 

(however described), 

unless the aggregate amount of Financial Indebtedness or commitment for Financial Indebtedness 
falling within all or any of paragraphs  (i) and (ii) above is less than EUR20,000,000 or its equivalent in 

any other currency or currencies or 

(e) Enforcement Proceedings: a distress, attachment, execution or other legal process is levied, enforced 
or sued out on or against: (i) any part of the property and/or assets of the Issuer, any Guarantor or any 
Material Subsidiary the book value of which, when aggregated with the book value of other properties 
and/or assets which are subject to actions referred to in this Condition 10(e), exceeds 10 per cent. of the 
Total Assets of the Group; or (ii) any revenues of the Issuer, any Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary 

and such revenues when aggregated with other revenues which are subject to actions referred to in this 
Condition 10(e) exceed 10 per cent. of the Revenue of the Group; and in respect of (i) and (ii) above, is 

not discharged or stayed within 30 days or  

(f) Insolvency: the Issuer, a Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary is (or is deemed by law or a court to be) 
insolvent or bankrupt or unable to pay its debts, stops, suspends or threatens to stop or suspend payment 
of all or a material part of (or of a particular type of) its debts, proposes or makes a general assignment 
or an arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of the relevant creditors in respect of any of 
such debts or a moratorium is agreed or declared or comes into effect in respect of or affecting all or any 

part of (or of a particular type of) the debts of the Issuer, a Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary or 

(g) Winding-up : an administrator is appointed, an order is made or an effective resolution passed for the 
winding-up or dissolution or administration of the Issuer, a Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary (other 
than an order which is frivolous or vexatious and is discharged, stayed or dismissed within 14 days of 
commencement), or the Issuer, a Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary shall apply or petition for a 
winding-up or administration order in respect of itself or ceases or through an official action of its board 
of directors threatens to cease to carry on all or substantially all of its business or operations, in each 
case except for the purpose of and followed by a reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger 
or consolidation (i) on terms approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Agency 
Agreement) of the Noteholders or (ii) in the case of a Material Subsidiary, whereby the undertaking and 
assets of the Material Subsidiary are transferred to or otherwise vested in the Issuer or a Guarantor (as 

the case may be) or another Material Subsidiary or 

(h) Security Enforced: any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance, present or future, created 
or assumed by the Issuer, a Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary becomes enforceable and any step is 
taken to enforce it (including the taking of possession or the appointment of a receiver, administrative 
receiver, administrator manager or other similar person) and such enforcement is not the subject of an 
appeal (in good faith) by the Issuer, a Guarantor or such Material Subsidiary which appeal results in the 

stay of such enforcement within 30 days of such step being taken to enforce it or 

(i) Nationalisation: by or under the authority of any government: 

(i) the management of any member of the Group is wholly or partially displaced or the authority of 
the Issuer or any other member of the Group in the conduct of its business is wholly or partially 

curtailed; or  

(ii)  all or a majority of the issued shares of any member of the Group, or the whole or any part of its 
assets (the book value of which is twenty per cent. or more of the aggregated book value of its 
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consolidated assets) is seized, nationalised, expropriated or compulsorily acquired, where such 
seizure, nationalisation, expropriation or compulsory acquisition would have a material adverse 
effect on the condition (financial or other), prospects, results of operations or general affairs or 

profitability of the Group taken as a whole or 

(j) Ownership: any Guarantor is not or ceases to be a Subsidiary (other than as provided for in Condition 

3(c) above) or 

(k) Authorisation and Consents: any action, condition or thing (including the obtaining or effecting of any 
necessary consent, approval, authorisation, exemption, filing, licence, order, recording or registration) at 
any time required to be taken, fulfilled or done in order (i) to enable the Issuer and each of the 
Guarantors lawfully to enter into, exercise their respective rights and perform and comply with their 
respective obligations under the Notes, (ii) to ensure that those obligations are legally binding and 
enforceable and (iii) to make the Notes admissible in evidence in the courts of a Relevant Jurisdiction is 

not taken, fulfilled or done and such failure continues for a period of 10 days or 

(l) Illegality : it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer or any of the Guarantors to perform or comply 

with any one or more of its obligations under any of the Notes or 

(m) Guarantee: if a Guarantee ceases to be, or is claimed by the Issuer or a Guarantor not to be, in full 

force and effect in relation to any Guarantor (except in accordance with Condition 3(c)) or 

(n) Analogous Events: any event occurs that under the laws of any Relevant Jurisdiction has an analogous 

effect to any of the events referred to in Condition 10(e), 10(f) or 10(g) above. 

“Material Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary: 

(i) whose total assets (consolidated in the case of a Subsidiary which itself has Subsidiaries) 
represent not less than 10 per cent. of the consolidated total assets of the Group taken as a whole, 
as calculated by reference to the latest financial statements (consolidated or, as the case may be, 
unconsolidated) of the Subsidiary and the then latest audited consolidated financial statements of 
the Issuer; provided that in the case of a Subsidiary acquired after the end of the financial period 
to which the then latest audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer relate for the 
purpose of applying the foregoing test, the reference to the Issuer’s latest audited consolidated 
financial statements shall be deemed to be a reference to such financial statements as if such 

Subsidiary had been shown therein by reference to its then latest relevant financial statements; or 

(ii) to which is transferred all or substantially all of the business, undertaking and assets of another 
Subsidiary which immediately prior to such transfer is a Material Subsidiary, whereupon (a) in 
the case of a transfer by a Material Subsidiary, the transferor Material Subsidiary shall 
immediately cease to be a Material Subsidiary and (b) the transferee Subsidiary shall 
immediately become a Material Subsidiary, provided that on or after the date on which the 
relevant financial statements for the financial period current at the date of such transfer are 
published, whether such transferor Subsidiary or such transferee Subsidiary is or is not a Material 

Subsidiary shall be determined pursuant to the provisions of sub-paragraph (i) above. 

A report by two of the managing directors of the Issuer that in their opinion (making such adjustments (if 
any) as they shall deem appropriate) a Subsidiary is or is not or was or was not at any particular time or 
during any particular period a Material Subsidiary shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and 

binding on the Issuer, the Guarantors and the Noteholders. 
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11 Meeting of Noteholders and Modifications   

(a) Meetings of Noteholders: The Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of 
Noteholders to consider any matter affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary 
Resolution (as defined in the Agency Agreement) of a modification of any of these Conditions. Such a 
meeting may be convened by Noteholders holding not less than 10 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes 
for the time being outstanding. The quorum for any meeting convened to consider an Extraordinary 
Resolution shall be two or more persons holding or representing a clear majority in nominal amount of the 
Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting two or more persons being or representing 
Noteholders whatever the nominal amount of the Notes held or represented, unless the business of such 
meeting includes consideration of proposals, inter alia, (i) to amend the dates of maturity or redemption of 
the Notes, any Instalment Date or any date for payment of interest or Interest Amounts on the Notes, (ii) to 
reduce or cancel the nominal amount of, or any Instalment Amount of, or any premium payable on 
redemption of, the Notes, (iii) to reduce the rate or rates of interest in respect of the Notes or to vary the 
method or basis of calculating the rate or rates or amount of interest or the basis for calculating any Interest 
Amount in respect of the Notes, (iv) if a Minimum and/or a Maximum Rate of Interest, Instalment Amount or 
Redemption Amount is shown hereon, to reduce any such Minimum and/or Maximum, (v) to vary any 
method of, or basis for, calculating the Final Redemption Amount, the Early Redemption Amount, the 
Optional Redemption Amount, the Make Whole Redemption Price or the Transaction Trigger Redemption 
Amount, including the method of calculating the Amortised Face Amount, (vi) to vary the currency or 
currencies of payment or denomination of the Notes, (vii) to amend Conditions 4(b) to (e) (both inclusive), 
(viii) to modify the provisions concerning the quorum required at any meeting of Noteholders or the majority 
required to pass the Extraordinary Resolution, or (ix) to modify or cancel any or all of the Guarantees (other 
than as provided for in Condition 3(c) and Condition 3(d) above), in which case the necessary quorum shall 
be two or more persons holding or representing not less than 75 per cent. or at any adjourned meeting not less 
than 25 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. Any Extraordinary 
Resolution duly passed shall be binding on Noteholders (whether or not they were present at the meeting at 

which such resolution was passed) and on all Couponholders. 

The Agency Agreement provides that a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the holders of not less 
than 75 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes outstanding shall for all purposes be as valid and effective 
as an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders duly convened and held. Such a resolution 
in writing may be contained in one document or several documents in the same form, each signed by or on 

behalf of one or more Noteholders. 

(b) Modification of Agency Agreement: The Issuer and each of the Guarantors shall only permit any 
modification of, or any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of or any failure to comply 
with, the Agency Agreement, if to do so could not reasonably be expected to be prejudicial to the interests of 

the Noteholders. 

12 Replacement of Notes, Certificates, Receipts, Coupons and Talons 

If a Note, Certificate, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be 
replaced, subject to applicable laws, regulations and stock exchange or other relevant authority regulations, at 
the specified office of the Fiscal Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons) and of the 
Registrar (in the case of Certificates) or such other Paying Agent or Transfer Agent, as the case may be, as 
may from time to time be designated by the Issuer for the purpose and notice of whose designation is given to 
Noteholders, in each case on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith 
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and on such terms as to evidence, security and indemnity (which may provide, inter alia, that if the allegedly 
lost, stolen or destroyed Note, Certificate, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is subsequently presented for payment 
or, as the case may be, for exchange for further Coupons, there shall be paid to the Issuer on demand the 
amount payable by the Issuer in respect of such Notes, Certificates, Receipts, Coupons or further Coupons) 
and otherwise as the Issuer may require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Certificates, Receipts, Coupons or 

Talons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued. 

13 Further Issues  

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders create and issue 
further notes having the same terms and conditions as the Notes (so that, for the avoidance of doubt, 
references in these Conditions to “Issue Date” shall be to the first issue date of the Notes) and so that the 
same shall be consolidated and form a single series with such Notes, and references in these Conditions to 
“Notes” shall be construed accordingly. 

14 Notices 

Notices to the holders of Registered Notes shall be mailed to them at their respective addresses in the Register 
and deemed to have been given on the fourth weekday (being a day other than a Saturday or a Sunday) after 
the date of mailing. Notices to the holders of Bearer Notes shall be valid if published in the English language 
in a leading newspaper having general circulation in the Netherlands (which is expected to be Het 

Financieele Dagblad). If any such publication is not practicable, notice shall be validly given if published in 
another leading daily English language newspaper with general circulation in Europe. Any such notice shall 
be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published more than once or on different 

dates, on the date of the first publication as provided above. 

Couponholders shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the 

holders of Bearer Notes in accordance with this Condition. 

15 Currency Indemnity 

Any amount received or recovered in a currency other than the currency in which payment under the relevant 
Note, Coupon or Receipt is due (whether as a result of, or of the enforcement of, a judgment or order of a 
court of any jurisdiction, in the insolvency, winding-up or dissolution of the Issuer or any Guarantor or 
otherwise) by any Noteholder or Couponholder in respect of any sum expressed to be due to it from the Issuer 
or any Guarantor shall only constitute a discharge to the Issuer or the applicable Guarantor, as the case may 
be, to the extent of the amount in the currency of payment under the relevant Note, Coupon or Receipt that 
the recipient is able to purchase with the amount so received or recovered in that other currency on the date of 
that receipt or recovery (or, if it is not practicable to make that purchase on that date, on the first date on 
which it is practicable to do so). If the amount received or recovered is less than the amount expressed to be 
due to the recipient under any Note, Coupon or Receipt, the Issuer, failing whom the Guarantors, shall 
indemnify it against any loss sustained by it as a result. In any event, the Issuer, failing whom the Guarantors, 
shall indemnify the recipient against the cost of making any such purchase. For the purposes of this 
Condition, it shall be sufficient for the Noteholder or Couponholder, as the case may be, to demonstrate that it 
would have suffered a loss had an actual purchase been made. These indemnities constitute a separate and 
independent obligation from the Issuer’s and each of the Guarantor’s other obligations, shall give rise to a 
separate and independent cause of action, shall apply irrespective of any indulgence granted by any 
Noteholder or Couponholder and shall continue in full force and effect despite any other judgment, order, 



 

 

 69  

claim or proof for a liquidated amount in respect of any sum due under any Note, Coupon or Receipt or any 

other judgment or order. 

16 Governing Law and Jurisdiction 

(a) Governing Law: The Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons and the Talons and any non-contractual obligations 
arising out of or in connection with them are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, Dutch 

law. 

(b) Jurisdiction : The Courts of Amsterdam, The Netherlands shall have jurisdiction to settle any disputes that 
may arise out of or in connection with any Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons and accordingly any legal 
action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with any Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons 
(“Proceedings”) may be brought in such courts. Each of the Issuer and the Guarantors irrevocably submits to 
the jurisdiction of the courts of Amsterdam, The Netherlands and waives any objection to Proceedings in such 
courts on the ground of venue or on the ground that the Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient 
forum. These submissions are made for the benefit of each of the holders of the Notes, Receipts, Coupons and 
Talons and shall not affect the right of any of them to take Proceedings in any other court of competent 
jurisdiction nor shall the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of 

Proceedings in any other jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not). 
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SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE I N GLOBAL FORM  

1 Initial Issue of Notes 

If the Global Notes or the Global Certificates are stated in the applicable Final Terms to be issued in NGN 
form or to be held under the NSS (as the case may be), the Global Notes or the Global Certificates will be 
delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a Common Safekeeper. Depositing the Global 
Notes or the Global Certificates with the Common Safekeeper does not necessarily mean that the Notes will 
be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the 
Eurosystem either upon issue, or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon 

satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria. 

Global notes which are issued in CGN form and Global Certificates which are not held under the NSS may be 

delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a Common Depositary. 

If the Global Note is a CGN, upon the initial deposit of a Global Note with a common depositary for 
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (the “Common Depositary”) or registration of Registered Notes in 
the name of any nominee for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and delivery of the relative Global 
Certificate to the Common Depositary, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg will credit each subscriber 
with a nominal amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid. If 
the Global Note is a NGN, the nominal amount of the Notes shall be the aggregate amount from time to time 
entered in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg.  The records of such clearing system shall be 
conclusive evidence of the nominal amount of Notes represented by the Global Note and a statement issued 
by such clearing system at any time shall be conclusive evidence of the records of the relevant clearing 

system at that time. 

Notes that are initially deposited with the Common Depositary may also be credited to the accounts of 
subscribers with (if indicated in the relevant Final Terms) other clearing systems through direct or indirect 
accounts with Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg held by such other clearing systems. Conversely, 
Notes that are initially deposited with any other clearing system may similarly be credited to the accounts of 

subscribers with Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or other clearing systems. 

2 Relationship of Accountholders with Clearing Systems 

Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other permitted 
clearing system (“Alternative Clearing System”) as the holder of a Note represented by a Global Note or a 
Global Certificate must look solely to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any such Alternative Clearing 
System (as the case may be) for his share of each payment made by the Issuer to the bearer of such Global 
Note or the holder of the underlying Registered Notes, as the case may be, and in relation to all other rights 
arising under the Global Notes or Global Certificates, subject to and in accordance with the respective rules 
and procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, or such Alternative Clearing System (as the case may 
be). Such persons shall have no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due on the Notes for 
so long as the Notes are represented by such Global Note or Global Certificate and such obligations of the 
Issuer will be discharged by payment to the bearer of such Global Note or the holder of the underlying 

Registered Notes, as the case may be, in respect of each amount so paid. 
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3 Exchange 

3.1 Temporary Global Notes 

Each temporary Global Note will be exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, on or after its 

Exchange Date: 

(i) if the relevant Final Terms indicates that such Global Note is issued in compliance with the C 
Rules or in a transaction to which TEFRA is not applicable (as to which, see “Overview of the 
Programme – Selling Restrictions”), in whole, but not in part, for the Definitive Notes defined 

and described below; and 

(ii)  otherwise, in whole or in part upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the form 
set out in the Agency Agreement for interests in a permanent Global Note or, if so provided in 
the relevant Final Terms, for Definitive Notes. 

3.2 Permanent Global Notes 

Each permanent Global Note will be exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, on or after its 
Exchange Date in whole but not, except as provided under paragraph 3.4 below, in part for Definitive 

Notes: 

(i) if the permanent Global Note is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or an 
Alternative Clearing System and any such clearing system is closed for business for a 
continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or 

announces an intention permanently to cease business or in fact does so; or  

(ii)  if principal in respect of any Notes is not paid when due, by the holder giving notice to the 

Fiscal Agent of its election for such exchange. 

In the event that a Global Note is exchanged for Definitive Notes, such Definitive Notes shall be 
issued in Specified Denomination(s) only. A Noteholder who holds a principal amount of less than the 
minimum Specified Denomination will not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding and 
would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that it holds an amount equal to one or more 
Specified Denominations. 

3.3 Permanent Global Certificates 

If the Final Terms state that the Notes are to be represented by a permanent Global Certificate on issue, 
the following will apply in respect of transfers of Notes held in Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg 
or an Alternative Clearing System. These provisions will not prevent the trading of interests in the 
Notes within a clearing system whilst they are held on behalf of such clearing system, but will limit the 

circumstances in which the Notes may be withdrawn from the relevant clearing system.  

Transfers of the holding of Notes represented by any Global Certificate pursuant to Condition 2(b) 

may only be made in part: 

(i) if the relevant clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other 
than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to 

cease business or does in fact do so; or 

(ii)  if principal in respect of any Notes is not paid when due; or 
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(iii)  with the consent of the Issuer, 

provided that, in the case of the first transfer of part of a holding pursuant to paragraph 3.3(i) or 3.3(ii) 
above, the Registered Holder has given the Registrar not less than 30 days’ notice at its specified office 

of the Registered Holder’s intention to effect such transfer. 

3.4 Partial Exchange of Permanent Global Notes 

For so long as a permanent Global Note is held on behalf of a clearing system and the rules of that 
clearing system permit, such permanent Global Note will be exchangeable in part on one or more 
occasions for Definitive Notes (i) if principal in respect of any Notes is not paid when due or (ii) if so 
provided in, and in accordance with, the Conditions (which will be set out in the relevant Final Terms) 

relating to Partly Paid Notes. 

3.5 Delivery of Notes 

If the Global Note is a CGN, on or after any due date for exchange, the holder of a Global Note may 
surrender such Global Note or, in the case of a partial exchange, present it for endorsement to or to the 
order of the Fiscal Agent. In exchange for any Global Note, or the part thereof to be exchanged, the 
Issuer will (i) in the case of a temporary Global Note exchangeable for a permanent Global Note, 
deliver, or procure the delivery of, a permanent Global Note in an aggregate nominal amount equal to 
that of the whole or that part of a temporary Global Note that is being exchanged or, in the case of a 
subsequent exchange, endorse, or procure the endorsement of, a permanent Global Note to reflect such 
exchange or (ii) in the case of a Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes, deliver, or procure the 
delivery of, an equal aggregate nominal amount of duly executed and authenticated Definitive Notes or 
if the Global Note is a NGN, the Issuer will procure that details of such exchange be entered pro rata 
in the records of the relevant clearing system. In this Prospectus, “Definitive Notes” means, in relation 
to any Global Note, the definitive Bearer Notes for which such Global Note may be exchanged (if 
appropriate, having attached to them all Coupons and Receipts in respect of interest or Instalment 
Amounts that have not already been paid on the Global Note and a Talon). Definitive Notes will be 
security printed in accordance with any applicable legal and stock exchange requirements in or 
substantially in the form set out in the Schedules to the Agency Agreement. On exchange in full of 
each permanent Global Note, the Issuer will, if the holder so requests, procure that it is cancelled and 

returned to the holder together with the relevant Definitive Notes. 

3.6 Exchange Date 

“Exchange Date” means, in relation to a temporary Global Note, the day falling after the expiry of 40 
days after its issue date and, in relation to a permanent Global Note, a day falling not less than 60 days 
, or in the case of failure to pay principal in respect of any Notes when due 30 days, after that on which 
the notice requiring exchange is given and on which banks are open for business in the city in which 
the specified office of the Fiscal Agent is located and in the city in which the relevant clearing system 

is located. 

4 Amendment to Conditions 

The temporary Global Notes, permanent Global Notes and Global Certificates contain provisions that apply to 
the Notes that they represent, some of which modify the effect of the terms and conditions of the Notes set out 

in this Prospectus. The following is a summary of certain of those provisions: 
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4.1 Payments 

No payment falling due after the Exchange Date will be made on any Global Note unless exchange for 
an interest in a permanent Global Note or for Definitive Notes is improperly withheld or refused. 
Payments on any temporary Global Note issued in compliance with the D Rules before the Exchange 
Date will only be made against presentation of certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the 
form set out in the Agency Agreement. All payments in respect of Notes represented by a Global Note 
in CGN form will be made against presentation for endorsement and, if no further payment falls to be 
made in respect of the Notes, surrender of that Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent or 
such other Paying Agent as shall have been notified to the Noteholders for such purpose. If the Global 
Note is a CGN, a record of each payment so made will be endorsed on each Global Note, which 
endorsement will be prima facie evidence that such payment has been made in respect of the Notes. If 
the Global Note is a NGN or if the Global Certificate is held under the NSS, the Issuer shall procure 
that details of each such payment shall be entered pro rata in the records of the relevant clearing 
system and in the case of payments of principal, the nominal amount of the Notes recorded in the 
records of the relevant clearing system and represented by the Global Note or the Global Certificate 
will be reduced accordingly. Payments under a NGN will be made to its holder. Each payment so made 
will discharge the Issuer’s obligations in respect thereof. Any failure to make the entries in the records 
of the relevant clearing system shall not affect such discharge. For the purpose of any payments made 
in respect of a Global Note, the relevant place of presentation shall be disregarded in the definition of 

“business day” set out in Condition 7(h) (Non-Business Days).  

All payments in respect of Notes represented by a Global Certificate will be made to, or to the order 
of, the person whose name is entered on the Register at the close of business on the record date which 
shall be on the Clearing System Business Day immediately prior to the date for payment, where 

Clearing System Business Day means Monday to Friday inclusive except 25 December and 1 January. 

4.2 Prescription 

Claims against the Issuer in respect of Notes that are represented by a permanent Global Note will 
become void unless it is presented for payment within a period of 10 years (in the case of principal) 

and five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8). 

4.3 Meetings 

The holder of a permanent Global Note or of the Notes represented by a Global Certificate shall 
(unless such permanent Global Note or Global Certificate represents only one Note) be treated as 
being two persons for the purposes of any quorum requirements of a meeting of Noteholders and, at 
any such meeting, the holder of a permanent Global Note shall be treated as having one vote in respect 
of each integral currency unit of the Specified Currency of the Notes. (All holders of Registered Notes 
are entitled to one vote in respect of each integral currency unit of the Specified Currency of the Notes 

comprising such Noteholder’s holding, whether or not represented by a Global Certificate). 

4.4 Cancellation 

Cancellation of any Note represented by a permanent Global Note that is required by the Conditions to 
be cancelled (other than upon its redemption) will be effected by reduction in the nominal amount of 

the relevant permanent Global Note. 
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4.5 Purchase 

Notes represented by a permanent Global Note may only be purchased by the Issuer, the Guarantors or 
any of their respective subsidiaries if they are purchased together with the rights to receive all future 

payments of interest and Instalment Amounts (if any) thereon. 

4.6 Issuer’s Option 

Any option of the Issuer provided for in the Conditions of any Notes while such Notes are represented 
by a permanent Global Note shall be exercised by the Issuer giving notice to the Noteholders within 
the time limits set out in and containing the information required by the Conditions, except that the 
notice shall not be required to contain the serial numbers of Notes drawn in the case of a partial 
exercise of an option and accordingly no drawing of Notes shall be required. In the event that any 
option of the Issuer is exercised in respect of some but not all of the Notes of any Series, the rights of 
accountholders with a clearing system in respect of the Notes will be governed by the standard 
procedures of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear 
and Clearstream, Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a reduction in nominal amount, at their 

discretion) or any other Alternative Clearing System (as the case may be). 

4.7 Noteholders’ Options 

Any option of the Noteholders provided for in the Conditions of any Notes while such Notes are 
represented by a permanent Global Note may be exercised by the holder of the permanent Global Note 
giving notice to the Issuer or Fiscal Agent, as provided for in the Conditions within the time limits 
relating to the deposit of Notes with a Paying Agent set out in the Conditions substantially in the form 
of the notice available from any Paying Agent, except that the notice shall not be required to contain 
the serial numbers of the Notes in respect of which the option has been exercised, and stating the 
nominal amount of Notes in respect of which the option is exercised and at the same time, where the 
permanent Global Note is a CGN, presenting the permanent Global Note to the Fiscal Agent, or to a 
Paying Agent acting on behalf of the Fiscal Agent, for notation. Where the Global Note is a NGN or 
where the Global Certificate is held under the NSS, the Issuer shall procure that details of such 
exercise shall be entered pro rata in the records of the relevant clearing system and the nominal 

amount of the Notes recorded in those records will be reduced accordingly. 

4.8 NGN nominal amount 

Where the Global Note is a NGN, the Issuer shall procure that any exchange, payment, cancellation, 
exercise of any option or any right under the Notes, as the case may be, in addition to the 
circumstances set out above shall be entered in the records of the relevant clearing systems and upon 
any such entry being made, in respect of payments of principal, the nominal amount of the Notes 

represented by such Global Note shall be adjusted accordingly. 

4.9 Events of Default 

Each Global Note provides that the holder may cause such Global Note, or a portion of it, to become 
due and repayable in the circumstances described in Condition 10 by stating in the notice to the Fiscal 
Agent the nominal amount of such Global Note that is becoming due and repayable. If principal in 
respect of any Note is not paid when due, the holder of a Global Note or Registered Notes represented 
by a Global Certificate may elect for direct enforcement rights against the Issuer and the Guarantors 
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under the terms of that Global Note to come into effect in relation to the whole or a part of such Global 
Note or one or more Registered Notes in favour of the persons entitled to such part of such Global 
Note or such Registered Notes, as the case may be, as accountholders with a clearing system. 
Following any such acquisition of direct rights, the Global Note or, as the case may be, the Global 
Certificate and the corresponding entry in the register kept by the Registrar will become void as to the 
specified portion or Registered Notes, as the case may be. However, no such election may be made in 
respect of Notes represented by a Global Certificate unless the transfer of the whole or a part of the 
holding of Notes represented by that Global Certificate shall have been improperly withheld or 
refused. 

4.10 Notices 

So long as any Notes are represented by a Global Note and such Global Note is held on behalf of a 
clearing system, notices to the holders of Notes of that Series may be given by delivery of the relevant 
notice to that clearing system for communication by it to entitled accountholders in substitution for 
publication as required by the Conditions or by delivery of the relevant notice to the holder of the 

Global Note. 

5 Partly Paid Notes 

In relation to Partly Paid Notes, specific provisions relating to the amount and date of instalments are not set 
out in this Prospectus, but will be contained in the relevant Final Terms and thereby in the Global Notes. 
While any instalments of the subscription moneys due from the holder of Partly Paid Notes are overdue, no 
interest in a Global Note representing such Notes may be exchanged for an interest in a permanent Global 
Note or for Definitive Notes (as the case may be). If any Noteholder fails to pay any instalment due on any 
Partly Paid Notes within the time specified, the Issuer may forfeit such Notes and shall have no further 
obligation to their holder in respect of them. 

6 Electronic Consent and Written Resolution 

While any Global Note is held on behalf of, or any Global Certificate is registered in the name of any 

nominee for, a clearing system, then:  

(a) approval of a resolution proposed by the Issuer given by way of electronic consents communicated 
through the electronic communications systems of the relevant clearing system(s) in accordance with 
their operating rules and procedures by or on behalf of the holders of not less than 75 per cent. in 
nominal amount of the Notes outstanding (an “Electronic Consent” as defined in the Fiscal Agency 
Agreement) shall, for all purposes (including matters that would otherwise require an Extraordinary 
Resolution to be passed at a meeting for which the Special Quorum was satisfied), take effect as an 
Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders duly convened and held, and shall be 
binding on all Noteholders and holders of Coupons, Talons and Receipts whether or not they 

participated in such Electronic Consent; and  

(b) where Electronic Consent is not being sought, for the purpose of determining whether a Written 
Resolution (as defined in the Fiscal Agency Agreement) has been validly passed, the Issuer shall be 
entitled to rely on consent or instructions given in writing directly to the Issuer by (a) accountholders 
in the clearing system with entitlements to such Global Note or Global Certificate and/or, where (b) the 
accountholders hold any such entitlement on behalf of another person, on written consent from or 
written instruction by the person identified by that accountholder as the person for whom such 
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entitlement is held. For the purpose of establishing the entitlement to give any such consent or 
instruction, the Issuer shall be entitled to rely on any certificate or other document issued by, in the 
case of (a) above, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant alternative clearing 
system (the “relevant clearing system”) and, in the case of (b) above, the relevant clearing system and 
the accountholder identified by the relevant clearing system for the purposes of (b) above. Any 
resolution passed in such manner shall be binding on all Noteholders and Couponholders, even if the 
relevant consent or instruction proves to be defective. Any such certificate or other document may 
comprise any form of statement or print out of electronic records provided by the relevant clearing 
system (including Euroclear’s EUCLID or Clearstream, Luxembourg’s CreationOnline system) in 
accordance with its usual procedures and in which the accountholder of a particular principal or 
nominal amount of the Notes is clearly identified together with the amount of such holding. The Issuer 
shall not be liable to any person by reason of having accepted as valid or not having rejected any 
certificate or other document to such effect purporting to be issued by any such person and 

subsequently found to be forged or not authentic. 
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USE OF PROCEEDS 

The net proceeds from the issue of each Tranche of Notes will be applied by the Issuer for general corporate 
purposes. If, in respect of any particular issue, there is a particular identified use of proceeds, this will be 

stated in the applicable Final Terms. 
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BUSINESS DESCRIPTION OF ISSUER 

Throughout this section “Wereldhave” is used as reference to the group of companies which is headed by the 

Issuer. 

1 History 

The Issuer was established in 1930. The main activity of Wereldhave originally consisted of the construction 
and exploitation of residential property in Rotterdam, the Netherlands. In the early 1960s Wereldhave 
expanded its activities to other cities in the west of the Netherlands. Around 1971, the activities were mainly 
focused on investing in real estate and to a much lesser extent, development and construction of property. For 
that reason, Wereldhave was converted from a property company to a property investment fund with the 
associated tax status.  

The Issuer’s first foreign investment was made in 1975 in France, followed by Belgium in 1976, Germany in 
1977 and the United Kingdom in 1978. In 1978, Wereldhave also made its first investment in the United 
States. The investments in these countries were rapidly expanded in the following years. During the second 
half of 1988, a strong expansion was achieved in the United Kingdom with the take-over of the British 
property company Peachey Property Corporation Plc. Also in that year, a first investment was made in Spain. 

The investments in Germany were sold in 1993 and 1998.  

In 2002, Wereldhave acquired the Itäkeskus shopping centre in Finland, since 2012 renamed Itis. The Finnish 

management organisation of the shopping centre joined Wereldhave.  

Since 2012, Wereldhave has undergone a drastic transformation. From a real estate investor in seven countries 
in five different sectors of real estate, Wereldhave has now become a specialised investor in convenience 
shopping centres in four countries in North-Western Continental Europe. The investments in the United States 
and the United Kingdom were sold in early 2013. The entire portfolio in Spain was sold in 2014 and on 31 
July 2015, Wereldhave announced that it would cease its investment and development activities in its Paris 
offices, which was materialised later that year. New shopping centres were acquired during 2014 and 2015 in 
the Netherlands, Belgium and France. Retail currently comprises 97 per cent. of the total portfolio, spread 
over Finland, the Netherlands, Belgium and France. This clear profile fits with the Group’s ambition to 
become Europe’s leading operator in convenience shopping centres that strike a balance between convenience 
and shopping experience. From 2017 and onwards, Wereldhave’s focus is on the optimisation of the portfolio, 
the rotation of assets, the further increase of the occupancy rate of its shopping centres and the further 
tailoring of its organisation by promoting an entrepreneurial and innovative environment. Wereldhave 
anticipates internal growth and limited external growth and will dispose of assets in a disciplined and 

selective way, using the proceeds to further enhance the overall quality of the portfolio. 

2 Overview of the Issuer’s organisation and activities 

2.1 Structure 

The Issuer is a closed-end investment company. Shares in the Issuer are listed on the Euronext 
Amsterdam (AMX) stock exchange. The Issuer has the fiscal status of an investment institution, so it 
pays no corporation tax in the Netherlands (other than for development activities in the Netherlands). 
Its Belgian investments consist of a stake of just under 70 per cent. in Wereldhave Belgium, a 
regulated real estate company (GVV/SIR), listed on the Euronext Brussels stock exchange. 



 

 

 79  

Investments in France are subject to SIIC (Sociétés d’Investissements Immobilières Cotées) 
regulations. 

The Issuer is the holding company of the Group. The legal structure of the Group consists of a large 
number of legal entities. The simplified legal structure chart below does not present all interests in 
companies that hold properties, but presents the structure of holdings in the Issuer’s direct or indirect 
significant subsidiaries. Properties are held either directly by the legal entities referred to in the table 
and simplified legal structure chart below or indirectly by subsidiaries of these legal entities. The 

Issuer considers the following entities to be significant within the Group. 

The following table provides an overview of the significant subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by 
the Issuer as of the date of this Prospectus. 

Shareholding  (%) Country of incorporation 

Wereldhave Belgium .................................................................... 69.57 Belgium 

Itäkeskus Holding Oy ................................................................... 100 Finland 

N.V. Wereldhave International. ..................................................... 100 The Netherlands 

Wereldhave Development B.V....................................................... 100 The Netherlands 

Wereldhave Management Holding B.V. ......................................... 100 The Netherlands 

Wereldhave Nederland B.V. .......................................................... 100 The Netherlands 

Wereldhave Retail France S.A.S. .................................................. 100 France 



 

 

 80  

Simplified legal structure chart

 



AMS4899286/95   162301-0024 
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2.2 Investments 

Wereldhave invests in shopping centres in Belgium, Finland, France and the Netherlands. In Belgium, 
the portfolio also comprises four office buildings in Brussels and Antwerp. Wereldhave has its own 
local management organisations for the development, investment and management of its properties. 
Wereldhave values its properties at market value, subtracting transaction costs. The entire portfolio is 
valued externally by independent valuers every 30 June and 31 December. The investments in Belgium 
are by way of a 69.6 per cent investment in Wereldhave Belgium, listed on Euronext Brussels. The 
investments in France qualify for the SIIC regime. 

2.3 Assets and Property 

The local in-house management offices are responsible for the day-to-day management of the 
properties in the various countries. This day-to-day management covers all aspects relating to the 
properties, from lease negotiations, tenant services, rent invoicing and service charge management to 

debt collection and technical building management, as well as maintenance, insurance and property 
tax. For the optimal performance and success of its shopping centres, Wereldhave employs local 
shopping centre managers whose tasks include making sure that all applicable health, safety, labour 

and environmental regulations are complied with and establishing and maintaining good relationships 
with the local community and any co-owners of the shopping centre. 

2.4 Vision, mission and corporate aim 

Shopping behaviour has undergone rapid changes over the past ten years. The internet has increased 
price transparency and product lifecycles have shortened. This has put a pressure on retailer margins, 
resulting in a need for a higher turnover. The retail offer and landscape is changing continuously and 
dominance and convenience of shopping locations are key issues. The ageing population, ongoing 
urbanisation and a busy lifestyle add to the importance of connectivity to the micro-environment. 
Shopping is evolving into a combination of “need to do”, recreation, entertainment and a social 
experience. As the business environment has changed, so has the role of a shopping centre owner. 
From providing real estate as a traditional landlord, a shopping centre owner has to become a retail 
specialist, with a thorough understanding of marketing and operations of the centre and its tenants. 
Where it traditionally was the retailer’s job to attract visitors to the centre, this responsibility has partly 
shifted to the landlord. Operational excellence is what drives the footfall, the rent roll and ultimately 
the value of a shopping centre. Operational excellence is not only about financial parameters, but also 
about societal and sustainable parameters. 

Wereldhave’s mission is to bring people together in a convenient, positive and energising urban retail 
environment.  

Wereldhave invests in its centres to make them more attractive and sustainable, providing an appealing 
retail and leisure offer and offering events and retail formats that are targeted to the local community. 
Wereldhave embraces an integrated approach, covering financial, societal and sustainable parameters. 
This integrated approach makes it possible to improve the customer journey. 

As a retail operator, Wereldhave measures success by the increasing footfall in its centres, the sales of 
retailers and the net rental income. Wereldhave’s mission is to own and operate shopping centres to 

realise solid long term societal and financial returns for all stakeholders.  

2.5 Strategy 
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Wereldhave wants to be the specialist owner and operator of dominant urban convenience shopping 
centres in larger regional cities in the Netherlands, Belgium, France and Finland. 

Wereldhave’s centres are generally considered to be the dominant centre in their respective trade areas. 
Being the dominant centre creates natural footfall and competition is controllable. 

Wereldhave focuses on shopping centres that cover all day to day shopping needs. In order to 
accommodate this, they generally have a size of between 20,000 and 50,000 m², with a catchment area 
of at least 100,000 people within 10 minutes’ driving time. This makes Wereldhave’s centres 
conveniently close, with ease of access and limited travel time. 

The centres must be food anchored, preferably with one hypermarket or two to three supermarkets. 
This not only adds to the convenience, but food sales have also shown to be the most economically 
robust and internet resilient as online impact on groceries is very limited. 

Shopping is a social experience. Wereldhave’s tenant mix, events and marketing are tailored to the 
characteristics of the local environment. Wereldhave’s shopping centres must play a meaningful role 
for the community they are serving. Wereldhave aims to allocate 1 per cent. of net rental income 
annually to create meaningful local events and position Wereldhave’s centres to really become the 
centres where people go to shop, enjoy and meet. Committed and loyal customers and their stable or 
increasing footfall will drive value for Wereldhave’s tenants and – ultimately – Wereldhave’s rental 
income. 

As a rule of thumb, 0.5 per cent. of the asset value is needed as annual maintenance capex to keep a 
shopping centre up to date. Wereldhave is convinced that by continuously investing in its shopping 
centres, the retailers will adapt their retail formula to the latest standard. This drives footfall, retail 
sales, occupancy and rental income. 

Wereldhave’s strategy focus is further outlined in the table below (GLA stands for gross letteable area).  
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3 Sustainability 

Wereldhave currently has a GRESB Green Star rating and is included in the DJSI Europe index.  

For Wereldhave sustainability means investing time, effort and money in the Group’s assets and employees, in 
order to strengthen the relationship with all stakeholders, including tenants, visitors of the shopping centres 
and local communities in the microenvironments in which Wereldhave operates. 

This will lead to more sustainable and profitable returns on capital in the short and long term. Wereldhave 
wants to combine sustainability and commercial business in an integrated approach investing in not only 
(sustainable) bricks, but at the same time in employees, partners, and society.  

Wereldhave combines sustainability and commercial business and uses a framework to integrate sustainability 
into the Group’s overall strategy and operations.  

The sustainability framework consists of four pillars: Bricks, People, Partners and Society. With a strong 
focus on social inclusion it is designed to support Wereldhave’s business operations by guiding investment 
decisions that benefit the communities Wereldhave’s properties serve. Social contact is a major driver for 
people to visit the shopping centres, that is why Wereldhave aims to allocate 1 per cent. of its net rental 
income annually to projects that connect to the community. While generating higher footfall, increasing 
dwell-time and improving turnover for Wereldhave’s tenants, Wereldhave also strives to lower service costs, 
strengthen portfolio occupancy rates and increase rental value. 

4 Property investment overview 

Represented graphically below are (i) the distribution of Wereldhave’s investments by sector and geographical 
region and (ii) the composition of the property portfolio, both as at 31 December 2016. 

4.1 Information in relation to the  property portfolio as at 31 December 2016 

Summary of investment properties in operations  
    

(in € millions) Shopping Centres Offices Total 
    
 market value market value market value 
    

Belgium                    660              124              784  
Finland                    566               566  
France                    900               900  
Netherlands                  1,451             1,451  

    
Total portfolio                  3,577              124            3,701  
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Composition of property 
portfolio  

Total 
Group 

The 
Netherlands Belgium Finland France 

number of shopping 

centres 32 18 7 1 6 

number of offices 4 4* 

*of which one office building was sold in December 2016, with the condition that operational risk and reward until 

February 2018 will remain for Wereldhave Belgium. 

 

Property evolution (in € millions) 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

Property investments in 
operation (including lease 

incentives)     2,087.8  1,745.2  3,238.3  3,659.3  3,701.3  

Development projects   240.0  413.2  43.9  66.2  101.2  
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Key figures shopping centre operations 
        

 
The Netherlands Belgium Finland France 

  2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 
Like-for-like rental growth shopping 
centres*** 0.4% 1.3% 4.9% 1.8% -2.7% 2.3% 1.4% n.a. 

Visitors (in millions) 
          

82.7  
          

81.5            14.0  
          

14.3  
          

17.3  
          

16.9  
          

40.7  
          

41.0  

                  

Net rental income (in €m) 
          

81.6  
          

54.7            37.6  
          

35.7  
          

27.5  
          

28.6  
          

45.9  
          

45.7  

Occupancy 95.8% 95.3% 95.9% 94.9% 95.7% 92.5% 94.4% 91.1% 

Investment properties market value (in €m) 
    

1,451.5  
    

1.457.7          660.5  
        

607.7  
        

565.6  
        

616.0  
        

899.7  
        

852.1  
Investment properties under construction (in 
€m) 

          
65.9  

          
25.7            35.3  

          
40.6   -  

               
-    -  

               
-   

Acquisitions (in €m) 
          

54.8  
        

778.0   -  
               

-    -  
          

11.2   -  
            

1.7  

NIY**  5.5% 5.8% 5.7% 5.9% 4.9% 4.7% 5.1% 5.4% 

EPRA NIY** 5.2% 5.6% 5.6% 5.6% 4.8% 4.7% 4.7% 5.0% 

                  

Number of shopping centres 18   7   1   6   

Number of offices     4* 
 

  
 

    

m2 shops 
   

436,472       166,507    
   

103,700    
   

208,300    

Retail units 
        

1.310               538    
           

174    
           

550    

Tenants 
        

1.187               486    
           

160    
           

435    

Employees 
          

59.5              54.0    
          

17.8    
          

53.0    

Tenant mix %   %   %   %   

Department & variety stores 1   -   25   5   

Fashion & accessoires 26   35   25   33   

Food 20   19   6   13   

Health & beauty 8   6   3   5   

Homeware & household 15   8   6   2   

Leisure  -    -   2   22   

Multimedia, electronics & special goods 13   11   5   4   

Restaurant & cafe 6   8   7   9   

Services 5   3   15   1   

Shoe & leatherware 5   6   1   2   

Sport 2   4   5   4   

*of which one sold effectively February 2018                 
**As defined in the section entitled ‘APM’s’ included on 
page 134-136 of the Issuer’s annual report 2016         
*** growth in net rental income on properties and units 
owned throughout the current and previous period under 
review. Like-for-like is calculated on a unit-by-unit basis.         
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The above figures have been compiled by Wereldhave and are unaudited. 

4.2 Recent developments 

Unless expressly indicated otherwise, the information below relates to recent developments until 31 
December 2016.  

Wereldhave delivered on its 2014 and 2015 acquisitions with a strong operational performance in 
2016. Gross rental income for 2016 amounted to € 230.2 million, an increase of 11 per cent. compared 
to 2015. The increase is mainly due to the acquisition of nine shopping centres in the Netherlands in 
2015, partly offset by the disposals of the French offices portfolio in 2016. The number of visitors in 
2016 amounted to 154.6 million (2015: 153.7 million).  

Overall occupancy of the shopping centres at the end of 2016 rose 170 bps to 95.5 per cent. (2015: 
93.8 per cent.). Occupancy improved in all countries, with an overall positive like-for-like rental 
growth of 1.0 per cent., which is 40 bps above indexation. Leasing activity was very high, with 
approximately 500 leases, rotations and renewals signed. In France, occupancy of the portfolio was 91 
per cent. when it was acquired in 2014. It improved to 94.4 per cent. by year-end 2016. In the 
Netherlands, the occupancy of the portfolio when it was acquired in 2015 was 91.4 per cent. and it rose 
to 94.8 per cent. at year-end 2016, in spite of frequent bankruptcies in the retail sector in this 15 
months’ timeframe.  

Composition of the portfolio 

There were no major changes to the portfolio in 2016. In Belgium, the Tournai retail park was 
completed during the first quarter of 2016 and transferred to the investment portfolio. The Madou 
office building in Brussels was sold on 29 December 2016 for € 16.4 million, with the condition that 
operational risk and reward until February 2018 will remain for Wereldhave Belgium.  

In the Netherlands, on 31 May 2016, Wereldhave acquired the former V&D department store in 
Tilburg, which is now leased to Hudson’s Bay Company, and scheduled for opening in August 2017. 
Together with other property owners but in a leading role, Wereldhave reached agreement with the city 
of Tilburg to revitalise the city centre, by changing the lay-out of the main shopping streets and 
creating a covered passage between the Pieter Vreedeplein, the Hudson’s Bay and the Emmapassage, 
leading towards a new Primark shop near the Emmapassage. The cinema at the Pieter Vreedeplein was 
sold to the tenant Pathé in September 2016. The proceeds of € 12 million were reinvested in Tilburg 
with the acquisition of a Hema store. Hema will open one of the three pilot flagship stores with their 
new format in the Netherlands. A shopping centre in Geldrop was sold, slightly below book-value, 
with closing early in December 2016. The total net proceeds of the disposals in the Netherlands 
amounted to € 24 million. In December 2016, Wereldhave purchased the leasehold of a plot of land for 
the extension of the Sterrenburg shopping centre in Dordrecht for a consideration of € 2.6 million. This 
will facilitate the extension of the food grocery offer by Jumbo and Lidl. During the first quarter of 
2017, agreement was reached on the sale of (i) the Stadshagen shopping centre in Zwolle and (ii) the 
Oosterheem shopping centre in Zoetermeer. Completion of both transactions is scheduled for the 
second quarter of 2017.  

Development pipeline  



 

 

 87  

For any new development Wereldhave requires a 70 per cent. preletting and a short lead time to 
become yielding. The committed development pipeline currently consists of four projects in the 
Netherlands, one in Belgium, one in Finland and one in France. The total value of the development 
pipeline as at 31 December 2016, amounted to € 187 million.  

4.2.1. The Netherlands 

• In Capelle aan den IJssel, works for the renovation of the middle part of the shopping centre 
in De Koperwiek started in December 2016 and in the first months of 2017, continued with 
the second phase of the refurbishment.  

• In Tilburg, the construction of the Hudson’s Bay started in October 2016 and the department 
store is planned to open its doors in the third quarter of 2017.  

• In Maassluis, the zoning plan for the expansion of the Koningshoek shopping centre with 
5,000m² was approved. Works started in November 2016 and is progressing.  

• In Arnhem, the redevelopment of the Presikhaaf shopping centre was completed early 2017.  
A food court was created, several retail unites were upgraded and new leases were signed 
with various tenants.  

• Plans for the extension of the Leiderdorp shopping centre Winkelhof have been put on hold as 
current prospected yields of the extension plans are below requirements.  

• The extension of the Sterrenburg shopping centre in Dordrecht is still in the preparatory 
stages of development and not yet committed. Wereldhave identified at least € 10 million land 
banking positions in the Dutch portfolio to be sold, where other use will generate higher 
returns than retail.  

4.2.2. Belgium 

In Belgium, works for the construction of a parking garage as the kick-off for the renovation of the Les 
Bastions shopping centre are proceeding as planned. The development in Waterloo is still in discussion 
with the municipality and no permit request has been filed yet. In Liege, a permit was obtained for the 
extension of the Belle-Ile shopping centre with 9,000m². Works will commence when a preletting of at 

least 70 per cent. has been achieved. This development project is not yet committed.  

4.2.3. France 

In France, the committed development pipeline consists amongst others of the Primark for Docks 
Vauban in Le Havre. The improvement of the inner climate in Docks Vauban by creating sliding doors 
and tourniquets was completed in 2016 and the first reactions are very positive. Furthermore, a part of 
the Saint Sever shopping centre in Rouen is being redeveloped, requiring an investment of €22 million. 
As part of this investment, €14 million is used to upgrade the entrance to the shopping centre, whilst 

€8 million is invested in refurbishments of other parts of the shopping centre. 

4.2.4. Finland 

In Finland, the former Anttila department store will be demolished for the construction of a Finnkino 
9-screen cinema in the heart of the Itis shopping centre. This € 20 million development project kicked 
off in January 2017, with the largest demolition work to be executed in July 2017. Tendering for the 
main contractor started in April 2017 and completion is scheduled for the fourth quarter 2018. The 

yield on costs of this project is still under review and will be announced later this year.  
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As at 31 December 2016, the value of the total investment portfolio in operation amounted to € 3,701 million, 

of which 97 per cent. was shopping centres and 3 per cent. related to office properties in Belgium.  

The geographical distribution of the portfolio as a percentage of the total portfolio is: Finland: 15 per cent., 

the Netherlands: 40 per cent., France: 24 per cent. and Belgium: 21 per cent. 

5 Accounting principles for investment properties in operation 

Investment properties in operation are those properties which are held either to earn rental income, for capital 
appreciation or both. On acquisition, investment properties in operation are initially recognised at cost 
including transaction cost. Investment properties in operation are subsequently stated at fair value at the 
balance sheet date. The fair values are based on the estimated amount for which a property could be 
exchanged on the date of valuation in an at arm’s length transaction. 

Fair value is based on the capitalisation of market rents less operating costs, such as cost of maintenance, 
insurance and expenses. The net capitalisation factor and the present value of the differences between market 
rent and contracted rent, of vacancies and of maintenance expenditure to be taken into account are calculated 
for each property separately. After acquisition subsequent expenditure is added to the asset’s carrying amount 
when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and the cost of the expenditure can be 
measured reliably. All other expenditures, such as repairs and maintenance, are charged to the income 
statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Investments for which the land has been acquired by means of an operational lease (ground rent agreement), 
are valued in accordance with the fair value method classifying operational leases as an investment property. 
The investment property valuation will include, as a deduction, the present value of the ground rent payments 
to be made. For accounting purposes ground rents are accounted for as financial leases, adding the fair value 
of these lease liabilities back to the investment property value. At the same time the lease liabilities are 
recorded at the lower of fair value of the liability or discounted minimal lease payments with subsequent 
measurement at amortised cost. 

The fair value of the portfolio is valued twice a year by independent external valuers with the relevant 
qualification and experience in the location and category of the investment property being valued. All 
properties are internally valued at fair value at the end of every quarter. Valuation differences and results on 
disposals are recognised in the income statement. Investment properties under redevelopment continue to be 
classified as investment properties. Properties in own use are classified under property and equipment and its 
fair value at the date of reclassification is considered to be its cost for depreciation purposes of property in 
own use. When properties are sold the difference between the net proceeds and book value are accounted for 
in the income statement under results on disposals. 

6 Accounting principles for investment properties under construction 

Property that is being constructed or developed for future use as investment property in operation is classified 
as subcategory investment property under construction (“IPUC”). IPUC projects are initially valued at 
historical cost, and are subsequently valued at fair value. Fair value measurement on IPUC is only applied for 
if the fair value is considered to be reliable measurable. 
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Cost includes the (estimated) works performed, the costs of staff directly related to technical supervision, 
project management on the basis of time spent and capitalised interest costs on the basis of amounts spent and 
the effective interest up to the date of completion. 

Fair value changes and impairment losses are recognised in the income statement as valuation result. IPUC’s 
are transferred to investment properties on the date of technical completion. 

7 Litigation  

As part of the Group’s property portfolio in France, the Group operates the shopping centre known as ‘Docks 
Vauban’ in Le Havre. A building permit, including a commercial operation permit (authorisation 
d’exploitation commerciale) (together, the “Permit”) in relation to the shopping centre was obtained by the 
Group on 30 September 2016. On the basis of the Permit, a tenant has been developing a shop in the shopping 
centre which is scheduled to open its doors during the last quarter of 2017. The grant of the Permit has been 
challenged by legal proceedings by an association representing professionals that operate businesses within 
the boundaries of the Docks Vauban customer catchment area. The Group and the tenant have agreed that if 
the Permit is withdrawn as a result of which the tenant needs to close its store, the Group will compensate the 
tenant for damages it has incurred as a result of the withdrawal of the Permit. The amount of the 
compensation is limited to a maximum amount, which, if required to be paid by the Group to the tenant, 
would have a significant effect on the Group’s financial position. However, the Group considers the risk of 
success of the challenge by the association to be small and accordingly is of the view that any impact to the 
Group’s financial position as a result of such challenge is remote. This view is supported by a legal opinion 
the Group has obtained from its French legal advisers, which concludes that the claim should not lead to the 
nullification of the relevant Permit. On this basis, the Group has not made a provision for the potential 
financial consequences for the Group as a result of the claim being successful. Further, on the basis of the 
opinion, the Group understands that a judgment from the relevant court can be expected before the third 
trimester of 2017, which judgment will be subject to appeal. 

8 Material Contracts 

There are no material contracts entered into other than in the ordinary course of the Issuer’s or any 
Guarantor’s business, which could result in any member of the Group being under an obligation or 
entitlement that is material to the Issuer’s or any Guarantor’s ability to meet its obligations to Noteholders in 
respect of any Notes issued pursuant to the Programme. 

9 Principal shareholders and subsidiaries 

The current authorised share capital of the Issuer under its Articles of Association amounts to €150,000,000 
and is divided into 75,000,000 ordinary shares and 75,000,000 protective preference shares, all with a 
nominal value of €1 each. 

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Issuer’s issued share capital amounts to €40,270,921 and is divided into 
40,270,921 ordinary shares. 

Currently, no ordinary shares are held by the Issuer and/or its subsidiaries, other than ordinary shares to be 
used as part of the remuneration of its employees / directors. All ordinary shares that are outstanding as of the 
date of this Prospectus are fully paid-up. 
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The Issuer’s shares are held by both institutional and retail investors in the Netherlands and abroad. At the 
date of this Prospectus, major shareholders are BlackRock, Inc., Prudential Plc. and Skandinaviska Enskilda 
Banken AB. Based on Dutch legislation, the holder of a substantial holding or gross short position that equals 
or exceeds 3 per cent. of the issued capital of an issuer, should notify the AFM. These notifications are 
subsequently included in a public register kept by the AFM. 

The free float for the ordinary shares amounts to 100 per cent. The net asset value per share before 
distribution of profits amounted to EUR 49.16  as at 2016 (2015: EUR 50.05). 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Issuer had shareholdings in the following companies: 

Subsidiary Country of incorporation % directly  % indirectly  

West World Holding N.V. Netherlands 100.00   

Wereldhave International N.V. Netherlands 100.00   

Wereldhave Nederland B.V. Netherlands    100.00  

Wereldhave Development B.V. Netherlands 100.00   

Relovast B.V. Netherlands 100.00   

Relovast II B.V. Netherlands 100.00   

Relovast IV B.V. Netherlands 100.00   

Relovast V B.V. Netherlands    100.00  

Relovast VI B.V. Netherlands    100.00  

Royalton Real Estate B.V. Netherlands    100.00  

Royalton Square B.V. Netherlands    100.00  

Royalton Hill B.V. Netherlands    100.00  

WH Tilburg Zuid (Heuvelstraat) B.V. Netherlands    100.00  

Wereldhave Management Holding B.V. Netherlands 100.00   

Wereldhave Management Nederland B.V. Netherlands    100.00  

Ilôt Kleber SAS France 100.00   

Espace Saint Denis SAS France 100.00   

NODA SAS France 100.00   

Wereldhave Retail France SAS France 100.00   
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Urba Green SAS France    100.00  

SCI Bordeau Bonnac France 0.01    99.99  

SCI du CC Bordeax Prefecture France 0.01    99.99  

SNC Les Docks de Rouen France 0.01    99.99  

SNS Les Passages de l'Etoile France 0.01    99.99  

SNC Marceau Côté Seine France 0.01   99.99  

SNC Elysees Vauban France 0.01    99.99  

SCI due CC Rouen Saint Sever France 0.01    99.99  

SNC Cegep et Compagnie France 0.01    99.99  

SCI des Bureaux Rouen Bretagne France 0.01    99.99  

SCI Rouen Verrerie France 0.01    99.99  

SCI Fonciere Marceau Saint Sever France 0.01    99.99  

Wereldhave Management France SAS France    100.00  

Itäkeskus Holding Oy Finland 100.00   

Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus Oy Finland    100.00  

Wereldhave Finland Oy Finland 100.00   

Wereldhave Belgium Belgium 36.38    33.19  

NV J-II SA Belgium 99.84    0.16  

NV Wereldhave Belgium SA Belgium    100.00  

Immo Guwy NV Belgium    100.00  

Waterloo Shopping BVBA Belgium    100.00  

WBPM N.V. Belgium    100.00  

NV Wereldhave Management Belgium SA Belgium    100.00  

NV Wereldhave Belgium Services SA Belgium    100.00  

Espamad SLU Spain 100.00    
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10 Management and employees 

10.1 Overview 

Wereldhave has a two tier board structure. The members of the Board of Management are responsible 
for the day-to-day operations of the Group. The role of the Supervisory Board is to supervise the 
strategy and the business of the Group, as well as to support the Board of Management by providing 

advice.  

All members of the Supervisory Board are fully independent from the Issuer and the Board of 

Management. The Supervisory Board currently consists of five members. 

The Supervisory Board has two standing committees, an Audit Committee and a Remuneration- and 
Nomination Committee. The Supervisory Board consists of Adriaan Nühn, Hein Brand, Herman van 

Everdingen, Gert Weerdhof and Leen Geirnaerdt.  

The Audit Committee is chaired by Leen Geirnaerdt, Herman van Everdingen is the other committee 
member. The Remuneration- and Nomination Committee is chaired by Gert van de Weerdhof. The 
other committee member is not yet elected by the Supervisory Board.  

The Board of Management is responsible for the management of the Issuer and for establishing and 
executing the overall strategy of Wereldhave. The Board of Management is required to keep the 
Supervisory Board informed, to consult with the Supervisory Board regarding important matters and to 
submit certain important decisions to the Supervisory Board for its prior approval. 

The Issuer’s Board of Management currently consists of two members. 

10.2 Supervisory Board 

A. Nühn 

(m, 1953) 

 

Appointed as Member of the 
Supervisory Board and 
subsequently elected Chairman of 
the Supervisory Board in 2017 for 
a period of four years.  

Positions in Supervisory Boards: 

Chairman Non-Executive Board 
Takeaway.com 
Non-Executive Member of the 
Board, Cloetta AB Sweden 

Non-Executive Member of the 
Board, Anglovaal Industries Ltd. 
(AVI) South Africa 

 

Other Board positions: 

none 

   

G. van de Weerdhof  
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(m, 1966) 

Member of the Supervisory Board 
since 2016. Chairman of the 
Remuneration- and Nomination 
Committee since 2016. Retires by 
rotation in 2020. 

Positions in Supervisory Boards: 

Member Supervisory Board Sligro 
Food Group N.V. 

 

Other Board positions: 

none 

H.J. van Everdingen 

(m, 1955) 

 

Member of the Supervisory Board 
since 2011. Reappointed in 2015 
until 2019. Chairman of the Audit 
committee since 2016. 

Positions in Supervisory Boards: 

none 

Other Board positions: 

Director Catalyst Advisors B.V. 

Director Berlage Winkelfonds 
Duitsland 

Board Member Karel Doorman 
Foundation 

H. Brand 

(m, 1955) 

 

Appointed as Member of the 
Supervisory Board in 2017 until 
2021.  

Positions in Supervisory Boards: 

Member Supervisory Board 
Syntrus Achmea Real Estate & 
Finance 

Member Supervisory Board Cocon 
Vastgoed B.V 
 

Other Board positions: 

Member Advisory Board Property 
NL 

 

  

L. Geirnaerdt  

(f, 1974) 

 

Member of the Supervisory Board 
since 2016. Chairman of the Audit 
committee since 2016. Retires by 
rotation in 2020.  

Positions in Supervisory Boards: 

Member Supervisory Board CFE 
(Belgium) and member Audit 
Committee. 

Other Board positions: 

CFO USG People N.V. 
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10.3 Board of Management 

Dirk Anbeek 

(m, 1963) 

Appointed in June 2009. Reappointed in 2013 until 
2017 and subsequently reappointed in 2017 for a 
period of four years 

DSM, several financial positions 1988-1994 

Pricewaterhouse, Senior Consultant 1994-1995 

Ahold, several international management positions 
1996-2005 

Albert Heijn, Director Franchise & Real Estate 2006-
2009 

Wereldhave, Managing Director as of 1 June 2009 

Robert Bolier  

(m, 1961) 

Appointed CFO ad interim per April 2014. 
Appointed CFO in September 2014 until 2018 

Blue Circle Home Product, 1994-1995 

Thermopanel Group, 1995-1998 

Assa Abloy AB, 1998-2006 

Meretec Ltd., 2007-2008 

Several Consultancy, 2008 

Atrium European Real Estate, 2009-2012 

Warburg Pincus, 2011-2013 

Wereldhave, CFO ad interim per April 2014 and 
appointed CFO in September 2014 until 2018 

 

10.4 Share ownership 

Each of Messrs Anbeek and Bolier own shares or options in the Issuer. On 31 December 2016, Mr 
Anbeek owned 20,159 ordinary shares in the Issuer and Mr Bolier owned 11,810 ordinary shares in the 
Issuer. None of the members of the Supervisory Board owns shares or options in the Issuer. 

10.5 Share option plans 

During the Issuer’s General Meeting of Shareholders of 24 April 2015, the shareholders agreed to a 
new remuneration report. According to this remuneration report, the short term bonus for directors can 
be paid in cash only. The long term bonus can be paid in shares only. 

10.6 Loans to members of the Board of Management and Supervisory Board 
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There are currently no outstanding loans from the Issuer to members of the Board of Management or 
the Supervisory Board. 

10.7 No conflicts of interest 

No potential conflicts of interest exist between the duties of the members of the Board of Management 
or the members of the Supervisory Board to the Issuer and their private interests or other duties. 

10.8 Business address 

The business address of the members Board of Management and the Supervisory Board is Schiphol 
Boulevard 223, WTC Schiphol, Tower A, 3rd floor, 1118 BH Schiphol, the Netherlands. 

11 Corporate Structure and Corporate Governance 

The description set forth below is a summary of material information regarding certain provisions of the 
Issuer’s Articles of Association. This summary does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety 
by reference to the full Articles of Association. The full text of the articles of association is available on the 
Issuer’s website (www.wereldhave.com) under the section ‘Corporate Governance’. 

11.1 Incorporation, legal form and amendments to the Articles of Association 

The Issuer was incorporated on 30 May 1930 pursuant to the execution of a notarial deed before 
Robbert Louis Verhey, the Netherlands, as a public company with limited liability (naamloze 

vennootschap). The Issuer’s legal and commercial name is Wereldhave N.V. The Issuer has its 
statutory seat (statutaire zetel) in the municipality of Haarlemmermeer (Schiphol), the Netherlands, 
and its registered office is at Schiphol Boulevard 233, WTC Schiphol, Tower A, 3rd floor, 1118 BH 
Schiphol, the Netherlands. The principal legislation under which the Issuer operates, and under which 
the protective preference shares and the ordinary shares (together the “Shares”) were created, is the 
laws of the Netherlands. The Issuer is registered with the Trade Register under number 27083420. The 
Issuer’s telephone number is +31 (0) 20 702 7800. 

As a fiscal investment institution (fiscale beleggingsinstelling) within the meaning of Section 28 of the 
Corporation Tax Act 1969 (Wet op de vennootschapsbelasting 1969), the Issuer is subject to 0 per cent. 
Dutch corporation tax. 

11.2 Financial year, auditors and reporting 

Pursuant to its articles of association, the Issuer’s financial year runs from 1 January to 31 December. 
Until the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the Issuer’s auditors were PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Accountants N.V. Due to mandatory audit firm rotation requirements in the Netherlands, the general 
meeting of shareholders of the Issuer appointed KPMG Accountants N.V. as its new independent 
auditor with effect from 1 January 2016. For the financial year ended 31 December 2016, KPMG 
Accountants N.V. issued an unqualified independent auditor’s report on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Issuer.  

The Wft requires the Issuer, as a listed company on Euronext Amsterdam, to publish its annual 
accounts within four months of the end of the financial year on its website, (www.wereldhave.com), 
and its semi-annual accounts within three months after the end of the first half of the financial year. 
The annual accounts must also be filed with the Chamber of Commerce and Industry. 
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The Issuer generally publishes an annual report in March. The final figures for the full year, the first 
quarter, the first half year and the first three quarters are published via a press release and 
simultaneously posted on the Issuer’s website, www.wereldhave.com. 

Additional interim announcements are made if the Board of Management considers this to be 
warranted by developments internal or external to the Issuer. 

11.3 Corporate Governance 

The Dutch Corporate Governance Code (Nederlandse Corporate Governance Code) of 9 December 
2003, as amended on 8 December 2016 (the “Dutch Corporate Governance Code”), contains both 
principles and best practice provisions for listed companies in respect of their managing boards, 
supervisory boards, shareholders and the general meeting of shareholders, financial reporting, auditors, 
disclosure, compliance and enforcement standards. The Dutch Corporate Governance Code applies to 
all Dutch companies listed on a regulated market or a comparable system in a non-European Economic 
Area member state. The Dutch Corporate Governance Code is based on a “comply or explain” 
principle, meaning that the Issuer will be required to disclose in its annual reports filed in the 
Netherlands whether or not it is in compliance with the various best practice provisions of the Dutch 
Corporate Governance Code and, in the event that the Issuer does not apply a certain provision(s), to 
explain the reason for such deviation in its annual report. 

The Issuer acknowledges the importance of good corporate governance. The Issuer fully endorses the 
underlying principles of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code and applies the Dutch Corporate 
Governance Code as the guiding principles for its corporate governance policy.  

11.4 Board of Management 

The Articles of Association provide that the members of the Board of Management are appointed by 
the General Meeting, upon a nomination submitted by the Supervisory Board. The General Meeting 
can reject the nominated candidate by a resolution adopted by an absolute majority of the votes cast, 
representing more than one-third of the Issuer’s issued share capital. If the General Meeting resolves to 
reject the first candidate submitted by the Supervisory Board, the Supervisory Board shall be entitled 
to nominate new candidate(s), which nomination(s) may not include the first candidate nominated. The 
new candidate(s) can be rejected by a resolution of the General Meeting adopted by an absolute 
majority of the votes cast, representing more than one-third of the Issuer’s issued share capital. The 
General Meeting may also nominate candidates for the Board of Management, in which case the 
nominated candidate may only be appointed by a resolution of the General Meeting adopted by two-
thirds of the votes cast, representing more than half of the Issuer’s issued capital. If no nomination has 
been prepared and submitted by the Supervisory Board within three months after the occurrence of a 
vacancy to be filled, or within three months after an earlier nomination has not led to an appointment, 
the General Meeting is free in its appointment of members of the Board of Management. 

The members of the Board of Management can be suspended or dismissed at all times by the General 
Meeting. Members of the Board of Management appointed following a nomination of the Supervisory 
Board, can, other than with the permission of the Supervisory Board, only be suspended or dismissed 
by resolution of the General Meeting adopted by two-thirds of the votes cast, representing more than 
half of the Issuer’s issued share capital. The Supervisory Board is also entitled to suspend members of 
the Board of Management for a period not longer than three months, which suspension shall 



 

 

 97  

automatically terminate if no decision has been taken regarding cancelling the suspension or dismissal 
by the General Meeting. 

The members of the Board of Management are appointed for a maximum term of four years and, 
unless such member of the Board of Management resigns earlier, his or her appointment shall end on 
the day of the first annual General Meeting to be held four years after his or her appointment. A 
member of the Board of Management shall retire in any event in the first annual General Meeting, 
following his or her having reached the age of sixty-five. 

The Board of Management as a whole, as well as a member of the Board of Management acting solely, 
is authorised to represent the Issuer. 

In the event that one or more members of the Board of Management are absent or prevented from 
discharging their duty, the remaining member(s) of the Board of Management is or are temporarily 
charged with the entire management of the Issuer. In the case of absence or prevention of all members 
of the Board of Management, the Supervisory Board is temporarily charged with the management. In 
such event, the Supervisory Board is authorised to instruct one or more other individuals to 
temporarily perform the management of the Issuer, with the possibility to appoint such person from 
among its own members. 

11.5 Supervisory Board 

The Articles of Association provide that the number of members of the Supervisory Board will be 
determined by the Supervisory Board and will consist of a minimum of three members. Only natural 
persons can be members of the Supervisory Board. 

The Articles of Association provide that the members of the Supervisory Board are appointed by the 
General Meeting upon a nomination by the Supervisory Board or the General Meeting. In case of a 
nomination by the Supervisory Board, the General Meeting can reject the nominated candidate by a 
resolution adopted by an absolute majority of the votes cast, representing more than one-third of the 
Issuer’s issued share capital. If the General Meeting resolves to reject the first candidate submitted by 
the Supervisory Board, the Supervisory Board shall be entitled to nominate new candidate(s), which 
nomination(s) may not include the first candidate nominated. The new candidate(s) can also be 
rejected by a resolution of the General Meeting adopted by an absolute majority of the votes cast, 
representing more than one-third of the Issuer’s issued share capital. The General Meeting may also 
nominate candidates for the Supervisory Board, in which case the nominated candidate may only be 
appointed by a resolution of the General Meeting adopted by two-thirds of the votes cast, representing 
more than half of the Issuer’s issued share capital. If no nomination has been prepared and submitted 
by the Supervisory Board within three months after the occurrence of a vacancy to be filled, or within 
three months after an earlier nomination has not led to an appointment, the General Meeting is free in 
its appointment of members of the Supervisory Board. 

The members of the Supervisory Board can be suspended or dismissed at all times by the General 
Meeting. Members of the Supervisory Board appointed following a nomination of the Supervisory 
Board, can, other than with the permission of the Supervisory Board, only be suspended or dismissed 
by resolution of the General Meeting adopted by two-thirds of the votes cast, representing more than 
half of the Issuer’s issued share capital. 
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The members of the Supervisory Board are appointed for a maximum term of four years and, unless 
such member resigns earlier, his or her appointment shall end on the day of the first annual General 
Meeting to be held four years after his or her appointment. The Supervisory Board has prepared a 
profile (profielschets) of its size and composition, which takes into account the character of the Issuer’s 
business, activities and the desired expertise and background of the members of the Supervisory 
Board. With respect to each appointment of a member of the Supervisory Board, the profile must be 
taken into account. The members of the Supervisory Board will retire periodically in accordance with a 
rotation plan to be prepared by the Supervisory Board. A retiring member of the Supervisory Board 
will be eligible for reappointment immediately, provided that none of the members may be appointed 
after the second term of office of four years or after having been in office for eight years. 

11.6 General Meeting of Shareholders 

The General Meeting of Shareholders is usually held in April of each year. Requests from investors 
who solely or jointly represent 1 per cent. of the issued capital to have items placed on the agenda of 
the General Meeting of Shareholders shall be honoured if such requests are submitted to the Board of 
Management or the Supervisory Board at least 60 days before the scheduled date of the meeting, 
unless the Supervisory Board and the Board of Management deem that it is against the company’s 
interests to include the item on the agenda as there are vital interests of the company opposing the 
inclusion of such item or items in the agenda. The resulting discussion in the General Meeting of 
Shareholders should not affect the overall course of the meeting. The secretary of the company will 
take minutes of the proceedings at the meeting. The minutes will be signed by the Chairman of the 
Meeting and the secretary. In principle, the minutes should be published on the Wereldhave website 
less than a month after the meeting and copies of the minutes are made available free of charge. 

11.7 Legal and Arbitration Proceedings 

Save as disclosed herein in the paragraph above headed Litigation on page 89 of this Prospectus, there 

are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings, (including any such proceedings which are 
pending or threatened, of which the Issuer is aware), which may have, or have had during the 12 
months prior to the date of this Prospectus, a significant effect on the financial position or profitability 

of the Issuer and its subsidiaries. 

11.8 Significant/Material Change 

Since 31 December 2016, there has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer and 
its subsidiaries nor any significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer and its 

subsidiaries. 
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BUSINESS DESCRIPTION OF N.V. WERELDHAVE INTERNATION AL 

1 Overview 

Wereldhave International is a public limited liability company incorporated on 8 July 1970 in The 
Netherlands, with its registered and trading address at Schiphol Boulevard 233, WTC Schiphol, Tower A, 3rd 
Floor, 1118 BH Schiphol, The Netherlands and registered with the Dutch Chamber of Commerce under 
number 27092175.  

Wereldhave International is a 100 per cent. subsidiary of the Issuer. It is a holding company within the Group 
structure, which was used for several international participations of the Group. Nowadays, the activities of 
Wereldhave International are limited to the Netherlands, with a 100 per cent. stake in Wereldhave Nederland 
B.V., and Belgium, with a 33.19 per cent. stake in Wereldhave Belgium and a 99.96 per cent. stake in NV 
Wereldhave Belgium SA. Wereldhave Belgium is the Group’s property company in Belgium, in which the 
Issuer holds another 36.38 per cent. of the shares in issue. The remainder of the shares of Wereldhave 
Belgium is held by third parties. The shares of Wereldhave Belgium are listed on the Brussels stock exchange. 
NV Wereldhave Belgium SA is the operating company (Zaakvoerder) of Wereldhave Belgium. 

2 Directors 

Directors Position 

Dirk Jan Anbeek Director 

Robert Jan Bolier Director 

 

There are no potential conflicts of interest between the duties of the directors to Wereldhave International and 
their private interests and/or duties.  

The business address of the directors is Schiphol Boulevard 233, WTC Schiphol, Tower A, 3rd Floor, 1118 
BH Schiphol, The Netherlands. 

3 403-statements 

The Issuer has issued a statement that it is jointly and severally liable with Wereldhave International for the 
debts of Wereldhave International, which is in the form of a declaration in terms of Article 2:403 and 
following of the Dutch Civil Code (a “403 Statement”). Copies of the 403 Statement can be obtained from the 
Commercial Register of the Chamber of Commerce. The 403 Statement is based on the Dutch company law 
provisions designed to enable subsidiaries of parent companies which publish consolidated annual accounts to 
obtain an exemption from the requirements to separately publish their own annual accounts. One of the 
conditions for obtaining such exemption is that a 403 Statement is issued by the parent company and 
deposited with the Commercial Register of the Chamber of Commerce. The statutory provisions relating to 
403 Statements are contained in Article 2:403 and following of the Dutch Civil Code. A 403 Statement is an 
unqualified statement by the parent company that the parent company is jointly and severally liable with the 
subsidiary for the debts of the subsidiary. The 403 Statement set out above constitutes the legal, valid and 
binding obligation of the Issuer, enforceable in accordance with its terms. Thus, the effect of the issue and 
deposit by the Issuer of its 403 Statement is that the Issuer and Wereldhave International have become jointly 
and severally liable for all debts of Wereldhave International arising from transactions entered into by 



 

 

 100  

Wereldhave International after the date of the deposit. The liability of the Issuer under the 403 Statement is 
unconditional and not limited in amount, nor is it limited to certain specific types of debt. 

4 Financial debt position 

As at 31 December 2016, Wereldhave International did not have any interest-bearing financial indebtedness 
outstanding other than intercompany debt in an amount of EUR 103,000,000 provided by the Issuer under an 
intercompany loan. The obligations of Wereldhave International under this intercompany loan are 
unsubordinated and unsecured and rank pari passu with the obligations of Wereldhave International under the 
Guarantee. It is the Group’s policy for the Guarantors (including Wereldhave International) not to raise any 

external debt.  

5 Other guarantees 

In addition to being a Guarantor under the Programme, Wereldhave International has also guaranteed the 
obligations of the Issuer under (i) a EUR 300,000,000 revolving credit facility dated 6 February 2017, under 
which an amount of EUR 191,000,000 was outstanding as at 28 April 2017, (ii) a EUR 100,000,000 term loan 
facility dated 27 January 2016, which has been fully drawn, (iii) a EUR 75,000,000 term loan facility dated 7 
September 2015, which has been fully drawn, and (iv) various US private placements (which US private 
placements have an aggregate value, as at 31 December 2016, of EUR 770,856,700). As at 31 December 
2016, the weighted average duration of the obligations of Wereldhave International under these guarantees is 
6 years. 

6 Cash 

As at 31 December 2016, Wereldhave International had an amount of EUR 10,275,525 of cash available to it.  

7 Equity 

As at 31 December 2016, the equity value of Wereldhave International, calculated in accordance with IFRS 
and before distribution of result, was EUR 768,655,915 being 36 per cent. of the total equity value of the 

Group on 31 December 2016.  

 
The financial information included in this business description of Wereldhave International has been compiled 

by Wereldhave and is unaudited. 
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BUSINESS DESCRIPTION OF WERELDHAVE NEDERLAND B.V. 

1 Overview 

Wereldhave Nederland is a private limited liability company incorporated on 26 January 1973 in The 
Netherlands, with its registered and trading address at Schiphol Boulevard 233, WTC Schiphol, Tower A, 3rd 
Floor, 1118 BH Schiphol, The Netherlands and registered with the Dutch Chamber of Commerce under 

number 27088985. 

Wereldhave Nederland B.V. is a 100 per cent. subsidiary of Wereldhave International, and so is indirectly 

wholly owned by the Issuer. 

Wereldhave Nederland is the owner of the entire Dutch property portfolio of Wereldhave. All assets are held 
directly, with the exception of the recent property acquisitions in Tilburg in 2016 (Hudson’s Bay and Hema), 

which are held indirectly through 100 per cent. subsidiaries of Wereldhave Nederland. 

Wereldhave Nederland does not employ staff. Wereldhave Management Nederland B.V. is the Group’s asset 
management company and employer of staff in the Netherlands for the Dutch portfolio. Wereldhave 
Management Nederland B.V. is a 100 per cent. subsidiary of Wereldhave Management Holding B.V., the 
employer for all holding activities of the Group. Wereldhave Management Holding B.V. is a 100 per cent. 

subsidiary of the Issuer. 

2 Directors 

Directors Position 

Dirk Jan Anbeek Director 

Robert Jan Bolier Director 

 

There are no potential conflicts of interest between the duties of the directors of Wereldhave Nederland and 

their private interests and/or duties.  

The business address of the directors is Schiphol Boulevard 233, WTC Schiphol, Tower A, 3rd Floor, 1118 

BH Schiphol, The Netherlands.  

3 403-statements 

The Issuer has issued a statement that it is jointly and severally liable with Wereldhave Nederland for the 
debts of Wereldhave Nederland, which is in the form of a declaration in terms of Article 2:403 and following 
of the Dutch Civil Code. Copies of the 403 Statement can be obtained from the Commercial Register of the 
Chamber of Commerce. The 403 Statement is based on the Dutch company law provisions designed to enable 
subsidiaries of parent companies which publish consolidated annual accounts to obtain an exemption from the 
requirements to separately publish their own annual accounts. One of the conditions for obtaining such 
exemption is that a 403 Statement is issued by the parent company and deposited with the Commercial 
Register of the Chamber of Commerce. The statutory provisions relating to 403 Statements are contained in 
Article 2:403 and following of the Dutch Civil Code. A 403 Statement is an unqualified statement by the 
parent company that the parent company is jointly and severally liable with the subsidiary for the debts of the 
subsidiary. The 403 Statement set out above constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Issuer, 
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enforceable in accordance with its terms. Thus, the effect of the issue and deposit by the Issuer of its 403 
Statement is that the Issuer and Wereldhave Nederland have become jointly and severally liable for all debts 
of Wereldhave Nederland arising from transactions entered into by Wereldhave Nederland after the date of the 
deposit. The liability of the Issuer under the 403 Statement is unconditional and not limited in amount, nor is 
it limited to certain specific types of debt.. 

4 Financial debt position 

As at 31 December 2016, Wereldhave Nederland did not have any interest-bearing financial indebtedness 
outstanding other than intercompany debt in an amount of (i) EUR 640,000,000 provided by the Issuer, (ii) 
EUR 55,000,000 provided by Wereldhave Management Holding B.V. (a 100 per cent. subsidiary of the Issuer) 
and (iii) EUR 65,000,000 provided by Wereldhave Management Nederland B.V. (a 100 per cent. subsidiary of 
the Issuer), under intercompany loans. The obligations of Wereldhave Nederland under these intercompany 
loans are unsubordinated and unsecured and rank pari passu with the obligations of Wereldhave Nederland 
under the Guarantee. It is the Group’s policy for the Guarantors (including Wereldhave Nederland) not to 

raise any external debt.  

5 Other guarantees 

In addition to being a Guarantor under the Programme, Wereldhave Nederland has also guaranteed the 
obligations of the Issuer under (i) a EUR 300,000,000 revolving credit facility dated 6 February 2017, under 
which an amount EUR 191,000,000 was outstanding as at 28 April 2017, (ii) a EUR 75,000,000 term loan 
facility dated 7 September 2015, which has been fully drawn, and (iii) various US private placements (which 
US private placements have an aggregate value, as at 31 December 2016, of EUR 770,856,700). As at 31 
December 2016, the weighted average duration of the obligations of the Wereldhave Nederland under these 

guarantees is 6 years. 

6 Cash 

As at 31 December 2016, Wereldhave Nederland had an amount of EUR 74,630,487 of cash available to it.  

7 Equity 

As at 31 December 2016, the equity value of Wereldhave Nederland, calculated in accordance with IFRS and 
before distribution of result,  was EUR 626,580,868 being 29 per cent. of the total equity value of the Group 

on 31 December 2016.  

 
The financial information included in this business description of Wereldhave Nederland has been compiled 

by Wereldhave and is unaudited. 
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BUSINESS DESCRIPTION OF ITÄKESKUS HOLDING OY 

Itäkeskus Holding is a limited liability company registered on 30 September 2011 in Finland, with its registered 
and trading address at Turunlinnantie 8, 4th floor, 00930 Helsinki, Finland and registered with the Finnish Trade 
Register under number 2410072-7. 

Itäkeskus Holding is a 100 per cent. subsidiary of the Issuer, its single asset being the shares in Kauppakeskus 
Itäkeskus Oy. Wereldhave Finland Oy is the Group’s asset management company and employer of staff in Finland 
and Itäkeskus Holding does not have any employees. 

 

Directors 

Itäkeskus Holding 

Directors Position 

Dirk Anbeek  Director 

Anne-Maria Hautala Director 

 

The business address of Dirk Anbeek is Schiphol Boulevard 233, WTC Schiphol, Tower A, 3rd Floor, 1118 BH 
Schiphol, the Netherlands and the business address of Anne-Maria Hautala is Turunlinnantie 8, 4th floor, 00930 
Helsinki, Finland. 

There are no potential conflicts of interest between the duties of the directors to Itäkeskus Holding and their private 
interests and/or duties.  
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BUSINESS DESCRIPTION OF KAUPPAKESKUS ITÄKESKUS OY 

Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus is a limited liability company registered on 24 August 1988 in Finland, with its registered 
and trading address at Turunlinnantie 8, 4th floor, 00930 Helsinki, Finland and registered with the Finnish Trade 
Register under number 0712236-9. Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus is a 100 per cent. subsidiary of Itäkeskus Holding, 
which is a 100 per cent. subsidiary of the Issuer. As such, Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus is indirectly wholly owned by 
the Issuer. Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus is a property company that owns the Itis shopping centre, a mutual real estate 
company according to Finnish law.  

The vast majority of real properties in Finland are owned indirectly through holding shares in a real estate company 
(“REC”) or a mutual real estate company (“MREC”). 

An REC is a Finnish limited liability company assets of which comprise mainly (i) freehold or leasehold of land 
and (ii) building(s) located thereon. Rental income is paid to the REC in its capacity as a landlord. 

An MREC is also a Finnish limited liability company shares of which entitle its shareholder(s) to possess a specific 
part of the building(s) and land area(s), as set forth in the MREC’s articles of association. Accordingly, as opposed 
to the REC structure, the shareholder(s) of an MREC are entitled to lease the premises under their respective 
possession and, consequently, the rental income is paid directly to the shareholders in their capacity as landlords 
(see structure chart below). 

The shares of an MREC carry rights to possess a specific space or area of the building or real estate owned by the 
MREC as stipulated in its articles of association. In contrast to MRECs, shares in a REC do not, according to their 
articles of association, provide such rights to possess a specific part or area of a building, but merely entitle the 
shareholder to an undivided proportional interest in the REC’s income. 

As the shareholders of an MREC own the shares of the company that entitle the possession of a certain specific 
space or area of the building, they can also execute the lease contracts and receive the rental income directly for the 
premises and areas possessed. Generally, an MREC does not aim to generate profit, and the profit is passed directly 
to the shareholders. 

An MREC is an independent legal entity with rights and obligations separate from the rights and obligations of its 
shareholders. The MREC is liable for all expenses relating to the property, including taxes, insurance premiums 
and maintenance costs, which it then passes on to its shareholders in the form of charges. The allocation of the 
charges is stipulated in the company’s articles of association, usually by allocating the charges among shareholders 
in proportion to the area or space of the building possessed through the shares. As with Finnish limited liability 
companies in general, MREC shareholders are not personally liable for the debts and obligations of an MREC, save 
for as provided under the articles of association. 

Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus holds the title to the entire freehold of the Itis shopping centre. The entire share capital of 
MREC Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus Oy is held by Itäkeskus Holding Oy. 

Directors 

Directors Position 

Dirk Anbeek  Director 

Anne-Maria Hautala Director 

The business address of Dirk Anbeek is Schiphol Boulevard 233, WTC Schiphol, Tower A, 3rd Floor, 1118 BH 
Schiphol, The Netherlands and the business address of Anne-Maria Hautala is Turunlinnantie 8, 4th floor, 00930 
Helsinki, Finland. 

There are no potential conflicts of interest between the duties of the directors to Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus and their 
private interests and/or duties.  
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TAXATION 

The Netherlands 

The following summary outlines certain Netherlands tax consequences to Noteholders in connection with the 
acquisition, ownership and disposal of the Notes. The summary does not purport to present any 
comprehensive or complete picture of all Netherlands tax aspects that could be of relevance to a (prospective) 
Noteholder who may be subject to special tax treatment. The summary is based on the current tax law and 
practice of the Netherlands as in effect on the date of this Prospectus, which is subject to changes that could 
prospectively or retrospectively affect the stated tax consequences. This summary assumes that each 
transaction with respect to the Notes is at arm’s length. Prospective Noteholders should consult their own 

professional advisors as to their tax position.  

Interest on the Notes 

Payments of interest on the Notes by the Issuer may be made without withholding or deduction of any taxes 
of whatever nature imposed, levied, withheld or assessed by the Netherlands or any political subdivision or 
taxing authority thereof or therein, provided that (i) the Notes have a maturity – legally and de facto - of less 
than 50 years and (ii) the Notes will not represent, be linked (to the performance of) or be convertible (in part 
or in whole) into (rights to purchase) (a) shares; (b) profit certificates (winstbewijzen); and/or (c) debt 

instruments having a maturity - legally or de facto - of more than 50 years, in each case issued by Issuer or 

any other entity related to Issuer. 

Payments in respect of the Guarantees 

Any payments in respect of the Guarantees may be made without withholding or deduction of any taxes of 
whatever nature imposed, levied, withheld or assessed by the Netherlands or any political subdivision or 

taxing authority thereof or therein 

Taxes on Income and Capital Gains 

A Noteholder will not be subject to any Netherlands taxes on income or capital gains in respect of the Notes, 
including such tax on any payment under the Notes or in respect of any gain realised on the disposal, deemed 

disposal or exchange of the Notes, provided that: 

(i) such holder is neither a resident nor deemed to be a resident of the Netherlands, Bonaire, Saint Eustatius 

or Saba; 

(ii)  such holder does not have an enterprise or an interest in an enterprise that is, in whole or in part, carried 
on through a permanent establishment or a permanent representative in the Netherlands, Bonaire, Saint 
Eustatius or Saba and to which enterprise or part of an enterprise, as the case may be, the Notes are 

attributable; and 

(iii)  if such holder is an individual, such income or capital gain does not form a “benefit from miscellaneous 
activities” in the Netherlands (resultaat uit overige werkzaamheden) which, for instance, would be the 
case if the activities in the Netherlands with respect to the Notes exceed “normal active asset 
management” (normaal, actief vermogensbeheer) or if income and gains are derived from the holding, 
whether directly or indirectly, of (a combination of) shares, debt claims or other rights (a “lucrative 
interest”; lucratief belang) that the holder thereof has acquired under such circumstances that such 
income and gains are intended to be remuneration for work or services performed by such holder (or a 
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related person) in the Netherlands, whether within or outside an employment relation, where such 
lucrative interest provides the holder thereof, economically speaking, with certain benefits that have a 

relation to the relevant work or services. 

Gift, Estate or Inheritance Taxes 

No gift, estate or inheritance taxes will arise in the Netherlands with respect to an acquisition or deemed 
acquisition of the Notes by way of a gift by, or on the death of, a holder who is neither resident nor deemed to 
be resident in the Netherlands for Netherlands inheritance and gift tax purposes, unless in the case of a gift of 
Notes by an individual who at the date of the gift was neither resident nor deemed to be resident in the 
Netherlands, such individual dies within 180 days after the date of the gift, while being resident or deemed to 

be resident in the Netherlands.  

For the purposes of Netherlands gift, estate and inheritance tax, a gift that is made under a condition precedent 
is deemed to be made at the moment such condition precedent is satisfied or, if earlier, the moment the donor 

dies.  

For purposes of Netherlands gift, estate and inheritance tax, an individual who holds the Netherlands 
nationality will be deemed to be resident in the Netherlands if he has been resident in the Netherlands at any 

time during the 10 years preceding the date of the gift or his death.  

For purposes of Netherlands gift tax, an individual not holding the Netherlands nationality will be deemed to 
be resident in the Netherlands if he has been resident in the Netherlands at any time during the 12 months 

preceding the date of the gift. 

Other Taxes and Duties 

There is no Netherlands registration tax, capital tax, stamp duty or any other similar tax or duty payable in the 
Netherlands by a holder of Notes in respect of or in connection with the execution, delivery and/or 
enforcement by legal proceedings (including any foreign judgment in the courts of the Netherlands) of the 
Notes or the performance of the obligations of the Issuer under the Notes or the Guarantors under the 

Guarantees. 

Finland 

The following summary does not purport to present any comprehensive or complete picture of all Finnish tax 
aspects that could be of relevance to a (prospective) Noteholder. The comments in this part are based on 
current Finnish tax law as applied in Finland and the Finnish Tax Administration’s practice (which are subject 
to changes that could prospectively or retrospectively affect the stated tax consequences and, concerning the 
Finnish Tax Administration’s practice, may not be binding on the Finnish Tax Administration). They assume 
that payments of interest on the Notes by the Issuer do not have a Finnish source and that payments are made 
to Finnish corporate entities and non-residents of Finland (not having a permanent establishment in Finland) 
(a “Non-Resident Investor”) only and in particular, that the Issuer is not a Finnish resident and does not act 
through a permanent establishment in Finland in relation to the Notes. This summary, furthermore, assumes 
that each transaction with respect to the Notes is at arm’s length. Prospective Noteholders should consult their 

own professional advisors as to their tax position. 

References in this part to “interest” shall mean amounts that are for the purposes of Finnish taxation treated as 
regular interest, qualifying for the relevant tax withholding exemptions set out in Section 9 of the Finnish 
Income Tax Act (1535/1992 as amended) or in Section 1 of the Tax Authorities’ Decision on Exceptions to 
Tax Withholding Obligations (1035/2016). The payer of payments in respect of the Guarantees is, to the 
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extent such payments have a Finnish source, obliged to ascertain that the recipient is a Non-Resident Investor, 
or a Finnish corporate entity, as the case may be. The recipient is in such case obliged to disclose its Non-
Resident Investor or Finnish corporate entity status to the payer.  If a recipient fails to provide such 
information, the Guarantor will be entitled to withhold or deduct amounts from a payment in respect of the 

Notes if it is required to do so under Finnish law. 

Interest on the Notes 

Payments of interest on the Notes by the Issuer may be made without withholding or deduction for or on 

account of Finnish income tax. 

Payments in respect of the Guarantees 

Any payments in respect of the Guarantees may be made without withholding or deduction for or on account 

of Finnish income tax. 

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act  

Pursuant to certain provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, commonly known as FATCA, a 
“foreign financial institution” may be required to withhold on certain payments it makes (“foreign passthru 
payments”) to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting, or related requirements. A number of 
jurisdictions (including the jurisdiction of the Issuer) have entered into, or have agreed in substance to, 
intergovernmental agreements with the United States to implement FATCA (“IGAs”), which modify the way 
in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions. Under the provisions of IGAs as currently in effect, a foreign 
financial institution in an IGA jurisdiction would generally not be required to withhold under FATCA or an 
IGA from payments that it makes. Certain aspects of the application of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to 
instruments such as the Notes, including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or 
an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the Notes, are uncertain and may be subject to 
change.  Even if withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on 
instruments such as the Notes, such withholding would not apply prior to 1 January 2019 and Notes issued on 
or prior to the date that is six months after the date on which final regulations defining “foreign passthru 
payments” are filed with the U.S. Federal Register generally would be “grandfathered” for purposes of 
FATCA withholding unless materially modified after such date (including by reason of a substitution of the 
Issuer). However, if additional Notes (as described under “Terms and Conditions—Further Issues”) that are 
not distinguishable from previously issued Notes are issued after the expiration of the grandfathering period 
and are subject to withholding under FATCA, then withholding agents may treat all Notes, including the 
Notes offered prior to the expiration of the grandfathering period, as subject to withholding under FATCA.   
Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding how these rules may apply to their investment in the 
Notes. In the event any withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to 

payments on the Notes, no person will be required to pay additional amounts as a result of the withholding. 

The Proposed Financial Transaction Tax (“FTT”) 

On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the “Commission’s Proposal”) for a 
Directive for a common FTT in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, Austria, Portugal, 
Slovenia and Slovakia (the “participating Member States”).  However, Estonia has since stated that it will not 

participate. 
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The Commission’s Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings in Notes 
(including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances.  The issuance and subscription of Notes 

should, however, be exempt. 

Under the Commission’s Proposal the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and 
outside of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in Notes where at 
least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a participating Member State.  
A financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, “established” in a participating Member State in a broad 
range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established in a participating Member State 
or (b) where the financial instrument which is subject to the dealings is issued in a participating Member 

State. 

However, the Commission’s Proposal remains subject to negotiation between participating Member States.  It 
may therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear.  Additional EU 

Member States may decide to participate.   

Prospective holders of Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT. 
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE 

Summary of Dealer Agreement 

Subject to the terms and on the conditions contained in a dealer agreement dated 2 May 2017 (the “Dealer 
Agreement”) between the Issuer, the Guarantors, the Permanent Dealers and the Arranger, the Notes will be offered 
on a continuous basis by the Issuer to the Permanent Dealers. However, the Issuer has reserved the right to sell 
Notes directly on its own behalf to Dealers that are not Permanent Dealers. The Notes may be resold at prevailing 
market prices, or at prices related thereto, at the time of such resale, as determined by the relevant Dealer. The 
Notes may also be sold by the Issuer through the Dealers, acting as agents of the Issuer. The Dealer Agreement also 
provides for Notes to be issued in syndicated Tranches that are jointly and severally underwritten by two or more 

Dealers. 

The Issuer will pay each relevant Dealer a commission as agreed between them in respect of Notes subscribed by 
it. The Issuer has agreed to reimburse the Arranger for its expenses incurred in connection with the establishment 

of the Programme and the Dealers for certain of their activities in connection with the Programme.  

The Issuer has agreed to indemnify the Dealers against certain liabilities in connection with the offer and sale of the 
Notes. The Dealer Agreement entitles the Dealers to terminate any agreement that they make to subscribe Notes in 

certain circumstances prior to payment for such Notes being made to the Issuer. 

Selling Restrictions  

United States  

The Notes and the Guarantees have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act, and the Notes may 
not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in certain 
transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the 

meaning given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act. 

Bearer Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United 
States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. Treasury 
regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 

1986, as amended, and Treasury regulations thereunder.  

Each Dealer has agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree that, 
except as permitted by the Dealer Agreement, it will not offer or sell, or in the case of Bearer Notes deliver, the 
Notes, (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the completion of the 
distribution of an identifiable tranche of which such Notes are a part, as determined and certified to the Fiscal 
Agent by such Dealer (or, in the case of an identifiable tranche of Notes sold to or through more than one Dealer, 
by each of such Dealers with respect to Notes of an identifiable tranche purchased by or through it, in which case 
the Lead Manager shall notify such Dealer when all such Dealers have so certified), within the United States or to, 
or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, and it will have sent to each Dealer to which it sells Notes during the 
distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice setting out the restrictions on offers and sales of the 

Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons. 

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of any identifiable tranche of Notes, an offer or 
sale of Notes within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering of such Notes) 

may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act. 
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United Kingdom 
Each Dealer has represented and agreed that:  

(i) in relation to any Notes which have a maturity of less than one year, (a) it is a person whose ordinary 
activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for 
the purposes of its business and (b) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes other than 
to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of 
investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who it is reasonable to expect 
will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their 
businesses where the issue of the Notes would otherwise constitute a contravention of section 19 of the 

FSMA by the Issuer; 

(ii) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be 
communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of 
section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances 

in which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer or the Guarantors; and 

(iii) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done 

by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom. 

The Netherlands 

Each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required 
to represent and agree, that it will not make an offer of Notes which are outside the scope of the approval of this 
Prospectus, as completed by the Final Terms relating thereto, to the public in the Netherlands in reliance on Article 
3(2) of the Prospectus Directive, unless (i) such offer is made exclusively to persons or entities which are qualified 
investors as defined in the Wft or (ii) standard exemption wording and a logo are disclosed as required by Section 
5:20(5) of the Wft, provided that no such offer of Notes shall require the Issuer, any Guarantor or any Dealer to 
publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to 

Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive. 

Zero coupon Notes in definitive form and other Notes in definitive bearer form on which interest does not become 
due and payable during their term but only at maturity (savings certificates or spaarbewijzen as defined in the 
Dutch Savings Certificates Act or Wet inzake spaarbewijzen, the “SCA”) may only be transferred and accepted, 
directly or indirectly, within, from or into The Netherlands through the mediation of either the Issuer or a member 
of Euronext Amsterdam N.V. with due observance of the provisions of the SCA and its implementing regulations 
(which include registration requirements). No such mediation is required, however, in respect of (i) the initial issue 
of such Notes to the first holders thereof, (ii) the transfer and acceptance by individuals who do not act in the 
conduct of a profession or business, and (iii) the issue and trading of such Notes if they are physically issued 
outside The Netherlands and are not distributed in The Netherlands in the course of primary trading or immediately 

thereafter. 

Finland 

Each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required 
to represent and agree, that it will not make an offer of Notes, directly or indirectly, in or into Finland, unless such 
offer is made to legal entities incorporated or established in Finland, pursuant to applicable Finnish laws and 
regulations, and to (i) to fewer than 150 investors; (ii) to “qualified investors” as defined under the Finnish 
Securities Market Act (746/2012, as amended); or (iii) provided that the Notes may only be acquired for a 

consideration of not less than EUR 100,000 or in denominations of not less than EUR 100,000 per investor, and 
provided always that no such offer of Notes shall require the Issuer, any Guarantor or any Dealer to publish a 
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prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of 
the Prospectus Directive. This Prospectus has not been filed with or approved by the Finnish Financial Supervisory 

Authority. 

Japan 

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan 
(Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended, the “Financial Instruments and Exchange Act”). Accordingly, each of the Dealers 
has represented and agreed that it has not, directly or indirectly, offered or sold and will not, directly or indirectly, 
offer or sell any Notes in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, a resident of Japan (which term as used herein means 
any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organised under the laws of Japan) or to 
others for re-offering or re-sale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident in Japan 
except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the 

Financial Instruments and Exchange Act and other relevant laws and regulations of Japan.  

Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors 

From 1 January 2018, each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the 
Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and 
will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this 
Prospectus as completed by the Final Terms in relation thereto to any retail investor in the European Economic 

Area.  For the purposes of this provision: 

(a) the expression "retail investor" means a person who is one (or more) of the following: 

(i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of MiFID II; or 

(ii) a customer within the meaning of the IMD, where that customer would not qualify as a 

professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or 

(iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive; and 

(b) the expression “offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient 
information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase 

or subscribe the Notes. 

Prior to 1 January 2018, in relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented 
the Prospectus Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”), each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each 
further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that with effect from and 
including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the “Relevant 
Implementation Date”) but prior to 1 January 2018, it has not made and will not make an offer of Notes which are 
the subject of the offering contemplated by this Prospectus as completed by the final terms in relation thereto to the 
public in that Relevant Member State except that it may, with effect from and including the Relevant 

Implementation Date, make an offer of Notes to the public in that Relevant Member State: 

(i) at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus 

Directive; 

(ii) at any time to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in 
the Prospectus Directive), subject to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers 
nominated by the relevant Issuer for any such offer; or 

(iii) at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive, 
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provided that no such offer of Notes referred to in (a) to (c) above shall require the relevant Issuer or any Dealer to 
publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to 

Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive. 

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an “offer of Notes to the public” in relation to any Notes in any 
Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the 
terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the 
Notes, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in 
that Member State, the expression “Prospectus Directive” means Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended, including by 

Directive 2010/73/EU), and includes any relevant implementing measure in the Relevant Member State. 

General 

These selling restrictions may be modified by the agreement of the Issuer, the Guarantors and the Dealers 
following a change in a relevant law, regulation or directive. Any such modification will be set out in the Final 

Terms issued in respect of the issue of Notes to which it relates or in a supplement to this Prospectus. 

No representation is made that any action has been taken in any jurisdiction that would permit a public offering of 
any of the Notes, or possession or distribution of the Prospectus or any other offering material or any Final Terms, 
in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. 

Each Dealer has agreed that it shall, to the best of its knowledge, comply with all relevant laws, regulations and 
directives in each jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or has in its possession or 

distributes the Prospectus, any other offering material or any Final Terms in all cases at its own expense. 
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FORM OF FINAL TERMS 

The form of Final Terms that will be issued in respect of each Tranche, subject only to the deletion of non-

applicable provisions, is set out below:  

Text in this section appearing in italics does not form part of the form of the Final Terms but denotes 

directions for completing the Final Terms. The numbering set out below should remain as set out in this Form 

of Final Terms, even if “Not Applicable” is indicated for individual sub(paragraphs). 

(When completing the Final Terms and/or adding any other description, consideration should be given as to 
whether such matters described constitute “significant new factors” and consequently trigger the need for a 
supplement to the Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.) 
 
[The following language applies to offers concluded on or after 1 January 2018: 
 
[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS  – The Notes are not intended, from 1 
January 2018, to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and, with effect from such date, should not 
be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("EEA"). 
For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in 
point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU ("MiFID II "); (ii) a customer within the meaning of 

Directive 2002/92/EC ("IMD "), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in 
point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Directive 2003/71/EC (as 

amended, the "Prospectus Directive"). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation 
(EU) No 1286/2014 (the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them 
available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or 
otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPS 

Regulation.] 

 
Final Terms dated [●] 

WERELDHAVE N.V. 

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes] 
[Guaranteed by [[Itäkeskus Holding Oy] [Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus Oy] [N.V. Wereldhave International] 

[Wereldhave Nederland B.V.]]] 
When completing the Final Terms, it should be taken into account that in principle, all issuances shall be 

guaranteed by all four Guarantors included above. However, this is subject to the possibility that a Guarantor 

can be released from its obligations under the guarantee, pursuant to the Conditions.  
 

under the Wereldhave N.V. EUR2,000,000,000 
Guaranteed Euro Medium Term Note Programme 

 

Euro Medium Term Note Programme 

PART A – CONTRACTUAL TERMS 

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the 
“Conditions”) set forth in the Prospectus dated [●] 2017 [and the supplement(s) to it dated [●]] which 
[together] constitute[s] a base prospectus (the “Base Prospectus”) for the purposes of Directive 2003/71/EC, 
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as amended (the “Prospectus Directive”). This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described 
herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction with the 
Base Prospectus. Full information on the Issuer, the Guarantors and the offer of the Notes is only available on 
the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus. The Base Prospectus has been 

published on the Issuer’s website. 

 

1  (i) Issuer: Wereldhave N.V. 

 (ii) Guarantors: [Itäkeskus Holding Oy]  
[Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus Oy]  
[N.V. Wereldhave International]  

[Wereldhave Nederland B.V.] 

When completing the Final Terms, it should be taken into 

account that in principle, all issuances shall be 

guaranteed by all four Guarantors included above. 
However, this is subject to the possibility that a 

Guarantor can be released from its obligations under the 

guarantee, pursuant to the Conditions.  

2  (i) Series Number: [●] 

 (ii) Tranche Number: [●] 

 (iii) Date on which the Notes become 
fungible: 

Not Applicable/The Notes shall be consolidated, form a 
single series and be interchangeable for trading purposes 
with the [insert description of the Series] on [insert 

date/the Issue Date/exchange of the Temporary Global 
Note for interests in the Permanent Global Note, as 
referred to in paragraph [25] below [which is expected to 

occur on or about [insert date]]]. 

3  Specified Currency: [●] 

4  Aggregate Nominal Amount: [●] 

 (i) Series: [●] 

 (ii) Tranche: [●] 

5  Issue Price: [●] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus 
accrued interest from [insert date] (if applicable)] 

6  (i) Specified Denominations: [●] 

 (ii) Calculation Amount: [●] 

7  (i) Issue Date: [●] 

 (ii) Interest Commencement Date: [Specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable] 

8  Maturity Date: [Specify date or (for Floating Rate Notes) Interest 
Payment Date falling in or nearest to the relevant month 

and year] 
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9  Interest Basis: [[●] per cent. Fixed Rate] 

[[●] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR/NIBOR/Canadian 
Bankers’ Reference Rate/[●]]] +/– • per cent. Floating 

Rate] 

[Zero Coupon] 

(Further particulars specified below) 

10  Redemption/Payment Basis: [Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early 
redemption, the Notes will be redeemed on the Maturity 
Date at [100] per cent. of their nominal amount] [Final 

Instalment Amount] 

[Partly Paid. See paragraph 27 below] 

[Instalment. See paragraph 28 below] 

11  Change of Interest Basis: [Not Applicable]/[For the period from (and including) 
the Interest Commencement Date, up to (but excluding) [ 
] paragraph [14/15] applies and for the period from (and 
including) [ ], [up to (but excluding)] the Maturity Date, 

paragraph [14/15] applies] 

12  Put/Call Options: [Not Applicable] [Call Option]  

[Euro Make Whole Call Option]  

[Issuer Maturity Par Call Option]  

[Transaction Trigger Call Option]  

[Put Option]  

[Change of Control Put Event] 

See paragraph [17/18/19/20/21/22] below)] 

13  Date [Board] approval for issuance of 
Notes [and Guarantee] obtained: 

[●] [and [●]], respectively 

(N.B Only relevant where Board (or similar) 

authorisation is required for the particular tranche of 

Notes or related Guarantee) 

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE 

14  Fixed Rate Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs 

of this paragraph) 

 (i) Rate[(s)] of Interest: [●] per cent. per annum payable in arrear on each Interest 
Payment Date] 

 (ii) Interest Payment Date(s): [●] in each year 

 (iii)  Fixed Coupon Amount[(s)]: [●] per Calculation Amount 

 (iv) Broken Amount(s): [●] per Calculation Amount, payable on the Interest 
Payment Date falling [in/on] [●] 
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 (v) Day Count Fraction: [Actual/Actual] 

[Actual/Actual – ISDA] 

[Actual/365 (Fixed)] 

[Actual/365 (Sterling)] 

[Actual/360] 

[30/360] [360/360] [Bond Basis] 

[30E/360] [Eurobond Basis] 

[30E/360 (ISDA)] 

[Actual/Actual-ICMA] 

 (vi) [Determination Dates: [●] in each year (insert regular interest payment dates, 
ignoring issue date or maturity date in the case of a long 

or short first or last coupon. N.B. only relevant where 

Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual - ICMA)] 

15  Floating Rate Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs 

of this paragraph) 

 (i) Interest Period(s): [[●] [, subject to adjustment in accordance with the 
Business Day Convention set out in (v) below/, not 
subject to any adjustment[, as the Business Day 
Convention in (v) below is specified to be Not 

Applicable]]] 

 (ii) Specified Interest Payment Dates: [[●] in each year[, subject to adjustment in accordance 
with the Business Day Convention set out in (v) below/, 
not subject to any adjustment[, as the Business Day 
Convention in (v) below is specified to be Not 

Applicable]] 

 (iii)  Interest Period Date: [Not Applicable]/ [[●] in each year[, subject to 
adjustment in accordance with the Business Day 
Convention set out in (v) below/, not subject to any 
adjustment[, as the Business Day Convention in (v) 

below is specified to be Not Applicable]] 

 (iv) First Interest Payment Date: [●] 

 (v) Business Day Convention: [Floating Rate Business Day Convention/Following 
Business Day Convention/ Modified Following Business 
Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention] 

[Not Applicable] 

 (vi) Business Centre(s): [●] 

 (vii)  Manner in which the Rate(s) of 

Interest is/are to be determined: 

[Screen Rate 

Determination/ISDA 

Determination] 
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 (viii)  Party responsible for calculating the 
Rate(s) of Interest and/or Interest 
Amount(s) (if not the [Calculation 

Agent]): 

[●] 

 (ix) Screen Rate Determination:  

 – Reference Rate: [[●]month [LIBOR/EURIBOR/NIBOR/Canadian Dollar 
Bankers’ Acceptance Rate/[●]]] 

 – Interest Determination Date(s): [●] 

 – Relevant Screen Page: [●] 

 (x) ISDA Determination:  

 – Floating Rate Option: [●] 

 – Designated Maturity: [●] 

 – Reset Date: [●] 

 – ISDA Definitions [2000/2006] 

 (xi) Linear Interpolation: Not Applicable/Applicable – the Rate of Interest for the 
[long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be calculated 
using Linear Interpolation (specify for each short or long 

interest period) 

 (xii) Margin(s): [+/-][ ] per cent. per annum 

 (xiii)  Minimum Rate of Interest: [●] per cent. per annum 

 (xiv) Maximum Rate of Interest: [●] per cent. per annum 

 (xv) Day Count Fraction: [Actual/Actual] 

[Actual/Actual – ISDA] 

[Actual/365 (Fixed)] 

[Actual/365 (Sterling)] 

[Actual/360] 

[30/360] [360/360] [Bond Basis] 

[30E/360] [Eurobond Basis] 

[30E/360 (ISDA)] 

[Actual/Actual-ICMA] 

16  Zero Coupon Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs 

of this paragraph) 

 (i) Amortisation Yield: [●] per cent. per annum 

 (ii) Day Count Fraction in relation to 
Early Redemption Amounts: 

[Actual/Actual] 

[Actual/Actual – ISDA] 

[Actual/365 (Fixed)] 

[Actual/365 (Sterling)] 

[Actual/360] 
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[30/360] [360/360] [Bond Basis] 

[30E/360] [Eurobond Basis] 

[30E/360 (ISDA)] 

[Actual/Actual-ICMA] 

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION 

17  Call Option [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs 

of this paragraph) 

 (i) Optional Redemption Date(s): [●] 

 (ii) Optional Redemption Amount(s) of 
each Note: 

[●] per Calculation Amount  

 (iii)  If redeemable in part:  

 (a) Minimum Redemption Amount: [●] per Calculation Amount 

 (b) Maximum Redemption 
Amount: 

[●] per Calculation Amount 

 (iv) Notice period (if other than as set out 
in the Conditions): 

[●] days 

18  Put Option [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs 

of this paragraph) 

 (i) Optional Redemption Date(s): [●] 

 (ii) Optional Redemption Amount(s) of 
each Note: 

[●] per Calculation Amount 

 (iii)  Notice period (if other than as set out 
in the Conditions):  

[●] days 

19  Change of Control Put Event  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (i) Optional Redemption Amount(s) of 
each Note: 

[●] per Calculation Amount 

 (ii) Change of Control Put Period: [●] 

 (iii)  Change of Control Put Date: [●] 

20  Euro Make Whole Call Option [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs 

of this paragraph) 

 (i) Euro Make Whole Optional 

Redemption Date: 

[●] 

 (ii) Make Whole Redemption Price: [●] 

 (iii)  Margin: [●] 

 (iv) Reference Stock: [●] 

 (v) Reference Stock Determination Time: [●] 
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 (vi) Notice Period (if other than as set out 

in the Conditions): 

[●] days  

21  Issuer Maturity Par Call Option [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs 

of this paragraph) 

 (i) Notice Period (if other than as set out 

in the Conditions): 

[●] days (if other than as set out in the Conditions) 

22  Transaction Trigger Call Option [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs 

of this paragraph) 

 (i) Transaction Trigger Redemption 
Amount: 

[●] 

 (ii) Description of Transaction in respect 
of which the Notes are issued: 

[●] 

 (iii)  Transaction Trigger Redemption 

Amount: 

[●] 

 (iv) Transaction Notice Period: [●] 

23  Final Redemption Amount of each Note [●][Par] per Calculation Amount 

24  Early Redemption Amount  

 Early Redemption Amount(s) per 
Calculation Amount payable on 
redemption for taxation reasons or on 

event of default: 

[[●]/[Par] per Calculation Amount] [As per Condition 
6(b)] 

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES 

25  Form of Notes: Bearer Notes: 

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent 
Global Note which is exchangeable for Definitive Notes 
in the limited circumstances specified in the Permanent 

Global Note] 

   

  [Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive 
Notes in the limited circumstances specified in the 

Permanent Global Note] 

  Registered Notes: 

[Global Certificate (US$/€[●] nominal amount) 
registered in the name of a nominee for [DTC/a common 
depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg/a 
common safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, 

Luxembourg]] 

   

26  New Global Note: [Yes] [No] 
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27  Partly Paid Notes: amount of each 
payment comprising the Issue Price and 
date on which each payment is to be made 
[and consequences (if any) of failure to 
pay, including any right of the Issuer to 
forfeit the Notes and interest due on late 

payment] 

[Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If applicable give further details) (If not applicable, 

delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph) 

 (i) [Part Paid Amount(s):] [●] 

 (ii)  [Part Payment Date(s)] [●] 

28  Details relating to Instalment Notes [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If applicable give further details) (If not applicable, 

delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph) 

 (i) Instalment Amount(s): [●] 

 (ii) Instalment Date(s): [●] 

 (iii)  Minimum Instalment Amount: [●] 

 (iv) Maximum Instalment Amount: [●] 

29  Financial Centre(s): [Not Applicable/give details. Note that this paragraph 
relates to the date of payment, and not the end dates of 

interest periods for the purposes of calculating the 

amount of interest, to which sub-paragraph 15(vi) 

relates] 

30  Talons for future Coupons to be attached 
to Definitive Notes (and dates on which 

such Talons mature): 

[No/Yes. As the Notes have more than 27 coupon 
payments, talons may be required if, on exchange into 
definitive form, more than 27 coupon payments are still 
to be made.] 

RESPONSIBILITY 

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantors accepts responsibility for the information contained in these 
Final Terms.  

THIRD PARTY INFORMATION 

[(Relevant third party information) has been extracted from (specify source). Each of the Issuer and the 
Guarantors confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware, and 
is able to ascertain from information published by (specify source), no facts have been omitted which would 

render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.] 
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Signed on behalf of Wereldhave N.V.: 

By:  ............................................. 

Duly authorised 

Signed on behalf of Itäkeskus Holding Oy: 

By:  ............................................. 

Duly authorised 

Signed on behalf of Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus Oy: 

By:  ............................................. 

Duly authorised 

 

Signed on behalf of N.V. Wereldhave International: 

By:  ............................................. 

Duly authorised 

 

Signed on behalf of Wereldhave Nederland B.V.: 

By:  ............................................. 
Duly authorised 
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PART B – OTHER INFORMATION 

1  LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING 

 (i) Admission to trading: [Application has been made by the Issuer (or on its 
behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on 
[Euronext Amsterdam N.V.]/[specify other exchange] 
with effect from [●].] [Application is expected to be 
made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be 
admitted to trading on [Euronext Amsterdam 
N.V.]]/[ specify other exchange]  with effect from [●].] 

[Not Applicable.] 

  (Where documenting a fungible issue need to indicate 

that original Notes are already admitted to trading.) 

 (ii) Estimate of total expenses related to 
admission to trading: 

[●] 

2  RATINGS 

 Ratings: [[The Notes to be issued [have been/are expected to be] 
rated]/[The following ratings reflect ratings assigned to 
Notes of this type issued under the Programme 

generally]]: 

  [S & P: [●]] 

  [Moody’s: [●]] 

  [Fitch: [●]] 

  [[Other]: [●]] 

  (The above disclosure should reflect the rating allocated 
to Notes of the type being issued under the Programme 

generally or, where the issue has been specifically rated, 

that rating.) 

3  INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE/OFFER 

 (Need to include a description of any interest, including conflicting ones, that is material to the 
issue/offer, detailing the persons involved and the nature of the interest. May be satisfied by the 

inclusion of the statement below:) 

 [Save for any fees payable to the [Manager/Dealers], so far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved 
in the offer of the Notes has an interest material to the offer. The [Manager/Dealers] and their affiliates 
have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking 
transactions with, and may perform other services for, the Issuer [and the Guarantors] and [its/their] 

affiliates in the ordinary course of business. (Amend as appropriate if there are other interests)] 

 [(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters 

described constitute “significant new factors” and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to 

the Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.)] 
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4 [ [REASONS FOR THE OFFER] 

 

 [.] (See ‘Use of Proceeds’wording in the Prospectus – if reasons for offer are different from general 
corporate purposes, these will need to be included here.) 

5  [Fixed Rate Notes only – YIELD 

 Indication of yield: [●] 

  The yield is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis of 
the Issue Price. It is not an indication of future yield. ] 

6  OPERATIONAL INFORMATION 

 ISIN: [●] 

 Common Code: [●] 

   

   

 Any clearing system(s) other than 
Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. and Clearstream 
Banking, société anonyme and the relevant 

identification number(s): 

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)] 

 Delivery: Delivery [against/free of] payment 

 Names and addresses of additional Paying 
Agent(s) (if any): 

[●] 

 [Intended to be held in a manner which 
would allow Eurosystem eligibility: 

[Yes. Note that the designation “yes” simply means that 
the Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited with 
one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper [(and registered 
in the name of a nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as 
common safekeeper)] [include this text for registered 

notes] and does not necessarily mean that the Notes will 
be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem 
monetary policy and intra day credit operations by the 
Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times 
during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the 
ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria 

have been met.]/ 
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  [No. Whilst the designation is specified as “no” at the 
date of these Final Terms, should the Eurosystem 
eligibility criteria be amended in the future such that the 
Notes are capable of meeting them the Notes may then 
be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common 
safekeeper [(and registered in the name of a nominee of 
one of the ICSDs acting as common safekeeper) [include 

this text for registered notes]. Note that this does not 
necessarily mean that the Notes will then be recognised 
as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and 
intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem at any time 
during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the 
ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria 

have been met.]] 

   

7  DISTRIBUTION  

 (i) Method of distribution: [Syndicated/Non-syndicated] 

 (ii) If syndicated:  

 (A) Names of Managers: [Not Applicable/give names] 

 (B) Stabilisation Manager(s) (if any): [Not Applicable/give names] 

 (iii)  If non-syndicated, name of Dealer: [Not Applicable/give name] 

 (iv) US Selling Restrictions: [Reg. S Compliance Category [1/2/3];  

TEFRA C/ TEFRA D/ TEFRA not applicable] 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

(1) Application has been made to Euronext for Notes issued under the Programme to be listed and 

admitted to trading on Euronext Amsterdam. 

(2) Each of the Issuer and the Guarantors has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and 
authorisations in The Netherlands and Finland, as applicable, in connection with the establishment of 
the Programme and the Guarantees. The establishment of the Programme was authorised by a 
resolution of (i) the board of directors of the Issuer and (ii) the board of supervisory directors of the 
Issuer, each passed on 2 February 2017. The giving of the Guarantee by N.V. Wereldhave International 
was authorised by a resolution of the board of directors of Wereldhave International passed on 2 
February 2017. The giving of the Guarantee by Wereldhave Nederland B.V. was authorised by a 
resolution of the board of directors of Wereldhave Nederland passed on 2 February 2017. The giving 
of the Guarantee by Itäkeskus Holding Oy was authorised by (i) a resolution of the board of directors 
and (ii) a resolution of the shareholder of Itäkeskus Holding Oy, each passed on 13 April 2017. The 
giving of the Guarantee by Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus Oy was authorised by (i) a resolution of the board 
of directors and (ii) a resolution of the shareholder of Kauppakeskus Itäkeskus Oy, each passed on 13 
April 2017. 

(3) The Responsible Persons accept responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus. To the 
best of the knowledge of the Responsible Persons (having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such 
is the case) the information contained in this Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not 

omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.  

(4) ABN AMRO Bank N.V. has been engaged by the Issuer as Amsterdam Listing Agent for the Notes and 
is not itself seeking admission of these Notes to Euronext Amsterdam or to trading on its regulated 
market for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive. ABN AMRO Bank N.V. in its capacity as 
Amsterdam Listing Agent is acting for the Issuer only and will not regard any other person as its client 
in relation to the offering of the Notes. Neither ABN AMRO Bank N.V. nor any of its directors, 
officers, agents or employees makes any representation or warranty, express or implied, or accepts any 
responsibility with respect to the accuracy, completeness or fairness of any of the information or 
opinions described or incorporated by reference in this Prospectus, in any investor report or for any 
other statements made or purported to be made either by itself or on its behalf in connection with the 
Issuer or the offering or the Notes. Accordingly, ABN AMRO Bank N.V. disclaims all and any liability 
whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise in respect of this Prospectus and or any such other 

statements. 

(5) There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer or any Guarantor 
or the Group since 31 December 2016 and no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer, 

any Guarantor or the Group since 31 December 2016.  

(6) Except as disclosed in the paragraph above headed ‘Litigation’ on page 89 of this Prospectus, neither 
the Issuer, any of the Guarantors, nor any of the Issuer’s other subsidiaries are or have been involved in 
any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending 
or threatened of which the Issuer or any of the Guarantors is aware) during the 12 months preceding 
the date of this Prospectus which may have or has had in the recent past significant effects on the 
financial position or profitability of the Issuer or any of the Guarantors or the Group. 
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(7) KPMG Accountants N.V.  is an independent auditor with respect to the Issuer and its subsidiaries 
within the meaning of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. KPMG Accountants N.V. audited and 
issued an unqualified independent auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements of the 
Issuer as at and for the financial year ended 31 December 2016. The auditor who signed the auditor’s 
report on behalf of KPMG Accountants N.V. is a member of the Netherlands institute of Chartered 
Accountants (Nederlandse Beroepsorganisatie van Accountants). PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Accountants N.V. (Thomas R. Malthusstraat 5, 1066 JR Amsterdam, the Netherlands) audited the 
accounts of the Issuer in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2015. PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. issued an unqualified 
independent auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2015. The auditor who signed the auditor’s report on behalf of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. is a member of the Netherlands institute of Chartered 

Accountants (Nederlandse Beroepsorganisatie van Accountants). 

(8) KPMG Oy Ab (an audit firm supervised by the Finnish Patent and Registration Office) has audited the 
accounts of the Finnish Guarantors in accordance with the Finnish Auditing Act (1141/2015) for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2016 prepared in accordance with Finnish Accounting Act and 
Ordinance. KPMG Oy Ab issued unqualified independent auditor’s reports on the financial statements 
of the Finnish Guarantors for the financial year ended 31 December 2016. PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Oy, Authorised Public Accountants (an audit firm supervised by the Finnish Patent and Registration 
Office), has audited the accounts of the Finnish Guarantors in accordance with the Finnish Auditing 
Act (1141/2015) for the financial year ended 31 December 2015. PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy issued 
unqualified independent auditor’s reports on the financial statements of the Finnish Guarantors for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2015 prepared in accordance with Finnish Accounting Act and 

Ordinance.   

(9) Each Bearer Note having a maturity of more than one year, Receipt, Coupon and Talon will bear the 
following legend: “Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations 
under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 

1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code”. 

(10) Notes have been accepted for clearance through the Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg systems 
(which are the entities in charge of keeping the records). The Common Code, the International 
Securities Identification Number (ISIN) and (where applicable) the identification number for any other 

relevant clearing system for each Series of Notes will be set out in the relevant Final Terms. 

The address of Euroclear is 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium and the address 
of Clearstream, Luxembourg is 42 Avenue JF Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg. The address of any 

alternative clearing system will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

(11) There are no material contracts entered into other than in the ordinary course of the Issuer’s or any 
Guarantor’s business, which could result in any member of the Group being under an obligation or 
entitlement that is material to the Issuer’s or any Guarantor’s ability to meet its obligations to 

noteholders in respect of the Notes being issued. 

(12) Where information in this Prospectus has been sourced from third parties, this information has been 
accurately reproduced and as far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from the information 
published by such third parties no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced 

information inaccurate or misleading. The source of third party information is identified where used. 
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(13) The issue price and the amount of the relevant Notes will be determined, before filing of the relevant 
Final Terms of each Tranche, based on the prevailing market conditions. The Issuer does not intend to 

provide any post-issuance information in relation to any issues of Notes. 

(14) For so long as Notes may be issued pursuant to this Prospectus, the following documents will be 
available, during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays and public holidays excepted), for 

inspection at the registered office of the Issuer: 

(i) the Agency Agreement (which includes the form of the Global Notes, the definitive Bearer 

Notes, the Certificates, the Coupons, the Receipts and the Talons); 

(ii)  the Guarantee Agreement; 

(iii)  the Memoranda and Articles of Association of the Issuer and each of the Guarantors; 

(iv) the published audited accounts of the Issuer and each of the Finnish Guarantors for the two 

financial years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015; 

(v) each Final Terms (save that Final Terms relating to a Note which is neither admitted to trading 
on a regulated market within the European Economic Area nor offered in the European 
Economic Area in circumstances where a prospectus is required to be published under the 
Prospectus Directive will only be available for inspection by a holder of such Note and such 
holder must produce evidence satisfactory to the Issuer and the Paying Agent as to its holding 
of Notes and identity); 

(vi) a copy of this Prospectus together with any Supplement to this Prospectus or further Prospectus; 

and 

(vii)  all reports, letters and other documents, balance sheets, valuations and statements by any expert 
any part of which is extracted or referred to in this Prospectus. 

(15) Copies of the latest accounts of the Issuer and the Finnish Guarantors may be obtained, and copies of 
the Agency Agreement and the Guarantee Agreement will be available for inspection, at the specified 
offices of each of the Paying Agents during normal business hours, so long as any of the Notes is 

outstanding.  

(16) Certain of the Dealers and their affiliates may have positions, deal or make markets in the Notes issued 
under the Programme, related derivatives and reference obligations, including (but not limited to) 
entering into hedging strategies on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantors and their affiliates, investor 
clients, or as principal in order to manage their exposure, their general market risk, or other trading 

activities. 

In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Dealers and their affiliates may make 
or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative 
securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the accounts 
of their customers. Such investments and securities activities may involve securities and/or instruments 
of the Issuer, the Guarantors or their affiliates. Certain of the Dealers or their affiliates that have a 
lending relationship with the Issuer or the Guarantors routinely hedge their credit exposure to the 
Issuer or the Guarantors consistent with their customary risk management policies. Typically, such 
Dealers and their affiliates would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which consist of 
either the purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short positions in securities, including 
potentially the Notes issued under the Programme. Any such positions could adversely affect future 
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trading prices of Notes issued under the Programme. The Dealers and their affiliates may also make 
investment recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such 
securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long 

and/or short positions in such securities and instruments. 
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